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DEDICATION

To Mum and Dad,

Ben,

And the rest of my

family – yes, all of you.
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Prologue

SEPTEMBER 2019

I touched the soft, pale skin on my father’s face and ran my fingers through his hair. He felt warm. But his breath had stopped.

My world fell silent.

This day was the one I’d been dreading. I wanted to lie beside him and hold him, tell him one more time how much I loved him. But all I could do was sob.

My four brothers and I had taken turns keeping vigil, sitting with Dad and sleeping by his hospital bed. I’d had hours to contemplate. To prepare myself.

But now, as our family gathered, I was totally unprepared for the stillness.

The end was unbearable.

It was 11 September, a date most of the world knows as 9/11. But for us it would now forever be the day Dad died. The day my two worlds collided. A daughter and a journalist, clinging to the final painful images of my own felled tower, the man who’d never left my side.

In that most intimate moment, I already knew I would need to tell the hardest story of my career. A gut-wrenching journey into my father’s last days of life in a rural hospital, and why that life had now ended.

At 88 years of age, Dad had already done a few rounds in the health ring, and won. He’d beaten cancer, and sailed through the replacement of a dodgy heart valve and the insertion of a stent. He was the youngest of eight children and for some years had been the last man standing. And he was determined to defy the odds. He loved life and did all he could to stick around.

Dad walked straight and tall, and carried a stride the same way he drove his car: with confidence and a touch of competition. He’d lived his entire life in the country and had been a dairy farmer and a sailing champion. No surprise, given he came from a long line of boat builders.

Dad was a man of habit. He would never come to the breakfast table without first washing his face and combing his hair. He would already have heard the news on the radio by his bed, but he’d still want to read the newspapers.

For years he loved avocado on toast for breakfast: a choice that surprised us all. And corned beef that he’d cooked himself, on a sandwich for lunch. He loved a beer and a barbecue on a hot night, and when it was cooler a glass or two of red wine with whatever he’d whipped up on the stove.

Dad was an enduring Catholic and never missed mass. Like so many from his era, he was a man who didn’t need much, but who gave plenty. To family, friends, even strangers. He once brought home a mother and daughter when he found them stranded by the side of the road, struggling with their broken-down car. The city travellers stayed for the couple of days it took for their vehicle to be repaired.

His concern for them was no surprise to us. As it wasn’t when it came to Mum’s deteriorating health.

When Patricia, or Patty as we all called her, could no longer care for herself, Dad stepped up. Her dementia was heartbreaking but he held her close and did everything he could until he could do no more.

Dad was the rock and Mum the rock star. For so long, she’d been so full of life. For her to fade before us was not what he, or we, expected. Worse, to Dad, the order of death was now terribly out of order.

Dad was an old-fashioned man with traditional values. He was trusting and supportive and a man who valued the expertise of others, including those he trusted with his health. It’s why he deserved so much more from a hospital system that, in the end, didn’t seem to value him.

In the weeks before his death, he’d suffered pneumonia. An ambulance ride to the local emergency department had seen his chest infection successfully treated. But his recuperation in the nearby private hospital would end in disaster. The day before he was due to come home, he suffered a catastrophic stroke.

In the middle of the night, as my older brother, Chris, and I stood at the end of Dad’s bed, I picked up a clipboard of notes left on the covers at his feet. There in black and white was a terrible revelation.

Dad had not received, of all things, his anti-stroke medication for the entire length of his stay in the private hospital. Eight days.

We were horrified.

The discovery would set me on a course of no return. I needed to understand why something so fundamental, so basic, had not been done, and I would soon learn that health services for those in rural, regional and remote Australia were, in many instances, appalling.

In my father’s case, I would find out that on his admission to hospital, the list of his essential medications had not been properly transcribed. Dad hadn’t received his anti-stroke medication because it had simply not been written down.

An investigation revealed that there was only one doctor in this 79-bed private hospital. I soon formed the view that Dad had always been at risk. And I’d learned that that was the opinion of so many others reliant on our health system whose misfortune it was to live outside the big cities.

As Dad lay silent, we gathered as a family around his bed. With an aching sense of emptiness and a dreadful rising pain, I felt the need to say something while Dad was still with us. How he’d fought the good fight and always been so strong. I wanted to think he could hear us tell him we loved him.

And then we applauded.

It was time for Bryan Ryan, our rock, the champion sailor and home brewer, my childhood running coach and Patty’s loyal carer, to leave the building, just as Mum had a little more than 12 months before.

* * *

I’m a dairy farmer’s daughter. Dad and Mum, both locals born and bred, worked a hundred acres of mostly lush green land on Oxley Island, one of a number of islands clustered within the Manning River as it snakes its way to the Mid North Coast of New South Wales.

As a young girl, I was nimble on my feet. My long, skinny Ryan legs propelled me around an athletics track with a swiftness that for a while had Dad pretty excited.

During my primary school years, I was a regular winner in local competitions. I would nearly always come home with a blue ribbon pinned to the chest of my white T-shirt, or a silver cup with big handles.

I didn’t have a coach, but Dad came pretty close to being just that, and he was my biggest supporter. He could see a potential Olympic sprinter in the family, and he’d have me practising my starts out in the paddocks then running circuits of our hundred-acre property.

Mum loved watching it all. She would sit on the steps of our wraparound veranda, laughing loudly and shouting: ‘Run, Bethy, run!’

Occasionally, on competition day, there was some tall, lanky kid with an amazingly giraffe-like stride or a small pocket rocket who would whip past in white shorts, stealing my thunder and pipping me at the post. When it happened it surprised me how I didn’t mind being beaten, yet still felt disappointed.

Dad reminded me always to be gracious in defeat. That self-appointed coach of mine had drummed into me that I had to say ‘Good run’ and shake hands with my opponent.

And if I won I was not to boast about it. That would mean you were ‘full of yourself’, Dad would tell me. ‘No one likes a skite,’ he’d say. And with a serious nod, Mum would agree.

The faster I got, the more successful I became, and as my stardom in local athleticism grew, so too did Mum’s and Dad’s enthusiasm. But quietly, I was starting to feel the pressure. I loved running, and winning was great, but some days I struggled to find that killer instinct that was apparently buried somewhere deep inside.

Perhaps it had been a bit too easy. I’d become the Oxley Island champion, won at the inter-school competitions, and been slapped with the delightful tag of being a bit of a ‘flash’ after snapping the tape at the equally diminutive Ghinni Ghinni School races.

But on I went. I moved up the competition charts and qualified to run at bigger carnivals in the district. And by now Mum had devised a secret pre-competition winning potion, which she insisted I drink. It was called the egg flip, and I was slightly appalled by it. A raw egg whipped together with a sprinkle of sugar, a hint of nutmeg and milk pretty much straight from the cow, which I was to down in one go.

Expectations continued to rise. Now not only my parents, but also Mum’s parents, Nan and Pop, were coming along to bask in the winners’ circle. I was building a small fan club, and if I came in second or third, I’d feel I’d let the crowd down.

Dad upped my training. He’d sometimes drive to our school in his Vauxhall Viva or Morris Minor – depending on which car phase we were in – to collect as many kids as could be squeezed in to drop off at the gates to their farms. But there were days when I was not allowed a seat in Dad’s jalopy. The coach declared I would be running behind the car.

With what seemed a million scrunched-up little faces pressed hard up against the rear window, all seemingly delighting in my discomfort, I would swallow my pride and a mountain of dust, and dutifully sprint the couple of miles home behind them.

My Olympics career took a big leap forward when I qualified to run in the New South Wales State selections carnival. It was to be held in Newcastle, and I, along with a number of others from country regions, arrived by bus and was billeted with a local family.

I’d been billeted before, but as a fairly shy child from an island dairy farm, I always found it more than a bit stressful. I was always aware of my clothes and shoes and how I spoke. I was not entirely familiar with a flushing toilet; that luxury was a long way from arriving on our farm, and a shower was almost unheard of. Instead, we had a bath tub that would be filled with buckets of heated water coming solely from our rain tanks.

On this occasion my hosts lived in what I considered a very comfortable home. They were a posh lot, with a posh daughter who would be racing against me. After a round of intimidating conversations at the dinner table, in which the family patriarch asked pointed questions about my country upbringing, to increase his children’s appreciation of how the other half lived, I left the dining room fearing I had made a fool of myself.

My embarrassment was complete when I went to bed feeling so nervous about looking like an idiot that by morning I’d wet it. I could have died.

I was not a bed wetter, but I knew it was useless to argue otherwise. I covered my red face, removed the sheets and whispered to my hosting mother: ‘I’m sorry.’ She wasn’t impressed.

The confidence I so desperately needed to lift my performance was about to take another battering. For the first time, as my competitors were lining up, I saw several girls wearing professional running shoes. I’d run all my races in bare feet. I was the Zola Budd of my primary producing island, although sadly without the incredible success of the South African Olympian 10 years my junior. Today, though, as I was checking out my toes, my opponents were lacing up their new spike-soled shoes.

I would end the day as I’d started it. Desperately sucking in air with a flushed red face, and a distinct desire to go home.

I’d run hard and fast, but not fast enough. I would have to break it to Dad that I was not going to be the next Betty Cuthbert. No Olympic sprinting gold for me. I’d lost my ticker.

I could feel his disappointment when I told him. It was clear he thought I’d thrown in the towel way too soon. But he knew there was no point in cajoling me any more. I was done. And actually, just a bit lazy.

Yet it had been wonderful, and I’d enjoyed special moments with Dad. Seeing his excitement when I won and Mum’s joy at his delight. And Nan and Pop simply loved the outings, which nearly always ended with ice-creams for everyone.

But all was not lost. While I didn’t realise it at the time, I had taken a few short steps along that rocky road to self-belief. It had felt good to come first. I had tasted success and I didn’t mind it. And I had begun to learn those little lessons I would need much later when negotiating life.

How to win well and lose graciously. And to be slightly brave.

I was still only 12.




1

Barefoot in Clover

I’ve never brimmed with indefatigable confidence. Never felt entitled. Never aimed impossibly high.

Nor have I believed I should sit in the corner or shy away from opportunities. I’ve never limited my view of what I could do, or who I should be.

At every turn in my career, when an opportunity has presented itself, I’ve asked myself, ‘Why not?’ I can’t say that in every job I was a winner, but the more things I tried, the more capable and curious I became. And often I was delightfully surprised.

Maybe that’s because I was, and pretty much still am, a country-town girl.

I began life as Elizabeth, but for as long as I can remember I’ve been called Beth, and even for a while Libby, a name that didn’t stick despite some of my relatives’ best efforts.

But never Liz.

* * *

The place where I grew up, Oxley Island, was a small community of about 50 farms, home to hard-working families who rallied every morning and afternoon, rain, hail or shine, to the tune of bovines. Like clockwork, their udders brimming with milk, our cows would make it clear they were not going to take it any more, and would often voluntarily start their twice-daily journey towards the dairy.

Each had a name and her own personality. And yes, there was a Daisy and a Maisy and a Brindle. It was a real girls’ world.

There seemed to be a leader, the bellower. The one who decided it was time to get moving. The call was clear: bursting breasts wait for no bloke.

But the dairy routine was a slow affair. No modern-day milking machines for us; ours was an old-school suction system. Each machine had four black cups, all connected to long hoses that worked their way over our heads to a cooling system, a series of rungs down which the milk tumbled, finally funnelling into tall, robust metal cans.

Our milking shed, built years before, was designed to attend to six cows at a time. My job was to get the girls into the holding yard, where they stood contentedly waiting their turn. The mornings could be brisk and there was not much joy being the first out of the house to bring in the herd, especially when there was frost on the ground. But I’d walk with them, almost hugging their bodies to soak up their warmth. It felt like I was being wrapped in a pastoral pashmina. A bovine blanket.

I’d repeat the task every afternoon.

Once in the dairy, heads bowed, chewing the cud, Daisy, Maisy and their mates were secured with ropes that ensured they didn’t back out or, in a fit of irritation, kick off the cups. With some gentility, I was then to wash their udders before Dad swooped in to apply those big black suction cups.

At milking time the radio was always on. It meant we always heard the news, and it was probably where I subliminally developed an early interest in events occurring outside my small world. But there was also plenty of music. In the mornings, it was the Country and Western Hour. The songs were hypnotic. I can still belt out an early classic, ‘Itsy Bitsy Teenie Weenie Yellow Polka Dot Bikini’, if called upon. It was music that’s burrowed itself into my brain, and music the cows didn’t seem to mind either. In fact, Dad maintained they were more relaxed with the radio on. I’m not sure Gene Pitney’s ‘The Man Who Shot Liberty Valance’ was the tune that saw them dance out the door, but I’ve never rid myself of that little beauty. The lyrics and tune are eternal.

By the time the morning was done, cool, sweet, creamy milk had settled into those metal cans, which stood sentinel on a concrete floor that always had a strong smell of chlorine after its daily scrubbing. Then, in time for the boat from the milk factory, the cans were loaded onto a trolley and pushed along wooden tracks down to the wharf ready for collection.

Ivan, our regular milk-boat driver, would deftly manoeuvre his vessel up to our wharf and, with accuracy that only comes with daily repetition, heave the cans on board. And on he’d go to do exactly the same at all the other farms along the river.

Sometimes my older brother, Chris, and I would get to ride with Ivan. A special treat, the craft plying the river in a steadfast manner. It allowed us to see how others did what we did. But mostly it was just a lovely childhood adventure.

The river had a voice and a presence. It was where we spent our summers swimming and it was our aqua highway. A parade of boats, floating shops, serviced our island. Small, narrow vessels, all bringing us our weekly supply of household goods. There was the butcher boat and the grocery boat, catering to every conceivable domestic need. Cotton and darning threads. Pins and needles. Soaps and socks.

And there was the ferry, for years the island’s only means of vehicular escape to the mainland.

The water was our friend, and our foe. For every glimmering month of coolness and joy, this was a river whose mood could quickly change. Its soft, clear waters could turn dark and brooding and attempt to swallow us up.

So many times, like a summer ritual, we’d move our cows to higher ground and watch a torrent of trees and logs sweep past, as if part of a stampede to the ocean. Flood waters would lap the steps of our house and drown our land. And then, as quickly as they came, they went.

As much as life felt free and easy, I instinctively knew there were dangers, although there were times when I wasn’t but should have been frightened.

Falling into a cement water trough in the mid paddock, not far from the house, was indeed such a moment. I have a slow-motion, movie-like memory of tumbling in while leaning too far forward over the edge, and then looking back up from underwater.

I was with Chris and our cousin Peter. I must have been about five or six years old; they were little more than seven or eight. And from my watery viewpoint they seemed to be peering down at me somewhat unconcerned.

Yet, as I felt suddenly unable to breathe, I was yanked out unceremoniously and with little sympathy. ‘What are you doing?!’ my brother shouted. I realise now I was close to drowning.

I was apparently an irritating child, always hanging around. Until my three other brothers arrived, it was just Chris and me. There is only 18 months’ difference between us and I loved being with him. He was gentle and kind, and I thought he should always want to be with me.

Of course that was not the case. He did his best to thwart my every shadowing stride.

In those politically incorrect days, when we played what was called Cowboys and Indians, I was always the Indian. I was always being struck with a plastic suction-tipped arrow. I was always losing. In our backyard cricket matches, when more cousins, more boys, turned up, I would be invited to stand uncomfortably close to the wicket. I didn’t care, I just wanted to be included.

But mostly it was just Chris and me.

When he fashioned a parachute out of huge plastic bags, Chris invited me to climb with him to the roof of the dairy where, unbelievably, he offered me the first jump.

I was so excited. With long strings tied around my waist, the toes of my little bare feet were curled over the side of the corrugated-iron roof.

I looked over the edge. My landing was to be gentle, we thought. A sizeable mound of soft cow pats Dad had set aside to dry for fertiliser was directly below. It would, we believed, cushion my fall once our primitive parachute had wafted me into the sky, delivering me my first sensation of flight.

Seized with delight, my arms up, I squealed and jumped. And down I torpedoed, failing in any way to seize upon a waft. Instead of lifting me up like a bird, my parachute dropped me like a rock, feet-first into waist-deep poo. Like a porcelain doll in plastic wrap, I waited to be unpacked.

Looking up from the kitchen sink, Mum suddenly eyed us through the open louvred windows. And screamed.

My brother was right, my landing was soft. But Mum’s admonishment was not.

The testosterone in our family was soon to triple. Greg arrived with much fanfare five years after me and Terry three years later. They would both experience farm life very much from ground level up: as toddlers crawling, occasionally eating and later walking in the grass, and on one horrifying occasion amongst the beasts.

When he was still barely capable of standing, Terry was spied leading our prized but usually less than friendly bull by a chain around the yard. It was Mum’s urgent shriek that sent out the alarm. From the safety of the veranda, we watched our little brother walk the best he had in months while leading the herd’s ‘supreme exhibit’ by the nose with nary a sense of the danger the rest of us feared was about to befall him.

It ended well. Dad to the rescue. Even the bull seemed to understand the vulnerability of this lilliputian jerking his chain.

Phillip, the baby of the family, was yet to make his debut. But already I was in a boys’ club. And it was perhaps the beginning of my understanding of males, prepping me for a working world I was yet to inhabit.

Boys clearly ruled, even though when it came to farm chores, I was very much an equal. Between milking hours, Dad’s days were often spent on a large blue Fordson Major tractor. Paddocks of crops needed to be ploughed or harvested, and we kids would often be asked to assist. We grew many of our own fruits and vegetables: watermelons, persimmons, squash, corn, pumpkins and potatoes.

But I was also Mum’s little helper, whether it was washing clothes and then feeding them through the manual wringer, or peeling the vegetables for evening meals.

What I did notice was that in this man’s world Mum still managed to crack the whip. She was excellent at wrangling my brothers without raising her voice. She did everything with a smile. The fun never left and the thought of losing her admiration was unimaginable. Upsetting Mum was terrible. None of us ever wanted that.

Patty was a gregarious woman. She loved laughing and she loved talking. She cooked and cleaned and delighted in her children’s play and laughter. She’d encourage us to stand and recite poetry and tell stories.

For a time she was an Avon lady. The American make-up company paid housewives a cut of the sales they made, mostly from friends, family and neighbours. On Oxley Island, Mum’s sweet-smelling supply of creams and perfumes, foundations and lipsticks brought some colour to everyone’s lives. I’d travel with her and watch as she plied her trade. Patty didn’t make a motza, because farming families didn’t have too much spare cash, but the outings and interactions filled her soul and meant more to her than any pennies lining her purse.

She was a social being. Friends and family were important, and happy gatherings essential. And she was a natural entertainer. I watched and was enchanted by my mother’s surprise homespun shows.

After dinner and some drinks, when no one was watching, Mum would disappear. She’d already have a costume prepared so she could transform herself into a character she knew would dazzle the crowd.

One of her favourites was the Greek singer Nana Mouskouri. Wearing a dark shoulder-length wig, a long black skirt and a soft white blouse with a big bow at the neck, Mum would emerge with a guitar slung over her shoulder, wearing Dad’s dark-rimmed reading glasses and sporting a black beauty spot pencilled onto her cheek.

Her impersonations were meticulous and hysterical. Mum was ever the showgirl and she had an audience who loved her and would always call for more.

And I was among them. The sheer force of her personality was a gift. She was a communicator of the very best kind. A small spark was ignited. The joy she brought and received from her performances and her ability to make people comfortable and at ease were wonderful to watch. And already I wanted to be like her.

My mother was mesmerising. Creative and seemingly carefree, spirited and playful yet also curiously conservative. Or so it seemed.

* * *

I was pretty young, just four and a half, when I started school.

Oxley Island Primary was in the centre of the island, on a hill. It was a small affair, two buildings next door to the principal’s house and not much more. There was also a paddock where occasionally pupils would ride their horses to school and leave them there to graze for the day. Across the road was the tiniest post office, which was also the telephone exchange. It meant that while sorting the mail, Collette would connect calls to our farmhouse phones, with their cord leading to a handpiece that hung on the wall.

For a while I was one of three in my class: Julie McCarthy, Anne Keppie and me. Anne’s mother, Mrs Keppie, was one of the school’s two teachers. We learned our mathematical tables by rote, and used fountain pens we had to dip constantly into inkwells on our desks.

In the mornings we raised the school flag and at lunch time we raised our voices. Ours was a playground crowded with farm kids running and skipping and twirling on exercise bars. We didn’t wear a uniform, and while I loved my Bata Scouts, some of my fellow students didn’t wear shoes. Bare feet, to us, never seemed out of place.

My schoolbag contained sandwiches spread with Vegemite or filled with a cold meat called Devon, and sometimes Peck’s Paste, a fish-style spread that I’ve never been able to eat since then.

There was one thing about lunch time I could never understand. Every day a crate of small bottles of milk was delivered, a government initiative designed to ensure that every child got their daily dose of calcium.

Living on an island that only dealt in milk, it seemed unnecessary. Our parents would ensure there was always milk on the table, straight from the cow. Now we were being asked to drink some more. It was milk that had more than likely come from our farms, been sent to a factory, processed and bottled and was now being crated back to us for compulsory consumption. The one saving grace was the small bottles were sometimes flavoured with chocolate or strawberry. But after a morning sitting in the sun, not all of us had the stomach for them. Against all the rules, behind the rain tank, we’d often upend them.

When we didn’t walk, we would ride to school. My push bike was my ticket to freedom. I always had a deep-seated desire to spread my wings, see what was outside the gate. It was a natural curiosity that never left me.

On weekends, when I was little more than 10 years old, I was allowed to ride out on my own. Usually on a Saturday or Sunday I would arrange to meet my girlfriend Wendy, whose family lived a few places along from ours. It was one of a number of friendships I made during my childhood that existed beyond the farm.

With packed sandwiches, a bottle of water and instructions to be back no later than 3pm, off I’d pedal to meet Wendy at her home, then we’d cycle around the island. A girls’ own adventure.

We felt very grown up. No hat, no shoes, exploring our world on a bike with a bell. Our biggest concern was gravel and dust encountered from the odd car.

We’d chat incessantly as our bikes pushed past farm after farm, paddock after paddock. And then when our bellies were telling us it was time to eat, we’d find a soft patch of grass under a tree and tuck into our lunch.

It was as simple and as satisfying as it sounds.

* * *

My Ryan clan is unsurprisingly of Irish descent, and Catholic. To the core.

Our place of worship was a small white church that stood quietly in a bare paddock not far from the cemetery. It was located, perhaps symbolically for me, at a crossroads. Inside, near the altar, stood the confessional, a tiny cubicle that was literally a box without a lid. It was where the travelling priest from Taree would hear the flock’s sins of the week.

My mother’s uncle was a priest. Father Bill would come and stay with us on the farm until Sunday, when he would don his vestments and lead the mass. But it was the rule that you went to confession before mass began. Being cleansed of those sins meant you could happily partake of communion.

I made my first communion in a highly traditional ceremony, wearing a white dress and a mantilla on my head and clutching a white Bible. We were even taught how not to bite into ‘the body of Christ’, the thin wafer placed on our tongues that had a propensity to nearly always stick to the roof of my mouth.

Father Bill was in the confessional box in our tiny church. I was nudged by my parents to do my Catholic duty.

I was hesitant. Father Bill was a rather loud, rotund and, to me, overbearing man who was somewhat verbose when he’d enjoyed a whisky. As he had the night before.

My timid little eight-year-old legs barely made the few steps to the front of the church. But into the box I went. And there I kneeled.

‘Forgive me, father, for I have sinned,’ I said in my smallest voice. I knew this box without a lid was anything but soundproof; I had already heard the murmurings of others.

‘Yes,’ said Father Bill in his biggest voice.

I stumbled. I didn’t know what to say. Other than stealing, lying or killing someone, none of which I had done that week, I had nothing.

‘Yes?’ our slightly irritated family priest repeated.

‘I have no sins,’ I bravely offered.

I could hear his change of breath. His impatience. He stopped, looked directly at me from behind the gauze window, and shouted.

‘You were fighting with your brother last night!’ he bellowed. ‘Now, go out and say three Hail Marys!’

I was stunned. I was embarrassed. I was humiliated. Not one person in that compact church would have failed to hear of my shocking sin.

I got up from my knees, opened the door, looked at the floor as I walked back to my seat. I was an example to all. A reminder that no one, not even an eight-year-old, is without sin. I went down on my knees and silently sought forgiveness.

When I sat back in my seat next to Mum, she put her hand on my leg and gave me a small pat. But it mattered not. I would never forget.

And even though I didn’t realise it yet, this was one of many small events that would intrude on my thoughts and begin to inform my views about the Church. A place where I was expected to pray and endure what I would later learn was the disturbing hypocrisy of some of its priests.

* * *

The first time I clapped eyes on a television set, it was sitting proudly in a corner of our lounge room.

My brother Chris and I were not many years into our schooling, and until now we’d lived happily playing in paddocks of corn and clover, or down by the river. The farm remained our childhood cocoon, a place from which we viewed the world with a deep and delightful innocence. An existence largely devoid of technology, an era of imagination and make-believe.

The one exception had always been the radio, blaring away in the dairy or after the evening meal. Our bellies full – nearly always of vegetables with steak, chops or sausages – we would settle contentedly to listen to His Master’s Voice. Our wireless towered over me, a grand piece of furniture that to a little girl seemed almost human. Its metallic voice was mesmerising, and when it spoke I certainly listened. I often wondered where the noise came from. The sounds, the songs, the plays, even someone reading the news was magical.

So when the television arrived, I was transfixed.

It was an Astor. Four splayed legs, a gold push–pull knob to start its engine, a murky green screen, a colour that reminded me of our local public swimming pool before it turned a clear chlorinated blue. All neatly framed in a nice wooden veneer.

The Astor had made it into our home courtesy of Dad’s sailing prowess.

We knew Dad competed in most weekend regattas on the Manning River. But I don’t think we truly understood just how good he was.

Turns out Dad was better than good. He didn’t just love sailing – it was in his blood and he was a champion. After a full day tacking up and down the river, he’d often come home a winner, with a pocket full of lollies.

Then one day, he came home with a massive treat. The television.

But it took several weeks to come to life. Like the rest of the district, Oxley Island was in the transmission queue. Middle Brother Mountain, where our television tower stood, would eventually pump out the signal that would bring those images to the screen. But it wasn’t yet in operation.

And so it was that, for what seemed an eternity, my brother and I sat, barefoot, legs crossed, on our linoleum floor, staring at nothing. I’m not sure what we thought was going to happen, but we waited. Patiently. For days, and weeks.

Back then, I had no idea television would play such a big part in my life. That was still just fantasy.

For now, I ran free. Wind in my hair, sun on my face and paddocks of lush, green grass under my feet.. Those four-leaf lucky charms squishing between my toes. With each year that went by, I never thought about being good enough. I just never had those kinds of thoughts. It was the 1960s, I was a child and for so long I didn’t know a time that was bad.
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Box of Tricks

My first year in high school was at the local Catholic school in Taree, run by the St Joseph’s nuns. It meant a bus ride crossing the Bohnock Bridge, a recent addition joining our little island to a road that led us all into town.

It felt like a big step into life beyond the farm. It was also the first time I had to wear a school uniform, complete with gloves and a hat. The nuns did their best to frighten us all with their ferocious discipline. Rulers were used to measure the length of our tunics, and corporal punishment was still being meted out in the form of caning: all part of our daily classes and regular doses of catechism and mass. And at lunch time as we sat around on benches came the occasional startling announcement: ‘Legs together, make no room for the devil!’

Every Friday there was confession. We sat fidgeting in the church pews as we waited our turn. I’d already learned the hard way that there was always a sin to be confessed.

It was not unusual to ask each other what we were going to say. We were still kids, with no grasp of real sins, other than being told they could land us in the fires of hell.

In the catalogue of things to cough up, I now knew fighting with siblings was a good mainstay. No matter what it was, a few prayers and a couple of decades of the rosary were all it took to polish our tarnished souls.

But getting on top of my transgressions was not my only issue at my new school. For the first time I didn’t know any of my classmates. I was befriended quickly and felt comfortable, but that free and easy spirit took its first tumble within months when our phone rang one Saturday afternoon.

My mother answered and then, passing me the handpiece, said with some curiosity: ‘It’s for you.’

I’d never actually had anyone ring me before. ‘Hello?’ I answered a little nervously.

On the other end of the call I heard only laughter.

‘Hello?’ I repeated.

Just more laughter. I began to feel hot. Whoever was ringing was not really wanting to talk, and there was more than one of them. I could tell they were girls.

‘Farm girl!’ one called out.

More laughter. Sneering laughter.

My face was burning. I suddenly had a terrible sense of being inferior.

The phone clicked in my ear.

My mother shot me a look. ‘What was that about?’

‘Nothing,’ I said.

‘What did they say?’ she asked.

‘Nothing.’

My mother knew. When she answered the telephone she’d thought they were my new schoolfriends.

But I couldn’t tell her what they’d said. I didn’t want to cry.

The next Monday I reluctantly boarded the school bus. I now feared that some of my new friends were not my friends. That I was too country for their town troupe. They saw me as a farm hick. I felt incredibly self-conscious.

No one ever owned up. I could tell one girl knew something, and I suspect she didn’t feel good about it. But I fell into a hole. Before long my grades fell with me.

I don’t ever remember a conversation with Mum and Dad about exam results, or about that call that plagued my mind. But they eventually decided I should move schools.

Then the most unexpected thing happened. To my horror, in front of those I feared had laughed at me, a senior nun, tall, slight and somewhat fierce-looking, sought me out in the playground. It didn’t look good.

Once we were in her office, she sat down at her desk. ‘I hear your dad wants you to leave,’ she said.

‘Yes, sister.’

‘Are you unhappy?’ she asked.

‘No, sister,’ I lied.

‘So why are you leaving?’ she insisted.

‘Um, because my parents want me to.’ It was all I had in my now-crumpled bag of excuses.

I wanted to say: ‘Are you kidding me? This is not a friendly place.’ But I didn’t.

When the senior nun said, ‘I want you to go home and tell your father you want to stay,’ I replied, ‘Yes, sister.’

At 3.30pm I got on the bus home and never said a word. Instead, I changed uniforms and moved to the public school.

My year with the nuns had done nothing for my confidence, nor my growing disillusionment with the Church and some of its self-appointed superiors.

* * *

Years later one of the suspected sneerers, a girl who had left me in no doubt about how she felt, caught my eye in the main street of Taree. As she walked towards me, I wondered after all these years whether we’d speak, and I could see that perhaps she hadn’t been well.

I wanted to say something, but I didn’t know what. As we came closer, she looked away.

* * *

Meanwhile, my public education chugged along in an environment that felt far more relaxed. My new schoolfriends were from various backgrounds but most were like me, members of working-class families. The familiarity was comforting. I had found my place and I was grateful for my fellow pupils’ acceptance and companionship.

Our classrooms were the domain of teachers who likewise came from diverse backgrounds. All ages, both sexes and none wearing a nun’s habit.

My history teacher was an elderly man whose tobacco-stained fingers pointed to maps and events that had occurred centuries before, and had me looking longingly at a world I never thought I would experience. Rome and London, Cairo and Jerusalem seemed far-flung romantic locations, only ever to be viewed dotted on an atlas.

My English teacher was a vibrant young woman who kept words interesting and made writing a joyful experience. And it was in her class that I came to love reading.

Mum did too. She would tell me how as a kid she’d taken a torch to bed with her to read late into the night without her parents’ knowledge. It was something I did as well. Even today I’ll wake in the night to read. It’s not been beyond me, when away from home and without a nearby light, to wear a headlamp to bed, leaving both hands free to flick the pages of a good book.

Better than any sleeping pill, reading will slide me into another place, dissipating the gnawing thoughts that can clutter my mind.

* * *

Books and school would be an awakening to life’s possibilities, but so too was this new thing called the telly.

As the ’60s gave way to the ’70s, the power of television was seeping into all our lives. For our family, like so many others awed by this new addition to most lounge rooms, the telly was fast becoming the main source of information and relaxation in the evening. Dad in particular loved watching the news. It was the one time we knew to be quiet. But it also meant that we too engaged in what was happening around us and across the globe.

Over those years, TV opened up the world with images in black and white and, eventually, colour. The Vietnam War, the death of JFK, and the moon landing. All became more than words. They were now moving pictures and very real.

I was enthralled and more than a little mesmerised by the telling of stories. I wanted to know what other people were experiencing, all the while noting how different my life was on so many levels. To hear about famine and why we should help meant much more when I saw the swollen bellies of children and the sad eyes of their mothers struggling to survive. I remember thinking about the Vietnam War as a kid on the way home from school, and telling Dad later while helping in the dairy how I thought the war could be won. Equally, I recall his fatherly smile.

Barely into my teens, I’d often impersonate newsreaders and television hosts with their rounded English vowels, which I never quite captured. At high school, as part of our lessons, we would be asked to address the class. I’d channel those anchors of current affairs programmes, hoping to exude their composure and confidence. I was often fighting fear while embracing exhilaration. There was something about standing before a crowd and the performance required to capture their attention. The judgment could be deadly and the humiliation very public. Without doubt the task required a rather large measure of self-belief. An early mistake and I could totally unravel. Getting it right, however, felt very good.

But never would I have believed I could fit into that little box of visual tricks in the corner. Television was for other people. Smart, entertaining and creative people.

I’d already been told. I was a girl from the farm.

But while I was standing on the outside looking in, I didn’t stop dreaming.

The seed had been planted.

* * *

A lot of my dreamy thoughts of other places were rudely interrupted when my younger brother Phillip arrived.

I was 15 and he was a bit of a screamer. And it now meant I had four brothers. But the fifth and last sibling in our family stole the show. Cute and cuddly and just maybe the favourite.

Phillip was to be called Matthew, but on the way to register his birth Dad apparently decided on a name change. When he came home and told us that the newcomer in the bunny rug was no longer little Matty, no one seemed particularly worried, but I never did get to learn what made Dad pull out another name tag.

Outrageously by today’s standards, Mum was considered an ‘older mother’. She was 38 and Dad 40. But neither appeared too concerned, and besides, there were a few other parents of similar vintage in the area welcoming additions to their own families.

Their lives, and ours, didn’t seem to miss too many beats. The rhymes and reasons were still in tune. There was just more washing to hang on the line, and a highchair at the end of the table.

Mum, very much the homemaker, the dame of domestic duties, did what every mother seemed to do, and just got on with it.

‘The Little Critter’, as we lovingly referred to Phillip, had some interesting habits. He could keep himself happy for hours playing with his toys, but at the end of the day we’d see them all perfectly lined up against the wall. He also did this with all of our shoes. Long neat lines that turned into chaos the next day.

In the years that followed, if I wanted to borrow the family Kingswood, it was usually with the agreement that The Little Critter would tag along. So, there we’d be, me at the wheel and the three-year-old planted on the bench seat beside me, as I made my getaway to either the beach or the shops.

He was an easy kid and always enjoyed the ride, but I wince now at how poorly that would be viewed today.

* * *

When I look back I realise my mother was actually an undercover agent. Pegging out the washing on our Hills Hoist each day in her ever-present apron, she certainly looked like an entrenched housewife of the ’50s.

But soon it would be revealed she wasn’t. Like a spy with State secrets, there came a time when she decided there were things I should know.

I could, she told me, do whatever I wanted, within reason. I should never hold back. She gave me permission to break the rules and defy expectations. And it was a relief.

It would not be too long before I’d be considering some of life’s big decisions. And even though naïvety could have been my middle name for more years than I’d like to admit, somehow Mum’s words clung to my soul. Events big and small could have brought me undone but that quiet nod from her gave me a silent determination that enabled me to survive the psychological pushing and shoving, the judgment and even bullying that I felt back then, but couldn’t put a name to.

I’d already seen how Mum was paving her own way. Dad had no desire for his wife to work, even though it was something she desperately wanted to do. But after Phillip arrived, Patty broke out. She was nearly 40, and it was clear that motherhood and domestic duties had kept her housebound for too long. She’d kept the boys’ club intact and ensured that all were fed and watered and now it was her time.

It was still a surprise, though, when one afternoon after school she rounded up my brothers and me and told us she had a job. She wanted our assistance to ensure Dad barely noticed the difference. Smartly, she figured that if meals were on the table and we helped her keep the house together, all would be good. And besides, we’d all benefit from the extra income.

Her plan proved successful.

Mum worked for a local jeweller and later at one of the town’s chemist stores. It would see her travel to Sydney for training courses and Phillip would often tag along. As a working mother with no readily available childcare, she was inventive and resilient.

Her job also gave her a broadcast voice. Patty would soon have a weekly presence on the radio in a slot sponsored by her employer. She loved it and we kids did too, and eventually, so did Dad.

Mum’s attitude and decisions brought about a significant shift in an otherwise conservative household. She was a confident woman and was forging a new life, with new opportunities and enormous possibilities. She was doing what she needed to do for herself.

And Dad came along for the ride. For a man used to being the sole breadwinner, I have no doubt it took some getting used to. But he did, and when he was home and Mum was on the radio he listened, and shooshed us all if we weren’t paying attention.

Our house, our family, was officially changing with the times.

* * *

The same could be said of our family’s livelihood. Our old-fashioned dairy farm would soon become part of the past, rubbed out and rarely remembered in a world evolving and dissolving into a technological and digital ether. And before long, instead of boats, shiny big tankers would arrive by road to collect the milk.

* * *

With my school days drawing to an end and my working life now in sight, I wasn’t sure where I’d land.

Careers advisors hadn’t really offered suggestions that I considered were for me – a nurse, a teacher and not much more. And I wasn’t thinking particularly big because, well, I didn’t. If I’d appreciated back then what a difference nurses and teachers can make, I might well have taken another path.

Instead, I pondered.

While I sat contemplating my navel, the cicadas had begun their high-pitched buzzing, signalling the arrival of summer. The beach was beckoning and it was time to get a tan.

I had about six weeks of sun and surf to sort through the many thoughts in my mind, before I couldn’t deny any longer that I was going to have to get a job. I was part of a working-class family, and work was what we did.

And I was more than up for it.
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Country-town Chronicle

The first time I realised journalism was an option was when I was told about an ad offering a cadetship at the Manning River Times.

It was akin to a metaphorical shard of light opening the door to that elusive world of possibilities I only dared dream about.

Having rinsed the sand from my swimmers after my summer contemplations, I had already found a job in the local office of the New South Wales Forestry Commission. It was a position that had been offered to me and had made my career decision easy. And it had seemed an entirely reasonable option, even though I wasn’t exactly sure what I’d be doing.

Within a matter of weeks, though, I was struggling to find any passion for the position. It was an administrative job that had me sorting through receipts in the morning and by lunch time left me wondering how long before I could go home.

Of course I could never let on. How ungrateful that would be! So, with a lot of time on my hands, I wandered the corridors looking for inspiration, and apart from the biscuits the tea lady had sitting on her cart, I found it in the cartographers’ room.

I held the slight hope that, if I were to stay at the Forestry Commission, I might make it into this place, with its wide desks covered in huge maps and containers holding lots of coloured pencils.

But while dunking an Iced VoVo into my teacup I reminded myself that this government office job was paying me about $40 a week. It gave me a great sense of independence, and I felt very grown up handing over to Mum and Dad the nominal $10 ‘board’. I was contributing.

Still, now that I’d heard about the ad, I yearned to learn more about that journalist job at the Times. This newspaper had been around in one form or another since 1869 and was always in our home. In the past it had even featured Dad and his sailing prowess. It was the voice of the district, the community communicator that connected people. It serviced rural communities with local news and sports results, council meeting decisions, charity notices, arts and crafts, recipes and regular town chitchat. It kept them informed about, and hopefully interested in, their rich and conservative district, with its mix of families old and young, and its strong sporting culture, enthusiastic arts and theatre community and sun-loving and surfing crowd.

So I applied for the job.

Mum and Dad, ever supportive, didn’t say too much. Mum, I suspect, was pleased that I was giving it a crack.

Both of them remained composed and wished me well when I headed off to the job interview. And when I walked back in, having been rejected, they didn’t make a big deal of it.

To be fair, as the editor Ken McDonald said, it was a sports reporting job. And back then, the early 1970s, covering rugby league and cricket matches and every other physical pursuit in between was by and large considered a job for the boys.

All credit to Kenny ‘Mac’ for listening to me explain why I thought I could do it. He asked what I would do if I needed to talk to footballers or cricketers after a match, something that apparently would mostly happen in the men’s dressing sheds.

‘Wait till they came out,’ I offered.

Ken smiled. I’m guessing he appreciated I’d given it a shot.

I was later told that I’d lost out to a big, burly and brilliant sportsman from Sydney. I wasn’t crushed.

I continued on with my real job, the one that wasn’t really for me, and where sometimes I felt I could have died at my desk.

But I came back to life when I learned that a few months into his country-town job, both the new recruit and Kenny Mac had concluded the impressive sportsman’s future was probably better served back in the big smoke.

On one of his strolls down Taree’s main street, Kenny Mac bumped into Mum, told her of the latest development and asked if I would like to pop over to his place for another chat. The job this time, he explained, was not covering sports but general reporting.

Despite my earlier rejection, Mum seemed very excited for me. She thought, if offered, it was an opportunity I should take.

Dad, not so. The clerk’s role at the Forestry Commission was a great government job, he reminded me. And the cadetship, alas, was going to see my wage take a dramatic tumble, down to about $30 a week.

I didn’t care.

So, on a Sunday afternoon, when Mum drove me to Kenny Mac’s home in Chatham, a suburb close to the centre of Taree, I felt almost ready. I paused to replay Dad shaking his head and then Mum nodding, then pondered what I would say to Kenny Mac. But only for a minute.

As I stepped out of the family Kingswood and knocked on Kenny’s door, it was the start of a career that I could never have imagined.

* * *

In my best gathered skirt and cream blouse, I arrived at the newspaper’s office, in what seemed to me an imposing old building that took up the corner of Albert and Manning Streets, home to what had become an institution.

My first day was a disaster.

Kenny Mac declared I would be going to court. I’d never been inside a court room in my life, let alone to report on the misfortunes of others.

‘You’ve got to get there before 10am,’ he said. ‘Check out the court list and come and see me at lunch time.’

As I was walking out, almost as an afterthought, Kenny added, ‘And don’t forget to bow.’ With that he turned in his brown leather slip-on loafers and walked back behind his desk.

‘What does that mean?’ I should have asked, but I didn’t want to appear stupid.

So up the hill I traipsed to the Taree Court House, which was right beside the police station and my old Catholic high school. I walked with purpose up the front stairs, firmly clutching my notebook and pen.

Everything about this old court house was intimidating. Its heavy oak doors and the cold wooden seats. The elevated bench from which the magistrate could look over our community’s allegedly fallen flock. At the back of the room there were rows of seats for the public, and along one side was a space for me, the sole representative of the press.

It didn’t take long for everyone to sniff out the new person. And the scent of me was a perfume called Merde j’ai Peur (Shit Scared).

As solicitors began gathering at the tables in front of the magistrate’s bench, all looking very important, I remembered Kenny Mac’s last hurried instruction, and bowed.

There were smirks all round.

One man looked at me and gave a deep sigh. ‘Bow when the magistrate walks in,’ he said in a tepid tone.

With my face now the colour of Mum’s fabulous redcurrant jelly, I got on with the task. I looked at the court list and its précis of the day’s cases, including names and charges. All I could see was endless mentions of PCAs (driving with more than the prescribed concentration of alcohol), the odd theft and a rather curious reference to something about which I had no idea, bestiality.

‘All rise,’ came an instruction from the man with the tepid tone. Someone whom I quickly came to know as the Clerk of the Court. And so began my introduction to the nefarious things the people of the Manning might, or might not, have been doing while I wasn’t paying attention. To a place where truth was sometimes more extraordinary than fiction, and where lives could and would forever be changed.

* * *

My career as a journalist had begun. I owe this country-town chronicle an enormous debt of gratitude. I was thrown in the deep end and made plenty of mistakes. But most of those I worked with were kind enough to guide me along the way.

The editor today is a woman, Toni Bell, who joined after me as a cadet, a great colleague with whom to share the workplace. We both worked with Kenny MacDonald, his deputy Ian Crowther, and John Bulmer, all hard-working and diligent journalists who revelled in a good story.

But there was no getting away from the fact that this was still very much a profession for men. Before Toni arrived, the only woman on staff was Robyn Richardson, a senior journalist who covered the social rounds. Robyn was no slouch, and her feature writing, I came to realise, was far superior to anything I had to offer. I was to learn much from Robyn, who with some gentleness would ask my thoughts and offer suggestions whenever she looked at my work.

* * *

As the days turned to weeks and months, I became a regular at the local court, and grew slowly more immune to the stories I was hearing. Some were dreadful, some were sad and some were just unfortunate.

It was inevitable I would eventually recognise one of the locals called to answer charges.

As I settled, alone as usual, in the press gallery, it happened. I’d seen the names on the court list, but none of them had stood out – until a woman on fraud charges walked in. I looked up and my mouth dropped open.

I don’t know why I hadn’t recognised the name. Mary, a woman in her late twenties, was engaged to a friend of mine and I’d been asked to be a bridesmaid. We were all still getting to know her, but we were pleased about the impending nuptials.

On that chilly morning, I sat and listened to the allegation Mary was facing and tried not to show my shock as I took down notes.

Mary, police said, had stolen a chequebook from her workplace and obtained money fraudulently. I didn’t know how to feel. It wasn’t quite robbing a bank but it wasn’t good, and it was also pretty naïve. She must have known that her offence would ultimately be revealed.

Nothing about Mary gave a hint of this fractured part of her personality. She was well groomed and softly spoken. She glanced at me quickly and looked away. We both knew this was a terrible moment.

The magistrate fined her and placed her on a good behaviour bond. I left the court and walked back to work in some sort of stupor. I had 10 minutes or more of slow ambling to consider the situation.

Back at the office, I’d barely taken a seat at my desk when the phone rang. It was Mary. She wanted two things from me: not to write the story and not to tell the family.

I knew that neither could be avoided. Ethically, I couldn’t pick and choose which cases I wrote about, and importantly, I thought Mary should tell her fiancé.

It was all pretty awful. Yet I was desperately sorry for Mary. A woman tagged a thief in a small town could expect the local gossip to be particularly cruel, no matter the circumstances.

Mary had plenty of reasons for what she’d done. A chequebook staring her in the face. Her needy situation. A moment of madness. She sounded genuine.

I wrote the story, along with other tales of lapsed judgment I’d heard at the court that day. I handed the copy to Ian Crowther, our deputy editor and subeditor, and I didn’t make a fuss.

Families and friends were mortified, but I let Mary explain. The wedding went ahead, and I was in the line-up of bridesmaids. We all moved on.

For the first time, my responsibility as a journalist had come into sharp focus. It wasn’t the end of the world, but to an 18-year-old, it sure felt like it.

* * *

There were plenty of other stories from council meetings, the arts, local shows, sports, crime, Apex, Rotary and Lions Clubs to just the local people themselves. Many had a great yarn to tell.

I’d be assigned stories to chase, but I was also given various rounds that required contacting people to see what news was to be had. I’d make daily calls to the district’s police and would often walk up to the station and ask what had been occurring.

This was a region that experienced horrific car crashes. The Pacific Highway, running along the coast between Sydney and Brisbane, used to come literally through the middle of town. Most people braced themselves, hoping the next fatality wouldn’t claim the life of a local. And to my horror, a number of young people I had been to school with or knew, or whose families I knew, died in dreadful road accidents. The sounds of sirens from the dramatic rush of police and ambulance vehicles told everyone there was trouble on the highway, and every Christmas, when holiday traffic was at its busiest, those sirens were constant.

Less horrific though sometimes no less dramatic stories would emerge from local council meetings, where a vast number of ongoing community concerns and complaints and proposed plans for the district were considered. In a cash-strapped region where every dollar counted, arguments between ratepayers and their elected representatives could become quite heated.

And then there was the colour of the annual Taree Show and Manning River Aquatic Festival. My early years in journalism were spent at both, reporting on the best cakes and flowers, pumpkins and produce, and the fastest speedboats, rowers and sailors.

The Manning River Aquatic Festival took up residence on the banks of the river in the heart of Taree during the summer school holidays in January. And for decades it had been the place to be.

Like every other child, I’d filled my belly with snow cones, hot dogs and fairy floss and tried to keep it all down while taking a wild ride on my favourite, the Twister. But there’d been an abundance of other choices. The Ferris wheel for a bird’s-eye view of the party, the dodgem cars for some jarring fun and an array of shooting galleries for taking pot shots for a prize.

It was a tightly choreographed long weekend of events that was nothing short of exhilarating for a country town. The show opened with a long and loud, colourful street parade of marching bands, pipers and floats of all kinds, and closed with a huge night-time stage show.

There was also the crowning of the Aquatic Queen.

One year I was entered in the contest by the Taree Ski Club. My fellow entrants were young women mostly like me. We were generally put on show, which meant we did a bit of a parade and then were interviewed and later sized up by the judges, who made their decision in a back room. I don’t recall loving the beauty-queen judging process, but ultimately it seemed mostly harmless fun.

I got into a spot of bother, though, when I questioned whether we really needed to step out in a swim suit. And when the judges asked me about that mini rebellious moment of mine, I knew I was potentially seen as trouble. But it mustn’t have been a serious issue, because to my surprise I was declared the runner up, and was the beneficiary of a very nice gold watch.

Kenny Mac asked me to write about it, and after he’d read my polite account, the chuckles from behind his desk gave me the courage to keep typing.

I enjoyed telling stories, in particular people’s stories, and with each I would better understand the human spirit. The triumphs and tragedies, the joy and the pain.

* * *

And then there were the stories I ducked.

One day Kenny Mac virtually skipped through the door to the newsroom. ‘I’m told Bob Hawke is at the RSL!’ he said, looking at me. ‘I want you to go and see if you can find him.’

I knew Bob Hawke was the leader of the trade union movement. From what I’d seen in news reports, he appeared confident, even cocky, with an extremely sharp wit, and was someone who seemed to like a drink.

As I joined the pedestrians making their way up Victoria Street, I was feeling quite nervous. Mostly I was thinking about what I would ask Hawkie, and how he might respond.

I turned left into River Street and headed towards the RSL. As the man at the front desk waved me into the club, my pulse quickened.

I looked around and near the bar I could see a table of men sitting and drinking. I stood and watched. The man with a flourish of thick hair, holding court, was indeed Bob Hawke.

I walked closer and his voice grew louder, and then I stopped. Hawkie, I could see, had a swagger. This budding prime minister was indeed in a gregarious mood. I surmised that a young country-town girl would be welcome to join him and his companions, but that day I felt it was just not a good idea.

So I walked away. Not everyone would have agreed, but at that moment, stepping away seemed like the right decision.

But it would not be my last encounter with Bob Hawke.

* * *

There were plenty more stories to come, and some lighter moments too.

Connell’s, the local department store, would from time to time organise an attraction to draw in customers. Maybe a make-up artist or a fabulous crocheting queen. This particular day they’d advertised that there would be a palm reader in the store to add a little piquancy to our shopping visits.

Kenny Mac asked me to trot on down to meet with the palmist and write a ‘colour piece’, a small feature article for the inside pages, to be published later in the week. It did tickle my fancy.

Inside the department store, I made my way towards the woman with the handy ethereal knowledge. She was older than I’d expected, but given that I was not long out of my school shoes, she most likely wasn’t so ancient at all. She was warm and welcoming, and she could see that I was up for a bit of fun.

With one of my hands in hers, she peered at the lines on my palm. She straightened and curled it with a gentle grip and did a bit of scrunching at the sides. Then she took my other hand and repeated the same movements.

Finally, her face full of consternation, she looked up, her eyes directly piercing mine. She declared I was going to be married four times.

Four times!

‘You’ve got to be kidding!’ I thought. Actually, I think I might have laughed. I don’t think I’d even clapped eyes on the man who would become my first husband.

Sensing the news might have been a bit much, my palmist, with a look of relief, added that I would ultimately be happy and would find great joy and contentment living near water. Perhaps it wasn’t a bad guess, given Taree was known for the mighty Manning, the river that for so many decades had been a lifeline for the town and the reason for so many of its sporting activities. A river that flowed past the front door of our farm and was only steps from where we were standing in the local department store.

I jotted it all down, left with my notebook of scribblings in one of my now sweaty palms and headed back to the office.

‘How crazy was all of that,’ I thought. ‘So outrageous!’

And within hours, I’d forgotten it.

* * *

By that stage I was stepping into the world of dating. Some of my beaus had been seen off by my dad, some by me, and some had seen themselves out the door.

To my surprise, the man who would catch my eye lived within walking distance of my home. Bryan Hayes was pretty much the boy next door. He was funny and very easygoing, with a wonderful smile. A talented water-skier and carpenter who was completing his building certificate.

Bryan and I got together when we’d barely turned 20. He taught me to water-ski, a sport that would occupy most of our weekends.

When we married in 1977, I became Beth Hayes. My name had changed and I never gave it another thought. It seemed perfectly reasonable to me.

Our lives continued as they had before. We worked during the week and, come Saturday, we’d be on the river. Bryan was a natural water-skier but also brilliant at barefooting and ski-racing. He made it all look so easy. And soon I found myself trying to do the same.

Work continued to keep me intrigued. I was learning how the district danced and the town ticked, where the engine room was and what it took to keep it humming.

The heartbeat of the region was without doubt its people, who were tough and talented and used to pulling together when the inevitable floods and droughts and fires tried to tear them down. There were other challenges too. A lack of jobs, health practitioners and help for those in aged care.

I marvelled at the small things that could make a difference. The simple coming together to share plates of scones, cakes and pikelets and cups of tea, sometimes sipped from and passed around on crockery from a Royal Albert Old Country Roses collection. The good stuff brought out from china cabinets and hutches, where those special pieces were usually on display. A few hours for people in the community to share and care.

The locals would be reminded of these meetings through a notice in the local newspaper, and the importance of those became obvious to me when I filled in as editor of the then Forster Tuncurry Cape Hawke Advocate, a weekly newspaper edited by my colleague at the Times, John Bulmer. He worked on both, but the Advocate was his baby.

I recall putting out the edition under my short-term care while John was away, with big bold headlines on the front page and a slight rearrangement of the regular columns inside. The locals were not particularly happy; I’d relocated their notices to other spots. It was a bit careless of me, and a good reminder that actually this was their newspaper and not mine.

My editing career was probably going to take some time, but soon there would be another opportunity on the horizon, one that meant Bryan and I would be farewelling our country cousins.

Bryan was offered a job in Sydney, and we considered it worth pursuing, even though it meant I’d be leaving my job.

But I saw it as a great adventure. A step into a new future.
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Fish of the Flathead Kind

Sydney was a world away from my country-town upbringing.

The big smoke was a different and unforgiving beast. Through the windows of our outer suburbs apartment, we could sniff the city smells of bitumen and diesel, and hear its movement. The constant clatter and chatter of cars and trains invaded our new life, along with the sounds of people who seemed to be crammed into every city crevice.

But Sydney also had an energy that was exciting, and I felt that if I didn’t climb on board I would definitely be left behind. This was a place where time and tide would wait for no man, or woman.

I spent the first days and weeks feeling quite alone. There were many calls home to Mum and Dad to soothe my slightly homesick soul.

Bryan and I were still enjoying weekends water-skiing, but  on weekdays he left for work early and came home late in the afternoon. Even though I’d venture out to find my way around the local area, to the supermarkets and shops, I was always very happy to hear him walking up the stairs to our small abode.

Not having a job felt quite foreign to me, and one of my biggest challenges now was working out how many ways I could cook mince. After paying the rent, every cent needed to be counted, and I thought the least I could do was try to provide an edible meal. The kitchen had to become my domain, and before long I was poring over my first Margaret Fulton Cookbook, trying to crack the pavlova recipe and a decent pepper steak.

Alas, there were more mundane meals than gourmet dinners, and as domestic goddesses went, I did not rate highly. I knew my best bet was to get a job. Any job.

I wanted to continue working as a journalist, but I knew it wouldn’t be easy to find my way in this daunting place. I might have covered all the civic and social rounds in Taree, and even for a minute edited a newspaper, but I knew I couldn’t expect to be viewed as being in the same league as reporters who’d trained in the city.

Nevertheless I blindly applied for jobs. And while waiting for those replies I sat in a very big bean bag, glued to the TV news. The more I watched, the more I convinced myself that one day I would do what I could see journalists doing on my small television screen.

One of my first job applications was to Ita Buttrose, who at the time was Editor of the Australian Women’s Weekly. When she replied it was by telegram, a message that was delivered to the nearest post office. It was with regret, she wrote, that she had to inform me my application had been unsuccessful, but she assured me my name would go on file for future consideration. I felt disappointed, but not defeated.

Back then I didn’t appreciate the extraordinary career path Ita had already carved out in the tough male-dominated publishing world. I certainly never expected to meet her, as I did many years later, when I was chiselling my way across a sometimes treacherous and slippery media mountain.

I didn’t give up, but I was wondering who would be interested in me when a letter arrived out of the blue, inviting me to come in for an interview at Southdown Press, the publisher of New Idea and TV Week magazines.

Jerry Featherstone was the boss of the Sydney office, located in the inner-city suburb of Surry Hills. He had a wide smile and a bouffant of grey hair and wore fashionably tight trousers. His manner was warm and generous. We talked for a while in his very ’70s office with the sun shining in and then, to my eternal delight, he offered me a job. It was not for one of their major magazines, but for Signature: The Australian Diners Club Magazine, a publication for subscribers to the credit card of the same name.

I didn’t care. It would involve writing stories that were many and varied. And it would give me my first dose of working with city journalists.

Unlike at the Manning River Times, here there were mostly women. All different and all interesting, which made for fascinating and occasionally fraught office dynamics.

I was without doubt a fish of the flathead kind, out of water. I was a long way from being a senior writer, or a mature and sophisticated woman.

I was not considered important. And I wasn’t.

My colleagues were working on either New Idea or TV Week, the flashy publications that yielded the big bucks. Their stories were mostly celebrity-driven and accompanied by glossy pictures. I’d listen to the reporters’ conversations and the gossip they’d picked up and loved imparting back in the office. For me, it was all pretty extraordinary just being in the same room, let alone hearing their tattle. Later I was allowed to cover a couple of celebrity stories, but was not too good at eliciting any jaw-dropping information. And interviewing famous people, particularly of the Hollywood type, would remain one of my least favourite jobs.

Signature magazine, meanwhile, had me juggling any number of refined topics: stories on artists, gardeners and winemakers.

Memorably, I took a train over the Blue Mountains to Mudgee, northwest of Sydney, to report on the new business of growing organic wines at the Botobolar Vineyard, founded by the Wahlquist family. I travelled with a photographer, and the plan was for us to spend the day at the vineyard then catch the late train home.

In hindsight, arriving early in the day was where it started to go wrong. After a cup of tea and a piece of toast, we headed to the shed to inspect the barrels of the highly regarded, chemical-free vino. And not having downed much more than a cheap Chardonnay and a Porphyry Pearl, I was never really going to understand the science of tannins, let alone the taste of a good Shiraz. Nor was I given a heads-up about the etiquette of wine tasting, and in particular the smarts of using the spittoon.

I recall, sort of, that my photographer gave me a bit of a sideways glance when I continued to down the different vintages being offered up. He saved me at lunch time by suggesting we get some photographs in amongst the vines, to pause my intake.

That evening home on the train, I do recall laughing, a lot, as my photographer recounted in exquisite detail how my day had taken a distinct slide. In the cold light of the next headachy day, I realised what a disaster I’d been on this assignment. I cringe still when I think what our hosts must have been saying as I bade them farewell and possibly staggered towards the train station.

All was not lost though, and my later article on small Hunter winemakers was much appreciated by winemaker Murray Robson, who wrote to thank me.

But in due course, and understandably, my boss Jerry Featherstone decided my time was up. I really was not for this particular magazine and the level of sophisticated knowledge its readers were entitled to expect from the author of its articles.

After packing up my desk and taking my embarrassed self to the nearest exit, I limped home feeling very sorry for myself.

A couple of days later, Jerry rang and let me know he had a couple of items I’d left behind, not to mention my final pay packet, and said he’d like to shout me lunch.

Despite never wanting to show my failed face in public again, I dragged myself from the comfort of my long-time friend the bean bag, and got dressed for the train ride into the city. We met in a nice restaurant and Jerry’s kind smile was the welcome I needed. And while handing over the loot, $75 or so, he wanted me to know I shouldn’t lose faith, adding that even the woman who gave me my weekly pay packet in the News Limited building across the road was disappointed to hear I was gone.

I needed to smarten up. In this big city I still had a lot to learn.

* * *

I resumed my place in the kitchen and attempted some unpronounceable recipes. The vol-au-vent, that petite light pastry case that could be filled with just about anything, proved to be pretty tricky. But I persisted.

The television in the lounge room remained on, as did the impression of my backside in the bean bag. I kept looking for a job and kept Mum on permanent dial just to hear her laughter and encouraging words. Patty was brilliant at lifting my spirits.

I did get another job, at the TV Times, a weekly magazine that was a strong rival to TV Week. Again, as much as I was enamoured with television, it was news I was interested in, and I was struggling with stories about celebrities.

* * *

In late 1978 Jerry Featherstone rang. ‘I’m going to Channel Ten as head of Publicity,’ he said. ‘Would you be interested in joining the team?’

It was a bolt from the blue. Up till now I’d figured I had more chance of winning the lottery than being asked to work at a television station.

I hoped this was not a sympathetic call out of concern for the country-town girl he’d employed and then sacked, but I didn’t risk asking. Instead I gasped, ‘Absolutely!’

And so it was that I walked into my first television station: an impressive and new-looking building in the northwest Sydney suburb of Ryde. Not far from a cemetery.

* * *

My job at Channel Ten was mostly to type up publicity releases for TV shows. And even though I was in the building, there was not much making of television programmes that I got to see, nor too many celebrities. I was tucked away in the Publicity office, in an upstairs area away from studios and production offices. Occasionally I’d be asked to assist at publicity launches, but ultimately my place was behind the typewriter at my desk.

From where I sat, though, I could see the occasional outline of a well-known person, who alas was probably not at all well known to me.

One was John Singleton. He had his own night show and he’d walk the long corridor to his production office with his dog, a Rhodesian ridgeback whom he’d quaintly named Thug. He, Thug and I never made eye contact and never spoke. Not yet.

While I was coming to grips with my new job in Publicity, in my mind I was still a journalist. And even though I had so much still to learn, I was trained in news and I loved the daily headlines. With a little help from Jerry, within the year News Director Tom Barnett welcomed me into his world.

His invitation to join the newsroom was coupled with a comment about my ‘great pins’. It sent up a small red flag, but I wasn’t horrified. This was an era when personal comments were the norm, and if there had to be an observation of some kind it was better to get a compliment than not.

My ‘great pins’ and I excitedly followed Tom into the newsroom. He was a big man, and to me he carried the swagger of a boss who wanted you to know he was absolutely and comprehensively in charge. And he was.

The buzz in the newsroom was intoxicating. I was immediately smitten. I was now going to be an on-the-road reporter, and I couldn’t wait to get started.

Sitting at most of the desks were men, except for Katrina Lee, who was Channel Ten’s new star. As the nightly news co-host, she gave me reason to believe women could make it to the top. As a woman, just getting a flat sole, let alone a kitten heel, through the door was tough enough, but reading the bulletin was quite an achievement. My relationship with Katrina was not warm and fuzzy, but I watched her every night and admired her cool and confident onscreen presence.

Katrina’s husband, Harry Potter, was Ten’s police roundsman. His stories were legendary and he was a lovely, friendly man, who happened to sit not too far from me. He always said hello and often expressed an interest in what I was doing.

Television journalism is a totally different beast from newspapers. Without pictures, and without people prepared to  be interviewed on camera, as one producer put it to me, you might as well fade to black. But at its best, television is a very potent method of story telling.

I was on the road every day learning this new craft. The chief of staff would assign stories to reporters and I found myself at press conferences, car crashes and everything in between.

In this new form of news gathering, what I wasn’t ready for, or very good at, was having to put my own face on camera. I was told to structure my stories to include a ‘PTC’ and I had no idea what that was. Turned out a ‘piece to camera’ was where you looked into the lens and uttered an explanation, perhaps of where you were, why you were there or what was going on behind you. I’d felt the adrenaline surge while standing and speaking in front of my class at school, but this was on a whole new level.

Without too much preparation, I’d spurt out words hoping they made sense, while the impatient crew wondered if I’d ever get there. It was hair-raising. And there seemed no avoiding it.

And as if that wasn’t enough, there was also the stress of reporting live. Standing by the roadside, in a park, outside a building or a court house, wearing an ear piece and waiting for your cue with the network’s satellite truck not too far away all felt a little surreal.

Most news stories ran a little over a minute, but they could and often would take most of the day to get done. And your hard-fought story might be dropped if other big events overtook the headlines.

There was a lot of judgment, about how I sounded and spoke and particularly how I looked, and it came from both my peers and viewers. I was in a visual medium, and my appearance was, from this point on, up for grabs. Embarrassingly, everyone told me my open-weave purple knit top was not a winner. The benefit of help from wardrobe, hair and make-up was reserved for the stars.

Two years on the road were invaluable. The daily pressure ensured I learned quickly. And there was a comradeship I hadn’t expected with other journalists all battling for the same stories.

One of the more intriguing sagas I covered was that of 18-year-old Liliana Gasinskaya, who in January 1979 squeezed out the porthole of the cruise ship SS Leonid Sobinov, on which she was working as a waitress, and into Sydney Harbour. Liliana became known as ‘The Red Bikini Girl’, because that was all she wore as she made her gutsy escape while seeking asylum.

She was from Ukraine, which was still part of the Soviet Union, and on learning she’d defected, Russian officials were hard on Liliana’s tail. Her story sparked a furious debate over whether or not she should be accepted as a refugee, and in the end she got to stay.

I was taken by her determination to find a new life, and the planning and courage involved in seeing out her plan. I was a few years older than her, and the only real courage I was having to muster at the time was reading live newsbreaks. The very first time I was given the 30-second afternoon update to read, I thought I’d pass out from fright.

One of the biggest stories in Australia came on the afternoon of Sunday, 17 August 1980. I remember the chief of staff saying somewhat incredulously from inside his office that the police were reporting a dingo had taken a child in the Northern Territory. It was shocking later to hear a mother telling how her nine-week-old baby daughter had been snatched by the animal from inside the family tent near Ayers Rock (Uluru), where they’d been camping. Equally shocking was when the mother, Lindy Chamberlain, was later convicted, wrongly, for her daughter Azaria’s murder.

It was a decision that divided the nation. Everyone had an opinion on whether Lindy Chamberlain was guilty or innocent. And it is one of the few stories that would continue to be told throughout my entire career.

* * *

Channel Ten’s news operated out of a reasonably large, open room, yet our desks were clustered together. It meant journalists were often working in close proximity. Sitting opposite me was the very seasoned reporter Ross Dunlop.

Mid-week, late in the afternoon, the phone on my desk rang.

‘Hello,’ I answered.

‘Can you speak?’ asked the male caller.

‘Ah, yes I can,’ I replied.

‘This is Ian Cook. Would you be interested in meeting?’

‘Of course’, I replied, not knowing why I said that.

‘I’ll get back to you,’ he said before hanging up.

I was stunned. Who the hell was Ian Cook?

When I thought I’d waited a suitably long time, I leaned over and said to Ross Dunlop: ‘Who is Ian Cook?’

With a slight, knowing smile he replied, ‘He’s the Director of News at Nine.’ And added, ‘Was that who just called you?’

‘Nope,’ I pathetically lied.

Although perhaps I was more convincing than I thought, because Ross asked nothing further.

I consider that call from Ian ‘Clandestine’ Cook as amongst the most important I’ve received. While I didn’t know it then, moving to Nine meant my career was about to step up a notch.

* * *

First, though, there would be another call, followed by a discreet meeting.

At a fine-dining restaurant in a five-star city hotel, I was to join the man whom I would come to know as ‘Cookie’. He told me he would be waiting for me at the bar.

He told me he wore glasses. Some, he said, might describe them as ‘Coke bottle glasses’, which left me a little perplexed.

When I arrived, somewhat ridiculously I stood scanning the bar, looking at every suited male sitting with a drink.

There he was. Slim and slightly balding. Wearing his trademark spectacles.

‘Cookie’ was a talkative dining companion. He wanted to know more about my life and where I’d come from, though curiously he already seemed to have some background knowledge. He said he’d seen my work and wondered whether I’d be prepared to join Nine’s newsroom. And then, as if to test my observational skills, he leaned in and quietly asked: ‘Did you notice who’s sitting over there?’

Startled, I tried to surreptitiously look around the room.

I had no idea.

‘Abe Saffron,’ said Cookie. The Sydney crime kingpin was apparently nearby. I wondered whether I should pocket the bread roll on my plate and catch the next train home, because I had miserably failed my test.

But I thought about dessert and stayed in my seat. And I’m glad I did, because Cookie then asked when I could start at Nine.

* * *

My life seemed to be bounding ahead of me. I hadn’t really anchored my feet properly on the ground since starting work at Channel Ten, and now moving to Channel Nine it felt like my career was moving quickly, and I wasn’t sure I’d earned this nod of approval. Every new step made me nervous, despite my excitement. Instinctively I knew I was heading in the right direction, but I was constantly checking my credentials and having to reassure myself that I could do this.

My family, including Bryan, never made a fuss. Mum and Dad were keen observers of my city life and television job, but there were no overt celebrations. Like me, perhaps they were unsure whether it was going to last.

These were still early days. I was born the year television arrived in Australia, and the industry and I were growing up together. Neither of us, I suspect, knew what was going to happen next.

* * *

My news was not greeted with much enthusiasm at Ten, particularly by the Director of News, Tom Barnett. The man who’d once commented on my ‘great pins’ and had always been pretty friendly was not so pleasant when I advised I’d be leaving.

‘I’ve been offered a news reporting job at Channel Nine,’ I declared. Apprehensively.

There were never going to be farewell speeches or flowers. But I was a little taken aback by what he did say.

He stood up and walked me to the door of his office, and in a voice that I considered decidedly loud he declared: ‘You were only a lemon anyway!’

Not until I’d packed up, left and walked through the door at Nine did I come to understand what might have caused Barnett’s unpleasantness. There, sitting before me, was another Channel Ten defector. My former chief of staff, Paul Fenn, was now installed at the chief-of-staff desk at Nine. He looked up, and with a big smile he shouted: ‘Lizzie! Great to see you!’

It was the warmest working welcome and I would never forget it. And in due course I’d learn it was Paul Fenn who’d singled me out as a potential new recruit to the mysterious Ian Cook.
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A Bogan Car

While Channel Ten was seemingly all shiny and new and ready to party, Channel Nine was not. There was nothing salubrious about the very conservative Nine digs. Built on what was formerly a market garden in the northern suburb of Willoughby, Nine’s Sydney headquarters building was looking well and truly tatty when I arrived.

The newsroom was long and narrow, with reporters’ desks in individual slots along one wall, separated by glass partitions. Legendary newsreader Brian Henderson delivered his news breaks during the afternoon from a small desk at the back of the room. The main 6pm bulletin was read from a studio elsewhere in the bowels of the building.

It might have needed a good lick of paint and some new furniture, but there was little doubt this was a room full of sharp, impressive journalists. Maybe this air of importance I felt was because of Nine’s history, its sense of pride in being a media company that had weathered many storms since 1956, when television executive Bruce Gyngell introduced Australia’s first ever broadcast with the words: ‘Good evening and welcome to television.’

Certainly when I arrived in late 1981, fresh from the shiny floors and fun-loving, friendly crowd at Channel Ten, I could feel the difference. Ten had allowed me to learn and make mistakes, but now that I was at Nine, I knew the training was over. I would need to stump up and tread carefully.

Names like Jim Waley, Ian Ross, Robert Penfold, Greg Grainger and Barry Mathieson delivered the daily news stories. And then there was the sports reporting team of two, Ron Casey and Ken Sutcliffe. All were experienced and all would have enduring television careers. Jim Waley, with his strong news and reporting credentials, would become the face of Nine’s Sunday program and our next main newsreader in Sydney. Years later, Ian Ross would lead the 6pm bulletin at rival Channel Seven.

But in the ’80s, despite Nine’s conservative and well-behaved image, there were plenty of my colleagues who revealed themselves as not only excellent story tellers but also serious pranksters.

Brian Henderson was constantly full of cheek. All those years hosting the pioneering TV music show Bandstand were always going to make it difficult for him to disguise the fact that he was an entertainer at heart. But he was also impossibly professional. And a perfectionist. By news time, Hendo, now wearing his serious face, would have checked and double-checked every syllable he was about to read. He knew where every studio light should be and the sound level of his every decibel. And he’d be cranky if something wasn’t right. Then, when the bulletin was over, the off-air Hendo was back, smiling and laughing before heading out the door.

Alan Wilkie, our weatherman, was a real professional too. A true meteorologist, with a science degree and majors in maths and physics, he really did know what he was talking about. Alan was a reluctant television performer who nevertheless stayed the course. I often felt for him as he nervously pointed to the map and, within the few allotted minutes, had to let us know whether or not we’d need an umbrella the next day.

He and Hendo were mostly in sync. Although, there was one moment where we all stood still.

Hendo’s signature sign-off to every bulletin was, without fail, ‘Way it is . . . This is Brian Henderson. Good night.’ On this night, however, when the somewhat shy Wilkie, at the end of his weather, turned to Brian and said, ‘Way it is, Brian,’ the air was sucked from the room. No one moved.

I could see the cumulonimbus clouds forming and a nasty storm brewing. And it dropped with a mighty force.

The cold front that followed took some time to pass.

Our evening sports presenter Ron Casey was a total performer. His big personality was matched by his big laugh. He loved to create chaos and would throw tea bags against the wall while telling his latest eye-watering jokes. He once told me that he expected the return of my husband, Bryan, who’d been away for a couple of weeks working, would be ‘like a yoghurt truck hitting a brick wall’.

I winced but chose to believe he wasn’t wanting to be anything other than funny. In this television world, I often had to consider the intent behind the comment, who’d said it and in what context, because then I could decide how I should react.

Casey was someone I believed to be more thoughtless than nasty, but he was constantly in trouble. He was suspended a number of times from various jobs on TV and radio for his deeply offensive statements and views. Unfortunately, he will probably be best remembered as the man who slugged it out with pop star and Vietnam army veteran Normie Rowe on midday television. A debate on the republic that ended in punches. It was an unedifying but perhaps inevitable end.

Yet I wonder if Casey would behave differently today, now there’s a much greater understanding of the deeply hurtful nature of comments like his.

This was the early 1980s, and the headlines were dominated by politics, including Bob Hawke’s rise within the Australian Labor Party to become prime minister; the first death from AIDS; entrepreneur and adventurer Dick Smith’s completion of the first solo helicopter flight around the world; and a reason for us all to feel proud – well, my dad at least – Australia’s victory in the America’s Cup yacht race.

Australia also decided on a new national anthem, ‘Advance Australia Fair’, and Medicare was introduced to provide all Australians with access to healthcare. We learned there was a hole in the Earth’s ozone layer and that Apple had designed the Macintosh, a personal computer: a contraption that was still foreign to most of us.

Everything was changing, although my day-to-day reporting continued to revolve around bushfires, street protests and crime.

News Director Ian Cook ran a tight ship. Too much laughter and congregating with colleagues in the office corridors were activities noted and frowned upon. Although it didn’t stop us, we just learned to be a bit more discreet.

* * *

Less discretion was occurring in the car park, where my arrivals and departures were also being noted.

I’d been in the job a few years when one night, as I was about to head home, I was approached by a member of Nine’s security team.

‘Here are your keys,’ he said.

I had no idea what he was talking about.

‘You’ve got a company car,’ he stated without too much fanfare.

I was stunned. Apparently, he told me, it was on the direct orders of Nine’s CEO, Sam Chisholm, who thought I should stop bringing my own car to work.

Apparently it was ‘a bit loud’. ‘Yeah,’ the security guy went on, ‘loud in every way!’

It seemed my car had caught not just the eye, but also the ear, of Chisholm. His office at that time was on the top floor and overlooked the car park.

My loud, proud, bright-red sedan had been deemed a bit of a bogan, and that probably also made me a bogan.

I guess I should have shown more appreciation, but I was embarrassed. I didn’t dare look up and I prayed Chisholm wasn’t looking down.

Clutching my new car keys in one hand and the steering wheel of my red-hot vehicle in the other, I limped out of the car park, desperately attempting to muffle the mufflers. And had to make a return trip later in the night with Bryan to collect my new vehicle.

Embarrassing as it was, this motoring moment was also a confusing experience. I sent a thank-you note to Sam Chisholm and didn’t get a reply.

In the years that followed, there would be other cars waiting for me in the Willoughby car park, including a sporty red Mazda RX7. A leftover car from a leftover employee.

Shortish and feisty, with a rasping voice – a symptom of lungs compromised by a genetic condition – Sam Chisholm was a formidable CEO. He’d sized me up pretty quickly after hearing me drive through the security gates into Nine’s Willoughby compound.

Chisholm was never to be underestimated. And perhaps that was because he too had once been a member of the working class, a floor-polish salesman who’d defiantly climbed his way up the corporate ladder.

We first met some weeks after I’d been employed at Nine, and I don’t recall that he was too effusive. He gave me one of his no-teeth smiles, a reluctant grimace, and quipped something along the lines of ‘I’ll be interested to see if you were a good choice.’

Sam liked being the boss, and he liked to be seen as fearsome, but I got a hint of a softer side sometime later, when I received a call to come to his office. It was the afternoon, and close to the deadline for that night’s news. I actually didn’t think I had time to talk to the CEO, but realised that would not be an acceptable response.

A little out of sorts, having not yet finished my story for the bulletin, I walked down the hallway to his office. I could see there were a number of people inside.

I was ushered in and shown a seat, and there sitting opposite me was Kerry Packer. The owner of Channel Nine. We’d never met before. He was an imposing man who more than filled his seat. And he looked even bigger sitting next to the diminutive Sam.

Two of the most powerful men in the television business were now staring at me. I had no idea why.

Kerry Packer introduced himself and asked me how I was liking the job.

‘I’m enjoying it,’ I said.

‘Good,’ he replied.

There were two or three other men in the room. I surmised that this was a group of high-powered businessmen who had just come back from lunch. I assumed that because I was a reasonably new recruit, I’d been the subject of some conversation. And I presumed I was now on parade. It certainly felt like it.

It was not a good day to be on display. I was wearing one of my less than flattering ensembles and blue shoes featuring a natty gold metal trim.

While the other men in the room seemed to be engaged in what was being said, I noticed one of them fixedly studying the shelves behind Sam’s desk. I recognised him: it was John Singleton, whom I’d seen in the corridors at Channel Ten. I might have been wrong, but it seemed he felt a little uncomfortable for me.

The conversation with Kerry didn’t last too long, and after I’d been given the once-over I sat wondering how to leave. I looked down, and to my horror saw that the gold metal trim on my right shoe had partly dislodged and was pointing out like one of Wolverine’s claws. Sam saw it too.

After further stilted conversation, I looked across at Sam, silently seeking a sign as to what to do next. He motioned his head, indicating that I could leave. I was grateful.

I stood up and told Kerry Packer I was pleased to meet him and left. It was a long walk back to the newsroom after I’d stopped to bend back that manky metal shoe trim. It all felt very odd and awkward.

I would get to know all three men – Packer, Chisholm and Singleton – much better in the years to come.

* * *

I’d come a long way from my cadetship days at the Manning River Times. Television was my new home and the place where I spent many hours, day and night, and also many weekends. On Saturdays I’d be given a long shift, starting mid-morning, and wouldn’t get home till well into the night. I viewed it as good experience, but it was stealing time from my home and social life. I now did not have regular weekends or get too many public holidays, and that included Easter and Christmas.

If there was one extraordinary plus, it was that my workload was enhanced by the thrill of a new mode of transport: Nine’s helicopter.

It was not unusual to be sent to the helipad at the back of Nine’s Willoughby headquarters and fly with a crew to cover stories occurring further out of Sydney, over the harbour or off the coast. Or just to bring live coverage and a bird’s-eye view of a story that needed to be aired quickly.

I’d already experienced this rather exotic method of travel while reporting at Channel Ten. But at Nine it could be a daily event. During take-off and landing I would marvel at the tight spot that we’d be manoeuvring in and out of, a patch of grass wedged between buildings on three sides. Yet I maintained supreme confidence that all would be well. And it always was.

It wasn’t until more than 20 years later that I developed the yips about helicopter flights. But in the 1980s, before the advent of Human Resources and an appreciation of what work safety in journalism meant, I had no trouble stepping into the company’s Bell Jet Ranger.

* * *

During my early years, Nine began making some physical adjustments to its old Willoughby market garden.

First it would invest in substantial renovations, making for a more modern building and an expanding newsroom. And with that came some fresh news-reporting faces. John Mangos, Jeremy Thompson, Peter Newport, Brad Schmitt, Bob de la Lande, Stephen Fennelly, Jim Rudder and at last, another woman, Sheryl Taylor. Sheryl, who’d trained as a nurse, was a great journalist. When she arrived, predictably she was given the health round, but she would go on to do much more, as executive producer of one of television’s most successful programmes, RPA, a fly-on-the-wall real-life drama based at Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital.

The newsroom was mostly a gang of good friends, and a group of us were particularly tight. We called ourselves The Rural Desk, for no good reason other than the fact we realised many of us had spent some time in the country.

We’d gather regularly after dark to eat, drink and be very merry. Each of us was assigned a task to prepare for our meetings. Bob de la Lande was pretty handy with cartoon drawings. His depiction of great newsroom moments became legendary. There was always a guest speaker, often chosen based on their irreverence and humour.

To others it seemed pretty juvenile and even rebellious. To us, it was a hoot.

I formed lifelong bonds, and they were among the happiest years of my career. I was surrounded by supportive and encouraging colleagues and, armed with a sense of the ridiculous, we’d ride the highs and lows together.

Having stumbled and mumbled my way through those first years of television, I knew hard work would always be my friend, but I also knew I was part of a human jungle, and survival was anything but straightforward.

My appeal would help determine where I stood on that ubiquitous television snakes-and-ladders board. Each of us apparently had a ‘Q rating’, a measurement of just how popular we were with audiences and advertisers, and how good we were for business. We were never told how we’d scored in this somewhat secretive test.

* * *

While reporting I was also asked to be a newsreader. I’m not even sure why, because I certainly didn’t request the job. If anything, I shied away from it, because just watching someone like Brian Henderson told me I was a few autocues short of competent. Still, I chanced it when directed to take up the seat for the 11.30 morning news.

The main news desk was now placed within the newsroom. My peers were sitting just metres away, listening and watching. Sylvia was not far away either. She was my kind and constant autocue operator, who rarely missed a beat.

The biggest issue was whether or not the paper carrying the scripted introductions to each story would run smoothly through the autocue machine. Sylvia would feed the intros through by hand, one after another, and if the pieces of paper somehow got caught, she’d have to either try to nudge them along or rip them out. It was a reader’s nightmare when all you could see was Sylvia’s hand.

Today it’s all computerised, although technology still has a nasty habit of letting you down.

I was also reading bulletins for Nightline, a late evening news programme that started in 1985, and which for a while had no hard timeslot or duration. Robyn Wade, a warm and very capable colleague, would often produce the programme, and wouldn’t learn until late in the afternoon what time we could expect to be on air or for how long. And that could be anywhere from 5 to 35 minutes between the hours of 9.30 and 11pm.

It was a haphazard affair, and with just the two of us putting the bulletin together, we could often be found on our hands and knees, sifting through the ‘wires’ – reams of paper from the teleprinter, which spewed out reports and updates from various local and international news outlets. So often we felt we were flying by the seat of our pants, especially when big stories came in late.

One was the release of Lindy Chamberlain from prison, a headline we clearly had to get to air immediately. Just as I’d been shocked by baby Azaria’s disappearance, I was equally shocked by Lindy’s conviction for her daughter’s murder.

So, more than three years later, as I was about to read the news that she was being released from gaol, after the discovery of Azaria’s matinée jacket pointed to her innocence, I felt a sudden moment of emotion. Lindy and her husband, Michael, had suffered so much heartache and pain and so much vitriol that I could only imagine how bittersweet this news must have been.

It was not where a newsreader should go when about to hit the airwaves. But an emotional being I am.

* * *

When I looked into the chest of a patient who was about to have their heart reconditioned, I was feeling a little shaky. But it was just the forerunner to the extraordinary medical miracle that was to follow. A heart transplant that has to be seen to be believed.

In 1984 I was filming a documentary with pioneering surgeon Dr Victor Chang at Sydney’s St Vincent’s Hospital.

When we first met, he was dressed in his hospital scrubs and sipping a cup of tea between surgeries. I’d been sent to do a story on him because he was on the precipice of making history by performing Australia’s first successful heart transplant.

Victor Chang was obviously a brilliant surgeon, but he also understood that his dream, to establish a heart-transplant unit, needed the support of ordinary people. Transplanting hearts was a delicate business and he knew that Australians were still getting their heads around the realities of what that meant. A life could only be saved after someone else had died. And in that worst of moments families were being asked to consider donating their loved one’s heart. It was not an easy sell.

In the operating theatre Dr Chang was very much in control and was keen to have me see his work first-hand. I really didn’t want to, but ultimately, with a bit of nudging, I was peering deep into a human chest and couldn’t stop looking.

It is impressive medicine, and even though South African cardiac specialist Dr Christiaan Barnard had been the first in the world to perform a human-to-human heart transplant in 1967, in the 1980s it was still considered daring surgery. The big difference now was immuno-suppressant drugs, which meant the recipient’s body was less likely to reject its new heart.

When Victor Chang stepped out of the operating theatre, having given 14-year-old schoolgirl Fiona Coote a new heart, it was a huge story. It was the beginning of Dr Chang realising his dream: a permanent heart and lung transplant unit at St Vincent’s Hospital.

The documentary we made two years later won a television award, and Dr Chang’s work attracted international recognition and made him an Australian household name. But his high profile also made him a terrible target.

In 1991, Victor Chang was shot dead in a failed extortion attempt by two men who intercepted him while he was driving to work. It was horrific and devastating news.

It seemed unbelievable. Dr Chang was just 54.
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Phone Calls at 3am

The phone by my bed rings. The sound hits me like a sharp pain. It’s 3am.

I answer. In my ear are the gentle tones of Nine’s overnight receptionist, assigned the unenviable job of waking me. ‘Hi, Liz, it’s Geraldine from Channel Nine.’

I have a vision of her prepping to call. A check of the watch, a girding of the loins and the taking of a none-too-shallow breath, before dialling my number. I imagine there isn’t any good feedback when waking someone who doesn’t want to be woken.

I try to be pleasant. It’s the least I can do, even though I can barely utter the next two words.

‘Thank you.’

I wish I didn’t need waking. Often I’ll pretend to be wide-eyed and perky when the receptionist rings. I never am. It’s pitch-black outside and I’ve probably slept barely five hours.

I’ve never felt like I’m ready to face the day. Never felt ready to open my eyes. And so I don’t. I slide out of bed and feel my way to the bathroom. Then, and only then, do I open my eyes and turn on the light.

I step into the shower, and minutes later step out bedraggled.

My first glimpse of me is when I dare to look in the mirror.

And suddenly I’m in a rush. Shit. Late.

I hate being late and being in a rush. Yet on these early mornings I always am.

I jump into my car and back out into the street. Turn the radio on.

I like listening to the radio news. The headlines. It’s going to save me a whole lot of time when I get to the office. At least I’ll know what’s happened. Before every show there is intense preparation, researching late-breaking stories and changes to the rundown. It’s a moving feast, because every morning the feast keeps moving. It’s a live show and it’s a constant dance.

But when the make-up goes on and my hair is in place, I don my big shoulder-padded jacket and I’m ready.

Now I love my job. The immediacy, the spontaneity, the urgency. Covering the news from around the country and the world is intoxicating.

And when it ends, immediately it starts again.

* * *

Today would be my home for the next 10 years, and the show and I would develop a kind of love–hate relationship. Hours of live television are not easy. And these days it’s even harder. The on-air starting time is earlier – 5.30 rather than 7am – and the competition is fierce and fast. News drops from everywhere – from the internet, from social media, from anyone’s iPhone.

I was a shift worker, and I was in a constant state of jet lag. Those early-morning hours could take a toll. My early starts on the farm bringing in the cows had toughened me up, but not enough. I didn’t love it back then, particularly when it was cold, and I felt just the same 20 years later.

Slow starts on the weekends and catch-ups with family and friends helped replenish my soul, but for those 10 years my circadian had lost its rhythm. I would wake in the dark, work in the dark, emerge in the light, nap in the light and then conk out again in the dark. In the afternoons I’d fall unconscious on my couch and wake desperately hoping but never knowing if it was still the same day.

One hot summer’s afternoon, as I slept on the lounge-room floor, a blue-tongued lizard made its way inside through an open door and lay beside me. Both of us, flat out. Both of us startled when I woke.

Nearly everyone on the early shift had a story to tell. Time lost, mixing up day with night. I recall more than once diving into the shower and running towards the car before realising it was six in the evening, not the morning.

* * *

Breakfast television was not new to me: I’d been there working as a reporter in February 1981 when Good Morning Australia was first launched on Channel Ten.

Ten’s show was quite the coup, because Channel Nine had its eye set on the same title. The crew had rehearsed for months preparing to launch. But when Ten’s Good Morning Australia hit the screens first, Nine executives could only sit and watch their competitors and no doubt utter unrepeatable words about why it had happened.

It would have irked Sam Chisholm. Losing was not in his vocabulary. But ‘Gotcha!’ was. When he poached Sue Kellaway, the very credible and popular co-host of Good Morning Australia, and sat her in the co-host seat at Today, it was textbook Chisholm.

Finally, in June 1982, with Sue joined by Steve Liebmann, The National Today Show (soon to be known as Today) made its debut.

For Australian viewers, this thing called breakfast TV wasn’t everyone’s cup of coffee. Some thought it was just wrong to be turning on the box at such an early hour. Yet America had proven it could be done without ruining too many lives, as its Today show had been on air for decades.

In 1985 Sue Kellaway left Today to seek a life with more reasonable hours, and her seat was filled by Patrice Newell, a smart and very attractive recruit and a former newsreader at SBS.

In early 1986, when Patrice needed to take leave, I was asked to fill in. I hadn’t expected it. But sitting in the co-host chair on Today, albeit only occasionally, was a new and exciting experience. The show’s mix of hard news and politics, human interest stories and softer segments suited me. I liked the way I had to shift gears from one subject to the next. It satisfied my desire to cover news and allowed me to indulge in interviews on a variety of topics.

Yet when Patrice decided to leave and I was asked to take up the job permanently, I didn’t jump at it immediately. I hesitated only because I would be leaving the newsroom, and colleagues to whom I’d now become very attached. I didn’t want to lose that camaraderie.

But only a mad woman would say no to such a big offer. So I said yes.

* * *

In the beginning I found it a little hard to believe I had the job and I well understood that I was by far the less experienced host. Steve Liebmann’s curriculum vitae screamed ‘serious newsman’. He was the consummate news broadcaster and Today was his programme. So when I took up the seat beside him, I knew he was the guiding light, our dependable team captain.

But we were so unalike.

Steve was a man of routine. Always impeccably dressed, with a voice from radio heaven. He was always happy, always whistling, always early. He’d get up very early to listen to the latest news and before leaving the house he would pat the dog, have a piece of chocolate cake and smoke a cigarette.

Steve was always ahead of me and, I suspect, always just a little worried about where I was, and relieved when I finally turned up. But the highly disciplined, very straight newsman needed a foil. And I was his sidekick. For a while.

* * *

At Today I mostly felt in pretty good hands, and our viewers were generally kind and polite. I’d meet them everywhere – while shopping, eating and even sleeping! While in a deep slumber on a jumbo jet somewhere over the Pacific, I felt a nudge and woke to find a man and his young son standing in the aisle staring at me. The dad apologised, but said he’d love me to meet his boy.

And a department store shopper, recognising my voice, popped over the top of a partition to say hello while I was changing in the dressing room. And more than a few times I’ve found myself in the cockpit of an international jet at the invitation of the captain, in the days when you could, and pilots didn’t have to work behind locked doors.

There were many good, or at the very least harmless, experiences with people who wanted to say hello.

Although that wasn’t always the case.
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Purple Lipstick

I had immersed myself in an environment to which I had surrendered willingly. An intoxicating introduction to a life of journalistic experiences that I could once have only dreamed about.

Slowly but surely, though, I came to see the world in its many moods and motions. And television was no different, with its own universe of planets and a galaxy of stars that could shine and shoot, dim and die. An exciting yet dangerous playground where people can be both brutal and brutalised. I was inhaling it all, but it stood to reason that I couldn’t stay immune to its influences, good or bad, and that I’d have to adapt if I were to survive.

In the 10 years I would spend honing my broadcasting skills on breakfast television, even I could see myself evolving from Beth Ryan into Liz Hayes. By now I felt like I was living two lives: the one on television and the real one. The one where I didn’t wear make-up or big hair, where I could slouch on the couch, be barefoot and be me. And even though the differences to others may have been subtle, to me they were certainly visible.

Those who called me Beth were always going to be family and friends from my younger years. Liz had become like a stage name, though really I am Elizabeth.

But even my own mother was starting to call me Lizzie. She’d chuckle when she did, acknowledging that this was the name I was now stuck with.

For Dad and my brothers though, there would be no budging. I was and would always be Beth.

* * *

Becoming the co-host of Today had taken my career to a new level, and my life to a place I was still trying to understand.

I was highly visible and on daily public display. In this business I was also seen as a commodity, akin to a product on the supermarket shelf. A product it was hoped advertisers would want to buy and viewers would like. After a circuit of the sales department, one CEO told me ‘You’ve still got it,’ apparently according to advertisers.

Packaging and presentation counted. And not only because of what men said; women at home and at work were equally judgmental.

At different times women questioned me about my choice of clothing, my hair, and even the colour of my lipstick. ‘It makes me feel cold,’ a female television executive said of my more-purple-than-pink lips.

Viewers didn’t miss a beat. My hair, according to one, made me look like Barry Manilow, the 1970s American singer who at least had some big hits. And my skirts, some declared, were too short. Admittedly, sometimes they might have been.

Looks mattered, was the message. I tried to tune out, although I did find it hilarious when a colleague asked what I intended donning the next day. It turned out a group of office workers in Sydney had started laying bets on which primary colour I’d be wearing and some inside knowledge was going to prove lucrative.

The scrutiny was endless and the communication sometimes unpleasant. A viewer incessantly wrote letters telling me how ordinary I was, while others were complimentary. But sometimes the contents of letters were just disgusting. One contained a used condom.

Today, very few letters make it to my desk unopened.

* * *

But in the whirlwind of public exposure, I hadn’t anticipated that I would eventually become the story. The bigger my profile became, the more my personal life was the subject of tabloid headlines. Before I knew it, speculation was rife and my every move was being watched.

I’ve seen it happen scores of times since. To my friends, to my colleagues, to my rivals. It’s the cycle of public life. It reaffirms for me just how insatiable the human appetite is for the things that matter least. But gossip rules, and the more salacious, the greater the interest.

This would hit home pretty quickly when my marriage ended. Bryan was the hard-working builder who had adjusted to his wife’s weird working hours with generosity and understanding. But my working life had taken over and my focus was now lost in my job and all that came with it. I have no doubt there were many times Bryan wondered, ‘Where’s Beth Ryan?’, and wanted to ask my new television world: ‘What have you done with her?’

I sometimes wondered too.

* * *

My newfound visibility had other unpleasant ramifications.

As I returned to my dressing room one morning with another show under my belt, my hand had barely turned the doorknob when the phone rang. It was a big, black, clunky contraption that sat on a table near the door and would only ring if someone at Nine knew this specific dressing-room number, or if the receptionist put through a call.

When it rang I knew it had to be someone I worked with or a caller who’d been carefully scrutinised. With barely a second thought, I picked up the receiver.

‘Hello,’ I answered, and almost immediately I knew I shouldn’t have.

‘Why didn’t you use my pen?’ asked a voice on the other end.

I was startled. ‘I’m sorry?’ I said, trying hard to think who this could be.

‘My pen. I sent you a pen.’

‘I’m sorry?’ I repeated. ‘I don’t know what you’re talking about.’

By now my mind was spinning. It was a man’s voice, mature and somewhat aggressive. For a moment I wondered which executive I was speaking to. A live studio feed of the show was available to most televisions in the offices of management. Who else would know when I’d be walking off the Today set? Even though we finished at 9am, Steve and I would often have to stay in the studio to complete promos and pre-records.

‘I sent you a Waterman.’ So many things were sent to me unsolicited.

‘I’m sorry,’ I said, but my internal alarm bells were ringing. This person didn’t sound like any Nine executive I’d met. But the line was clear, and the voice felt close and intimidating.

He hung up.

I dropped heavily onto the couch and sat there feeling stunned. Whoever it was, I thought, wanted me to know he was watching.

* * *

It had been a couple of weeks since that unsettling call. I’d gone looking for that pen, and there it was, without a note, under my desk in a box of other bits and pieces sent to me over the months.

Odd as it was, I hoped the caller had now lost interest.

He hadn’t. A few weeks later, again as I was reaching for the door handle to my dressing room, the phone began ringing.

I stopped and looked at it and then I answered.

‘Why aren’t you using my pen?’ the same male caller asked.

I froze.

‘It’s broken.’

He laughed. ‘I don’t believe you.’

‘Who is this?’ I was angry now. ‘Who are you?’

Silence.

‘Who are you?’ I demanded. I now believed this had to be someone who knew my movements.

I slammed the phone down, my heart racing.

I never heard from the caller again and I would never find out who he was.

* * *

Some months later I was being stalked.

I don’t wish to dwell on the stalker, but I can describe how it made me feel and affected my thinking.

At first I tried to make sense of what was happening and rationalise how to deal with the issue. But as the stalking continued, I began to feel paranoid and overly alert. At home, I was constantly checking that doors and windows were locked and I didn’t like being alone. Sometimes I would ring friends at night simply to try and talk myself to sleep.

There were times when security guards came to outside broadcasts and even my residence. And when my mum and dad received a visit and then a private detective called to say he’d been hired by the same person to find me, my horror hit new heights.

The joy drained from my life and it would take years before I regained the confidence to move about safely. I try not to think about it anymore so I can get on with my life, but in truth it’s still not the same.
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Hocus Pocus

My safety net was removed at Today too when suddenly, less than a year into my tenure, Liebo left to read the evening news for the opposition at Channel Ten.

I was shocked. This was his programme, a show that he loved and that he’d nurtured since its inception.

But now I was at the wheel and all I could do was give it my best. I worked with a number of short-term co-hosts until finally in came my new permanent partner, George Negus.

George was a former 60 Minutes superstar. He was revered. And when he arrived at Today there was plenty of publicity and expectation.

In fact, George had his own expectations. At the first staff gathering, he informed us that he believed the programme’s ratings would now improve. I took that to mean George believed that he would bring in those extra viewers, and I guess he had every right to think that, because he undeniably had extraordinary journalistic credentials and appeal. He was known for his reports from tough locations and searing interrogations of world leaders – most famously his 1981 interview with British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher. Thatcher had been tagged as the most powerful woman on the planet, so watching George get under her skin had been compelling viewing and made headlines around the world.

Suffice it to say that few at Today were going to argue with George. This was a man with a distinctive style and a strong ego. His voice was as unmistakable as his moustache.

George was tenacious and well travelled and, it seemed to me, right at home with George. And fair enough. But morning television can be a mean beast. And it’s not for the loner. Real success meant that we, George and I, had to work as a team.

And that didn’t happen immediately.

* * *

Offscreen, I was receiving a few interesting requests.

Around this time I was contacted by celebrity manager Harry M Miller. Harry was a mover and shaker in the entertainment world, and when I saw him socially he always expressed interest in my career, and told me he was a strong believer in my potential.

Harry let me know that I’d been offered a starring role in a toothpaste commercial. When I declined, he wrote to me, dismayed that I’d turned down such a lucrative deal. It would, he said, have provided me with enough money to afford ‘a French maid and other niceties’. A fortune, he said, that would have seen me into my fifties. And Harry was right: back then $600,000 certainly was a lot of money.

But I didn’t see myself in commercials. I saw myself as a journalist. And while there’d been a time when I had some interest in seeking out Harry’s professional expertise, something had kept holding me back. Perhaps it was that I felt burdened by the knowledge that a large part of any success I might have, at least according to Harry, was hanging on my appearance.

While my teeth were apparently OK, if I dropped a couple of kilos, he told me, who knew where the slimmer me might land?

It was the same old story that kept haunting me. My size, clothes and hair mattered, and even though I appreciated I was in a visual medium, it was exhausting.

Worse, all this talk of being thinner just made me bloody hungry.

And then, at Sam Chisholm’s request, I agreed to be part of a pitch by John Singleton’s agency for the Australian Women’s Weekly advertising account. It required me to participate in a video shoot at Singleton’s home. He wasn’t there, but his dog was, and everyone knew the dog ruled. The hound in his life was a handsome Rhodesian ridgeback named Thug. And Thug, we were instructed, was not to be disturbed or perturbed. And so he wasn’t.

I hadn’t been directly consulted about this pitch, nor did I ask too many questions. But I was assured the video I was making, that took hours, was not for public consumption. By the time we packed up, it had been a very long day and I was tired. And admittedly I had zero investment in whether or not Singleton’s agency was successful.

I later found out it was not. And when I realised it might have meant replacing Maggie Tabberer, one of the most admired women in Australia at the time, it was a decision that was obviously right.

* * *

In my new single life, I moved into a city apartment and loved the sounds and the sights, not to mention the 10 minutes it took to drive to work. I also enjoyed being able to walk into the centre of chaos and then shut it out when I closed the door behind me. It gave me the balance I needed.

But in all the noise, I had strong anchors. My family and some very special friends, all of whom have at one time or another been essential to my happiness and wellbeing.

Julie was a producer on Today, and when we met we’d clicked almost immediately. We would later live together and share many great experiences. Her highs and lows were different from mine, but were equally felt. We could be so unalike and yet so much the same. But I never had reason to doubt her loyalty. She was entirely trustworthy and always had my back.

Mum and Dad, in particular, were good at reminding me of who I was, and the things that mattered, as were my eclectic band of brothers, Chris, Greg, Terry and Phillip.

During my time at Today, Phillip started attending a Sydney boarding school and before long became my constant companion. I’d been looking out for my baby brother ever since he was a toddler and I used to drive him around in the family Kingswood. The 15 years between us made for interesting times as I became his stand-in parent. I attended school events, parent–teacher nights and cricket matches, and on the weekends he, and occasionally some of his boarding-school mates, would stay with me.

The responsibility of looking after teenage boys was terrifying. When I pulled up at the school on a Friday afternoon, they’d all pile into my car, displaying more than a hint of the chaos to come. My days were short and my nights long as these cooped-up country boys threw off their uniforms and galloped out the apartment door, promising me they’d be back before midnight. I’d sit up and wait and peer over the balcony, hoping to hear laughter in the street below that would signal their return. Rarely did they let me down, and come Sunday I’d return them, with bellies full of pizza and good manners, back to their dorms.

* * *

I also shared my apartment for a time with Richard Wilkins.

Richard was working at Nine, hosting MTV. We’d found ourselves in a limousine together on the way to a charity event. I didn’t know much about Richard, but we had a good hour to talk before reaching our destination.

He’d told me he had parted from Lynette, his wife at the time, and that he was looking for a new place to stay. If he got stuck, I said, I would be happy to help him out. I had a spare bedroom and bathroom.

When Richard moved in it was the beginning of a lifelong friendship, and despite some media speculation, it was a relationship that never involved romance.

Richard came with his own style and personality. After he arrived, paintings went up on the wall, pot plants found a place in the corner and his violin took centre stage. He was warm and witty and exceedingly generous, as were his rather impressive home-making skills.

And to my delight, he filled his bathroom with all manner of creative hair concoctions. My blonde mane, and his, had never looked so magnificent. We had a fabulous and very funny time.

Richard was ambitious and extraordinarily hard-working. Having trained as a classical violinist and been the lead singer of his own successful band in his native New Zealand, Richard was right at home interviewing singers, song writers and stage performers of any kind. And when he eventually made it to Today, he was the perfect entertainment reporter.

Sitting beside him on set felt no different from lounging about with him at home. Together in television land, we traipsed over similar terrain. We would discuss what to make of those metaphorical mountains, and how best to conquer them.

His favourite and most challenging job, though, was as a father. His children were always his priority. They were a joyful addition to our apartment, along with my brother Phillip, his mates and the many family members and friends who visited.

Our personal lives kept us both entertained. I think my private world kept Richard mostly amused and his just kept me eternally intrigued. We maintained separate telephone lines to make things easy.

There was one moment, though, when we were both flummoxed.

An international star had landed in Sydney and arrived at our apartment to stay with me. I hadn’t told Richard, because he was supposed to be away for a few weeks and my friendly star was keen to keep his stay confidential. Ideal timing, I’d thought, as I made plans while checking the calendar.

Julie, the only other person who knew of the impending celebrity visit, collected our man from the airport. The eagle has landed, she reported in to a messenger as I sat on the Today set quizzing Federal Shadow Treasurer Peter Reith about the cost of milk.

All was in place, I thought, for a few days getting to know my guest away from the glare of paparazzi. While I continued to work in the mornings, he would look around the city, in disguise.

And for a while it worked well. But when Richard suddenly turned up, the secret went south.

Early in the morning I received two telephone messages. The first from Richard, who’d changed his plans and come home early, calling from the phone in his bedroom: ‘There’s someone in your room and I don’t know who it is!’

And at about the same time, from the now startled international star, whispering urgently into my phone and locked in my bedroom: ‘Someone has just come into the apartment!’

I phoned them both back in a commercial break.

ME TO RICHARD: What are you doing back?

RICHARD TO ME: Who’s in there?

ME: I can’t tell you.

RICHARD: What! Why not?

ME: It’s someone who is not ready for guests.

RICHARD: What?

ME: Well, he doesn’t want anyone to know he’s here.

RICHARD: Who?

ME TO INTERNATIONAL STAR: His name is Richard, he’s my flatmate.

INTERNATIONAL STAR: What?

ME: I’m sorry, he wasn’t supposed to be back so soon.

INTERNATIONAL STAR: I can’t stay in your room all day.

ME: I think you’ll like Richard.

ME TO RICHARD: Look, I’ve told him not to worry, that you’re my flatmate, and maybe he’ll come out and say hello.

RICHARD: Well, I’m here for a while.

ME: How long?

RICHARD: I don’t know, a few hours.

ME TO INTERNATIONAL STAR: Richard is a really nice guy.

ME TO RICHARD: I’ve told him you’re a nice bloke.

It could well have been a scene from a television comedy. And totally out of my hands.

The outcome didn’t surprise me. The international star slowly emerged into the safe and neutral space of the lounge room, and Richard was, as he always is, an understanding and friendly face. He stayed for a couple of days then set out again, and the international star settled in for a few more days of antipodean life.

The friendship between Richard and the star far outlasted that between the star and me.

So many stories. So many memories. All of them good. And the warm friendship Richard and I had back then continues today. We both work hard and wonder about the future. We still marvel at our long careers in this business, careers that in the beginning we hadn’t dared believe possible.

* * *

In the time I was at Today, Nine’s fortunes rose, then fell when its owner Kerry Packer did what many thought he would never do and sold up.

In 1987 Perth tycoon Alan Bond became our new boss. A former sign writer whose entrepreneurial wheeling and dealing made him for a time Australia’s richest man, and who was known to us all as the backer of Australia’s magnificent win in the America’s Cup. He became a sporting hero, and obviously had a few bob, because he apparently handed over a billion dollars to Packer so we could become his. We later learned that around the same time he’d spent a record-breaking $54 million on Vincent van Gogh’s highly prized painting Irises.

The west came to the east, and the money flowed. Marble arrived on the floors as new renovations were carried out at the Willoughby headquarters, including a glass elevator at the entrance. Signs that Channel Nine was spending up big. With shoes off, we celebrated Christmas on the highly polished deck of Bond’s impressive boat on Sydney Harbour, and CEO Sam Chisholm was the beneficiary of a Harley-Davidson motorbike for his birthday, winched up to the top-floor boardroom for the occasion.

I saw very little of Alan Bond during that time, but I enjoyed the parties. Like all things in television, I wondered how long it would last.

* * *

My personal life still needed sorting, but my work life on Today was steady and kept me focused.

My strong ally was Supervising Producer Anita Jacoby. She revelled in live television and knew Today needed some fun amidst the seriousness. The show benefited from her commercial eye, and along with covering the news of the day, politics and international stories, Anita kept us laughing and George cooking, a segment he probably never imagined doing but one he loved.

Every morning Anita would set a new land-speed record driving from her home on the Northern Beaches to the Willoughby studio. She was a lead foot who never arrived in a bad mood, although the police interventions on the odd occasion didn’t make her particularly happy.

Under her command the show began travelling the world and everywhere else in between. She had me hosting Today from a floating hotel off the Queensland coast and falling into the sea in goggles and a snorkel, and only bad weather interrupted her grand plan to hoist me up in a hot air balloon to broadcast while riding the trade winds across the continent. Within the blink of an eye, Anita stuck George and me on a jet to the UK to have us host Today from the Wimbledon tennis championships, and later from the US Open in Flushing Meadows, New York.

It was all pretty extraordinary stuff back in the pre-digital age. Anita’s energy and ideas were boundless, as was her love of television.

I never understood why she wasn’t elevated to executive producer when the opportunity arose, which did happen a few times during my 10 years on the show. Ultimately Anita moved on to cut her own impressive swathe through the media forest, and we’d work together again down the track.

* * *

Meanwhile, George Negus I think was keeping an eye on me, and for a period thought I could benefit from his wisdom and insight. Of course he was right, particularly when it came to politics. In that arena, George was the master.

But there was one incident that would turn the tide, at least for me.

In early 1988, producers at 60 Minutes Australia, Nine’s gold-plated news magazine programme, embarked on a story that would see us all collide. They decided it was time to expose just how gullible the media can be when it comes to charlatans, and the dangers presented when such pretenders are unleashed on a trusting public without proper probity.

To prove their point, 60 Minutes set up a story using a make-believe spirit called Carlos. Fake Carlos was shopped around to news outlets in fake media releases, offering him up for interviews on the basis that contrived Carlos was coming to Australia to speak to his followers at the Opera House. A number of programmes took the bait, including Today.

I was at home on the Sunday when the briefs for the next day’s show were sent. The rundown stated I was to interview this bloke who channelled Carlos.

I spoke to the Today executive producer at the time, Ian ‘Lumpy’ Caroll, who assured me it was really just a bit of fun. He also told me that we were being encouraged to include Carlos in the show by a Nine executive. I formed the view that Lumpy wasn’t much interested in the Carlos story, but – having been prompted, it appeared – he’d decided it wouldn’t do much harm.

The interview I did was not necessarily ground-breaking, but I was certainly a sceptic and Carlos, as was doubtless the plan, terminated the interview. But after some media interest the Carlos story took flight, and after the show the decision was made to bring Carlos back. Apparently, again with encouragement from a Nine executive, George decided he’d give Carlos a proper going-over, which I interpreted as meaning he thought I hadn’t done a decent job.

So, Carlos returned to argue with George and then, as planned, throw water over my co-host as he and his ‘manager’ walked out. I felt annoyed enough to declare on air – somewhat to George’s surprise – that I didn’t think we should keep giving this hocus pocus exposure.

It was a gift to our friends at 60 Minutes: Today and George the hard-hitting interrogator, giving their fake Carlos more publicity, helping to draw unwitting crowds to see the charlatan when he appeared at the Opera House.

Shame on us for not doing our jobs properly, was the message from 60 Minutes. We should have at least checked to see if Carlos even existed in America, as his press release stated.

It didn’t end well. The story outed those of us who’d fallen for the confected Carlos as lesser and lazy journalists. And it would have been fair enough, if it weren’t for the fact that, in my opinion, we’d been lassoed into Carlos the pretender by people supposedly on our own side. A big television moment had been needed for the 60 Minutes story, to help advertise their faker and prove their point.

In the boardroom at Channel Nine some days later, the fallout was palpable. Sam Chisholm called an urgent meeting. It included George and me and our team from Today, Gerald Stone, the Executive Producer of 60 Minutes, along with the producers of the Carlos story, and Peter Meakin, the Director of News and Current Affairs. A room full of colleagues, some of whom were feeling extremely disappointed, pissed off and unfairly set up.

But it was hard to tell where Chisholm would land. Were we all to be berated, some of us fired, perhaps?

We didn’t have to wait long to find out.

Chisholm looked each of us in the eye, then declared this had not been our finest hour. Especially not 60 Minutes, the self-appointed judge, jury and executioner. My take-away was that Chisholm saw Nine’s current-affairs flagship as having got above its station on this occasion.

It was quite a moment. For George and me as well. George was the former 60 Minutes star roped in by his former programme, only to learn that he’d also been duped.

I think he realised that maybe I’d had a point: we shouldn’t have given good old Carlos the Unbelievable any more air time. Although, George made the point that he’d called Carlos out as fake from the very beginning.

* * *

After a long week on Today, I’d often take time for a bit of a blowout on Friday afternoons, when my dearest newsroom friend John Mangos and I would regularly attend some pretty impressive lunch gatherings. I’m not sure how they even got started or why we were invited, but it wasn’t long before they became a regular event.

The women present and in charge included some potent public-relations powerhouses – Deeta Colvin, Patti Mostyn and the highly connected Glen-Marie Frost. The men would sometimes include artists John Olsen and Tim Storrier, and a range of interesting businessmen. It was the perfect antidote to a week of social solitude and I was frequently guilty of stringing out lunch to the evening.

One unexpected lunch guest in 1989 was John Singleton. I remembered him from my days at Channel Ten, and later from my rather awkward first meeting with Kerry Packer. And I had even been to his house when he wasn’t there, to shoot the video for his Women’s Weekly pitch. But we’d never actually spoken. From his ocker image I thought he’d be more of a pub man, but here we were, sitting near each other at a long lunch table, and both of us sober.

He was polite, full of entertaining conversation and extremely charming. Still, I wasn’t sure what to make of him.

By the end of the day I knew he liked me but I wasn’t confident he was the man for me.

I should have remembered he was the guru of advertising. His job was to make people buy things, goods they might not even need, or want. This was a man who was capable of selling tyres to someone who didn’t have a car.

To woo me, he had a number of his friends leave messages on my home phone, telling me what a great bloke he was, and that I should give him a go. I wish I’d kept them. Some of them were just hysterical.

And when we did start dating he bought a selection of designer clothes to encourage me to stay at his place. The designer tracksuit he’d picked out was a firm favourite.

Clothes, however, could cover up only so many things.
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Food and Money

By the time I’d come to television, my pay was much the same as that of my newspaper colleagues. And it didn’t change until I got into the business of negotiating my own contracts on Today.

Discussing matters of money has never been comfortable for me. I don’t work to get the most money, I work because I truly love the job.

But part of being taken seriously is to argue your worth. Not to stand up can contribute to the judgment and form part of the impression of you in this business.

I certainly didn’t want to be seen as a pushover. But I was beginning to believe I was considered an easy touch. Someone who had trouble saying no.

In television it’s difficult knowing what is a fair and reasonable pay packet. I had no real knowledge of what others were being paid. But after four years as the co-host of Today,  I asked Sam Chisholm for a pay rise. It was, I knew, a daring move.

Over the years I’d spent at Nine, my experience with Sam had been mercurial. He could be extraordinarily generous and unbelievably caring, and then terribly demeaning. I often felt tested and even confronted by his words. But in all our battles – and there were many – I’d come away having learned something new about Sam, and maybe he about me. I grew tougher and more resilient. I began to stand my ground.

But when I asked for more pay, Sam simply laughed. ‘Hayes,’ he said, ‘you’re paid very well.’

‘I am, but compared with co-hosts I’ve worked with, I’m not,’ I replied.

‘What do you expect me to pay you?’ he asked. I could see he was enjoying this. He was settling in for what he loved most: a verbal arm-wrestle.

I named my price. He laughed again. There was no way he was going to lift my pay to the level of those with more experience. But I figured that should not stop me from stating my case.

‘Why am I not entitled to be paid equally?’ I asked baldly.

‘Because you’re not, Hayes.’

‘Why not?’

‘To begin with, you don’t have the same level of experience.’

‘But I think I’m an equal partner. I bring equal appeal to the screen.’

The jostling continued. Sam revelled in his many put-downs; for my every serve there was a thundering backhander.

But I’d come prepared for the bruising. I hung in there, and when it was over, while I hadn’t been aced, I certainly could have done with an after-match drink.

Negotiating is not for the timid. And in the years to come I would have to do a fair bit of it. Wheeling and dealing over pay and conditions would be pretty much up to me, and I’d get a good insight into the tactics most frequently used.

The starting point was often to try to make me feel grateful even to have a job. There had been a long tradition of reminding workers of the queue of people snaking all the way back to the local pub, just waiting to take your place. And actually, there probably was one.

Over the years the many executives with whom I’d have to sit down with and talk turkey would be a mixed bag. Some would be nasty, others kind. One newcomer professed surprise, and then added to mine, by telling me how little he thought I was being paid. One would become emotional when negotiations found us both in deep personal discussions; another would do his sums on a piece of paper. The bullies, and there were a couple, were in my opinion, just insecure.

It took me some time to stand my ground, but when I did, I was glad I did.

And in the end, my wrestling match in 1989 paid off. After my daring attempt at equal pay, Sam Chisholm raised my salary – and then left the job. Rupert Murdoch had come calling, offering Chisholm a handsome pay packet to sort out Sky TV in London.

And it was probably for the best, because Kerry Packer was back and didn’t much like what he was seeing, including the new marble tiles on the executive floors.

In 1990, three years after pocketing close to a billion dollars, he’d bought Nine back from Alan Bond for a fraction of the price, saying infamously: ‘You only get one Alan Bond in your lifetime, and I’ve had mine.’ For Bond, the widening gap that brought his time with Nine to an end had everything to do with his bank balance. He went bankrupt, and in a spectacular fall from grace also found himself in gaol. For those of us looking on, it was hard to believe the man in the cuffs had once ruled the roost.

Having pulled off an extraordinary deal, the Kerry Packer who returned had a somewhat different hue. He seemed to believe there’d been too many undisciplined parties at his place while he was gone, excesses he apparently didn’t like. And I was quickly to find out he was none too pleased with the pay rise I’d negotiated for myself with the now-departed Sam Chisholm.

I got to spend time with Kerry Packer when I was with John Singleton. They were good mates and socially he was inclusive and, surprisingly, on a few occasions our conversations strayed into personal territory.

Kerry had a deep interest in television. It wasn’t just a business for him, it was a passion. He was an owner who was invested in more than just the dollars and cents. He was an avid viewer of television programmes wherever he was in the world and he seemed prepared to take risks with content, and hung in there even when at first audiences didn’t seem to share his beliefs.

When John and I were in his company I had a chance to hear and observe some of his personal frustrations. Weight was one of them. He was battling the bulge, and had done for a while.

But my relationship with Kerry was still slightly awkward, because he was also my boss.

In 1990, John and I met him in his expensive hotel suite in London. Kerry didn’t miss much, and he gave me a most curious task. While eyeing a trolley laden with delectable pastries and sweets, he asked me to obtain the details of a diet recently featured on Today.

I was on holidays, I had no idea what the diet was, and work was the last thing on my mind. But now I had to make it my business to find out.

It was a weird call to make. The producer I spoke to reacted as I probably would have: as if she thought it was some kind of joke. But I convinced her otherwise, and slipped the diet details into an envelope and sent them to Kerry. I’m not sure it quite did the job, but it was never mentioned after that.

But, like all bad food, it would come up again.

Years later on Today, we interviewed Jenny Craig’s winning weight watcher of the year. It was a story we had promoted earlier in the programme and it had caught the eye of ‘KP’, who sat waiting to watch it in his Park Street office in the city.

The interview was short and near the end of the show. But within seconds of farewelling our viewers, at 9am, Packer was on the phone to our executive producer Steve Wood. Woodie, an incredibly affable man with a real love of morning television, was someone I found pretty sanguine and rather hard to upset. But Kerry managed to.

Woodie dared to disagree with the boss’s poor view of the interview, and Kerry’s belief that there should have been more questions on what the award-winning dieter had eaten and, more importantly, had not eaten. For his sins, Woodie was hauled into Packer’s city office and waited two hours to learn he was ‘a fuckwit’, and now a fired fuckwit.

Woodie later said, ‘Packer hit the buzzer under his desk and said to his secretary, Pat Wheatley, who came running, “Mr Wood wants to pick up his pay on the way out.”

‘Pat said, “You can’t do that” and Packer said “Just do as I said.”’

In an awkward departure, Woodie found himself sharing the elevator with Packer as they both headed back to Nine’s Willoughby studios.

To most, Kerry Packer’s explosion seemed somewhat out of proportion, but having shared his hotel trolley of sweets and regretted it later, I instinctively knew why we were all feeling bilious. Kerry’s reaction was coming from a very personal place.

Apart from his temper that day, the one thing Kerry Packer couldn’t seem to control was his weight. But he could control those around him. And so he did.

As the morning was falling apart, Steve Liebmann, who was back as co-host, received a call from Nine’s new CEO, David Leckie, to come quickly. As Steve told me later, ‘When I walk up to the third floor, Leckie is standing behind a pot plant. And he says to me, “Packer has fired Woodie. You’ve got to go in there and talk him round.”’

Steve continued, ‘And I think, “What am I going to say?” But anyway, I go in and see Packer, and I tell him Woodie is a very good executive producer and that we need him at Today.’

As Steve was saving our show and Woodie, I was swimming laps in Willoughby pool, just two minutes down the road from the office. While I was towelling down, John Singleton rang and asked me where I was. He’d heard that Packer had melted down over an issue with the programme.

‘I’d better get back there,’ I said.

‘Don’t,’ he warned. His thinking was that Packer might not appreciate it. And he was probably right.

And as it turned out, there was no need. Steve Liebmann was perfectly equipped to deal with the dilemma. And James Packer, the boss’s son, who as it happened was on work experience at Today, apparently added his support.

Woodie was reinstated and we all got on with the job, but it was a day he’d never forget.

As Woodie said, ‘I later spent an hour with Packer at Nine and we talked about what he liked and didn’t like on television. On the way out, Packer puts his arm around my shoulder and says, “If I ring the control room I’m hot, so I just want you to agree with whatever I say.”’

Woodie, he said, should wait 12 hours before ringing back, but warned if Woodie’s facts weren’t right, ‘I’ll still nail your arse to the wall.’ It was a lesson for us all and one I’d take note of.

Sometime after, Kerry Packer actually told me he’d observed I’d whacked on a couple of kilos. It was framed in the context that now I’d settled down with John Singleton, I seemed to have moved into contentment mode, and I read that to mean, I’d let myself go.

A bit rich, I thought, coming from the rich bloke. But here I was in the business of television, a job that required people to look at me. And it seemed I couldn’t avoid being constantly reminded of that.

A number of years later, a colleague and I would be forced to confront the body-size commentary yet again. It was said to us that someone was going to be sacked for being ‘too fat’.

We bowled up and asked the relevant executive about the statement. They didn’t deny it. In fact, they agreed they’d said those words and admitted they probably shouldn’t have.

My colleague and I then went to CEO David Leckie.

I didn’t think he much liked this united front of ours. He was taken aback, irritated even. ‘No one is going to be sacked because they’re too fat,’ he declared, seemingly annoyed that he had to say it. And he remained true to his word.

* * *

Sometime after the great Carlos hoax, George and I found our groove.

During our time together on Today, we covered some of the great history-making events of the late 1980s. The Berlin Wall between East and West Germany came down, signalling the end of the Cold War; the Exxon Valdez supertanker ran aground, spilling more than 240,000 barrels of crude oil into Alaska’s Prince William Sound and killing hundreds of thousands of marine species; and protests by 100,000 Chinese students demanding democratic reforms in Beijing’s Tiananmen Square were crushed by a violent military intervention. After years of roaming the globe reporting on big stories, it was not easy for George to stay seated, but he did ensure that Today didn’t miss any of the important international events.

George always referred to himself as a feminist and had no problem bringing Ned, his newborn son, to the office. Ned would be sleeping on the couch in our shared office as George tapped away on his typewriter. And he’d remonstrate with John Westacott, a former executive producer of Today, whenever he referred to viewers as ‘string bags’.

‘Could you at least use the word bilum?’ George would protest.

Today was a tough gig for George, who, like me, found the early hours exhausting and an impediment to a good social life. And I’m sure the ratings weren’t what he was used to. But by the time he left in 1990, I think George had come to appreciate that breakfast television is not a solo event. We had found common ground and fallen into step.

Whenever we met up, George and I would remember our days fondly. The George years were unique, and Today was all the better for them.

* * *

With the seat beside me vacant again, to my great surprise, in came Steve Liebmann. I think he missed us. Perhaps wishful thinking, but I hoped so.

I felt grateful for our old familiarity. He was the consummate professional, and I loved having him next to me again. Even better, this time I felt far more experienced, and in a more confident phase of my career.

But as we turned on the ignition and put our feet on the accelerator, I realised there was something that had changed. For some unstated reason, I found the usual pattern of taking turns and sharing the top stories no longer applied. It meant, to me, the message that we were partners, equal on the grid, was gone.

My inquiries went unanswered and my quiet protests failed to achieve any results, so I knew a battle was brewing. My choices, however, were limited, given no one wanted to deal with the situation.

I needed to get my point across to the person most likely to help me bring about change. In my assessment, alas, that was going to have to be Liebo.

So one morning I did the unthinkable.

I turned into an ice cube.

I didn’t feel bad; I felt angry. I was polite but not effusive, and for anyone watching there would have been no doubting that something was amiss. That Liz was not herself.

We both knew that this team of two was never going to work if one of us was unhappy. The sharing of top stories returned and it was transmission as usual.

I felt disappointed that I’d had to take a stand, just as I’d had to do over my pay with Sam Chisholm. To my mind, I’d spent too much time in the past being a pleaser, and now I could see there was little point.

* * *

Liebo and I developed a strong on-air relationship. To our viewers, we definitely had cohesion. We were tight, maybe a little too tight – or at least that seemed to be the opinion of one particular viewing household.

A few years later Today was on the road in Tasmania. As was our habit, after finishing one show, Liebo and I drove off together to our next destination: this time a local farm. Within an hour, we saw the road that would lead us to the property and its very genial host.

‘Let me take you to your room,’ she said, greeting us warmly. She led us down a hallway and opened the door to a large room with a beautiful big window, through which lots of sunshine was streaming in. There were two beds: a queen and a single.

‘Gosh, that’s lovely,’ I think I said.

‘The queen is for you and Steve,’ our host declared, ‘and the single is for Monte!’ Monte, our weatherman, was still to arrive.

Steve and I did a double-take. It was, it seemed, the belief that Steve and I would share the same linen.

We stared at each other blankly. Do we burst our sweet host’s bubble – or worse, deeply embarrass her? Or do we just say nothing?

We smiled and said nothing. When she’d left, we imagined what we might do if there were no other choice.

‘You and Monte in the queen bed,’ I suggested.

‘Not funny,’ said Liebo.

It’s not like these things don’t happen. It’s all part of the job. But for my impeccably mannered co-host on this day, it was a step too far.

Fortunately we did find an alternative elsewhere: a room and bathroom each. We even got our own lounge room, with a sliding door that separated us from our hosts.

After I took a shower and slipped into something more comfortable, Liebo and I took up our lounging positions to watch the evening news – just as our hosts slid back the door dividing the room to wave to us. And then watched us watching the TV.
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Son of Thug

My professional life was humming along, but life at home, which I was now sharing with John Singleton, was hitting some bum notes.

In due course it became clear there was one not inconsiderable impediment to our happy relationship.

By now the dog in John’s life was another Rhodesian ridgeback, Sonna, who happened to be the son of Thug. ‘Sonna’ Thug wasn’t really a fan of mine. I might have fed him and regularly taken him for walks around the nearest park, but I was not his favourite.

And Sonna knew I had drawn a line. He was no longer allowed to sleep on the bed or anywhere in the bedroom.

I was, this dog knew, a large and challenging barrier that had come between a devoted canine and his dog-loving owner. All because of me, he was not allowed to snuggle up to his mate. And no self-respecting pedigree pooch was ever going to let that happen. Sonna, I knew, was considering his options.

When John was there, all was good. When he wasn’t, things were not so cheesy. In the mornings I’d find Sonna lying across the doorway of the bedroom, an immovable beast. To leave the room I had to step over him, and as I did I’d hear a small but definite mutter. He never bit me, or even attempted to, but still I got the feeling this dog was planning my demise.

One unmistakable sign of his discontent was the sad and sorry state of my shoes, which he’d gnaw and dump in a corner. He’d then bite the heels of every one of them down to the bone.

It’s possible that if I’d allowed Son of Thug back in under the doona, the three of us could have been happy. But really, there was only ever going to be one master, and it wasn’t me.

Understanding my place in the Singleton abode ultimately proved to be a tricky business – especially after I realised Son of Thug was not the only one trying to get into the sack.

It was time to go, and amongst the detritus, I found a note left for me on the kitchen table that sealed the deal. Take Beth Ryan out for a run, it said.

Julie, my near and dear friend, always knows what needs to be said before I do. She speaks her mind and then hands me a glass of Chardonnay and block of chocolate to help make the sting go away.

I remember her telling me once that she didn’t much like some of the people I’d considered to be friends. And in time, she proved to be right.

So, come this new personal plummet, she was there. She declared that I needed to give myself a break, stop beating myself up over bad decisions and relationships. And I needed to laugh.

The perfect solution was indeed to get away. To take Beth Ryan out for a run.

We booked tickets to London and Paris, and off we went. This was going to be, we declared, the ‘let it rip’ trip.

After a couple of hell-raising days in London we headed to Paris. There are many ways to experience the City of Love, and on this trip we started at the top.

After landing at Charles de Gaulle Airport and surviving the hectic hour-long drive into Paris, our hotel on luxurious Avenue George V was a welcome sight.

But the welcome fell flat when we walked through the front doors.

‘Unfortunately, we don’t ’av your room,’ our receptionist advised us in his best French.

Besotted as we were by his fabulous accent, it was not what we needed to hear. And despite our very poor grasp of the local lingo, there was no mistaking our reply.

It was not possible. We had booked. We had the paperwork to prove it. Besides, here we were, a couple of Aussie girls ready to rip on our very big French trip. We would not be moved.

Our receptionist looked down at his check-in list again and back at us. He said he would see what he could do, and disappeared into a back room.

When he returned, he declared: ‘Aye ’av somethings’ . . .  or at least, that was what we thought he said. And with that he handed us a key.

As much as I wanted to ask, ‘A key to what?’, I knew something was better than nothing. So we shoved our bags into the cramped elevator and tried to enjoy the slow ride to somewhere.

We fell out at the top level and went looking for our room. Some doors along the corridor didn’t even have numbers. But finally we found one that our key would unlock. It opened to darkness, until we turned on the light.

It was the penthouse. A multi-room apartment with a wraparound balcony. French doors and a bath to swim in.

To a couple of young Aussie girls, Paris had never looked so good.

Our days of joy turned into nights of excitement. From Paris we travelled south and found ourselves a chateau. The comte was an Aussie and, with his friends, we travelled down country roads, across creeks and through valleys, past paddocks of yellow flowering pastures, to vineyards and restaurants. It was a magical time.

We’d laughed and lunched and lolled around. We’d made new friends and found an unexpected freedom.

It was the trip that I’d desperately needed.

And with one last night in Paris, we really let rip. We dressed in our best and headed out. A recommended restaurant gave us an extraordinary view of the Eiffel Tower.

And then, a surprise. A newfound friend had come to say goodbye. But he had one request: to take us on a fast and furious Paris-by-night ride on his motorbike.

Teetering in heels and wearing my navy Chanel suit, I clung on for dear life as we zigzagged our way through the city. I had indeed taken Beth Ryan out for a very fast run.

* * *

Perhaps it was my French afterglow, but on my return John would come calling again. This time, we would marry. But the hitch with getting hitched was that it had to be a secret. And even though I understood his reasoning, it didn’t sit well with me. Ultimately, I bade Sonna and John farewell.

For a long time I’d had to tread a delicate line with Kerry Packer. I always believed I knew where his allegiances lay. I might have been married to John Singleton, yet to Kerry, I would always be an employee.

But when John and I parted, I was in for a surprise.

Kerry asked me to come into his office and I wasn’t sure why. It turned out he wanted to talk about the marriage that had ended when it had barely begun.

KP asked what he could do to help restore the relationship. He was incredibly kind and it was clear his relationship with John was one he valued.

When I seemed upset, he stood up, walked into another room and returned with a perfectly pressed white handkerchief.

Over the years, at his request, we had dinner together, usually at one of his favourite Italian restaurants. He was never inappropriate and always good company. Yet, I was never sure what he made of me. 

* * *

The relationships between mates were interesting to watch in the alpha male world I’d been inhabiting. Since deciding not to join Bob Hawke at the Taree RSL all those years ago I‘d been seeing him everywhere. He’d become prime minister and was omnipresent.

And while I was with John Singleton, who’d created the advertising campaign for Hawke’s 1983 election, I’d come into his world. He was often with his wife, Hazel, and now sober. He’d given up drinking while in the top job and had maintained his sharp wit and gregarious personality.

John and Bob seemed to be very good friends. Men who understood and respected each other and had a shared love of horse racing.

When Hawke’s prime ministership came to an end in December 1991, after a second leadership challenge from Treasurer Paul Keating, he and Hazel needed to exit The Lodge. Singleton offered our Birchgrove home. The timing was fortuitous. I’d already moved out.

It was a strange circle that became even stranger.

Sometime later, I got a call from Bob. He asked if I’d like to take a trip with him to the Gold Coast on a private jet.

I was a bit shocked. It was an extraordinary question from someone whom my former husband considered a very good mate. There’d never been a hint of interest from him before. I wondered why he thought it was appropriate to ask me.

I politely declined his invitation, but he rang again to check I hadn’t changed my mind.

This time I knew I had to make it clear that this was not an invitation I would ever accept.

* * *

When I retreated from my second marriage, it was to the home of Lisa Wilkinson.

Lisa was editing Cleo, one of Kerry Packer’s magazines, and when we first met she’d been dating a close friend. We’d got along immediately, and she’d very generously offered me a bed knowing I just might need one.

So when the time came, I took her up on her offer. It was wonderful having someone who I could talk to and share what I was fast seeing as some embarrassing personal failings. My marriage had been short-lived, but it still didn’t feel good to be in this position again. I knew she too was in the recovery position from a broken relationship.

Peter FitzSimons was also on my radar. A former rugby player with an excellent ability to tell a story, he’d been making regular appearances on Today. We got along very well and he’d invited me to his home a few times for dinner parties.

On one particular night, knowing Lisa could do with a great distraction, I thought of Peter. He was someone I considered very decent and good company. So I mentioned Lisa to him.

I’d been to Peter’s place for dinner and returned to find Lisa asleep. I left a note under her door, saying I thought they should meet.

I should have called the fire brigade, because the romance between Lisa and Peter took off like a bushfire.

Within three months they were engaged, and six months after that, in September 1992, Australian rugby union captain Nick Farr-Jones and I were standing at the altar with the bridal couple as best man and bridesmaid. Actually, given I’d been married, I think I was the matron of honour.

It was a very traditional wedding in a church in Sydney’s northern suburbs, where Peter had spent his childhood. The bride was running very late, something I came to understand was pretty normal for Lisa. But even I was beginning to worry that Peter would think we’d given this wedding a miss.

All was forgiven as we walked down the aisle.

I didn’t have a headache the next day, but I did have sore arms. Lisa’s bouquet, which I was required to hold while she and Peter exchanged long and loving vows, weighed a tonne! I had deep fears that if the flowers hit the floor, I might drop with them.
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The Hum of Working-class Happiness

As I was having a fine time making my way around the world, back in the very rural Manning district, my own family were also spreading their wings.

The island farm had long been sold, and Mum and Dad had set up house in a little community not far from the main town of Taree. The farm had been in Dad’s family for decades; Oxley Island had been the perfect place from which the early boat-building Ryans could launch their first vessels. But later that business moved further up the river, and the farm was left to Dad to run.

I can’t say that it was his passion. Sailing was, but not cows. So when it came time to move on, he and Mum packed us up and quite happily moved closer to town.

On a classic quarter-acre block, their chosen new home was very pink and, as part of the sale, came with a rather grey cat called Smokey. The former owner had insisted the moggie maintain his residence. And so he did.

Mum and Dad’s neighbours were much closer physically than they were used to, but in due course their presence would be very much welcomed, and they would form the core of lifelong friendships for my parents in their small but blossoming village. Sitting in a cul-de-sac, my parents’ modest abode was nestled between the homes of Greg and Margaret on one side and Les and Margaret on the other. Two Margarets. What were the chances?

This would be the beginning of a formidable triumvirate. An impenetrable coalition of the willing in what, even to me, appeared to be some very colourful country-town hijinks.

They loved impromptu dinner parties and barbecues and large Christmas gatherings under a big backyard tent. There were Australia Day celebrations, and regular picnic cricket matches in the park nearby.

Any excuse, it seemed to me, to bring out the platters of Jatz crackers and cheddar cheese, Greg’s abundant sausages and Patty’s latest jelly slice, all washed down with a very chilled home brew. The latter was an impressive product of their combined – and for a while, it appeared to me, undercover – alcoholic concoctions.

My parents and their friends were almost having too much fun.

During the week, Greg worked at the local butcher shop. But come the weekend, he and Dad were very much a dynamic duo, seemingly glued at the hip. They’d wrangled a local bookie, someone known to be a bit of a ‘colourful character’ for their Saturday-afternoon punting on the horses. They’d already spent the previous days trawling through the racing guide, researching the jockeys and trainers. ‘Little Corey will never let you down,’ I heard said more than once about a favoured jockey. They loved the betting and they loved riding home their winners.

With their betting selections sorted, a hush would fall. The normally gregarious and loudly enthusiastic Greg would all but tiptoe down the hallway to pick up the phone and dial their bookie.

Using his inside voice, Greg would clearly and carefully enunciate a lot of numbers. ‘We’ll have TWO bucks each way on number TWELVE in the FIRST . . . and a dollar on the nose.’ Or something like that.

The betting budget never strayed out of double digits. And on a good day, the winnings occasionally returned a triple number. But it was all about the joy of backing a winner. And with every race, they became virtual jockeys, standing high in their sunroom saddles, loudly willing their mounts a place among the first three past the post.

Backslaps in victory, a top-up of home brew in defeat. It appeared that, win or lose, Greg and Dad were really always winners.

Mum went about her domestic chores. Hanging out the washing. Cooking scones or cakes, perhaps another sponge with cream and jam filling, maybe even the red jelly slice.

Back then it was a scene, I suspect, not unfamiliar in many homes.

The ordinariness of Australians. The hum of working-class happiness. Families whose needs and desires were little more than what I witnessed when I went back home. Fun in the sunroom. Lounging on the lounge. Making do with what you had and could afford.

They didn’t covet others’ lives, because they were having too good a time enjoying their own.

I always believed that if Mum and Dad won the lottery, they’d never move. Maybe buy a new car. Help the kids. A few extra bucks on the plate at Sunday mass. But happiness was already theirs.

They were kings and queens in their domestic castle. Everything they wanted was here.

And if things got dull, they certainly knew how to create a little excitement.

Greg, Les and Dad had decided quite early on in their gatherings that they’d turn their minds to producing a stunning cold beer. I never found out who came up with the idea, but why they did made sense. They loved a beer. But I can’t be sure what they did was legal back then. No matter.

There were numerous attempts at making their frothy ale. Over many weeks and months, they gathered like naughty boys in the kitchen, Mum and the two Margarets watching on. Entertained entirely by the madness.

Although not always. Mum didn’t divorce Dad, but I think she might have considered it when she discovered the electric blanket from their matrimonial bed was now warming Dad’s developing home brew.

And cracking this recipe of hops and yeast was very much a work in progress.

After much trial and error, it was agreed their first big brew was ready for bottling. Once filled, the bottles were stored in our garage, where there was no longer a place for the car.

For the next couple of weeks they waited. Impatiently. The anticipation was palpable.

Then, late one winter’s night, came a terrifying sound. It could have been gunshots, Patty told me.

Wrapped tightly in the chenille bedspread and flannelette sheets she’d had to drag out in place of her beloved electric blanket, Mum suddenly sat upright.

‘We’re under attack!’ she may have said.

With equal concern, Dad too sat up, and then bolted. He immediately understood this was indeed a disastrous moment.

He urgently called out to Greg next door. ‘Oi!’ was one of their many distinctive calls.

Greg responded immediately, no doubt noting the late-night urgency.

‘The tops are blowing!’ Dad apparently cried.

‘Geez!’ I’m told the pyjama-clad Greg exclaimed.

Those gunshot sounds Mum heard were in fact bottles of yeasty, sizzling home brew blowing their fuses.

Greg, who rode a Vespa motorbike to work, ran to the garage with his helmet on his head. He knew that during this dangerous mission he’d need to protect his noggin.

It was a sad and smelly sight. Their first brew blew.

The wives gathered. Commiserations were in order. But the decision was made: it was back to the kitchen.

Home brewing became a small obsession. Like good scientists, they kept at it. Trying and testing. Tasting and tipping. But, according to Mum, it continued to taste bloody awful. And she knew because the Secret Wives’ Club, Mum and the two Margarets, had been conducting secret tastings.

The boys were never told. And when their lads cracked the tops, exaggerating their success, the girls maintained their silence.

But eventually the brewers hit a winner. And before long, out on the front veranda, they were popping the tops off what Mum would laughingly refer to as ‘big brown buggers’. In the heat of summer, Dad’s crisp, cold brew was a pretty good drop.

The party continued. And the neighbourhood was lubricated.

By now the weekend punters were in the black. Their slow but sure earnings, no doubt helped by ‘Little Corey’s’ winning rides, ensured that Christmases were great events.

I watched as the tent was pitched. The big top provided space for more neighbours to gather. It was merriment all round and the laughter went on long and loud into the night.

If I thought travelling the world was the bees’ knees, I was wrong. My Taree tribe were cracking the tonne on the contentment calculator.

Their camaraderie was enviable. These friends and neighbours were decent and dependable, a fun-loving, tight-knit group who never missed a beat. Nor a Sunday service: Margaret and Les would head to the little Anglican church on the corner; Mum and Dad, Margaret and Greg to the Catholic church down by the river. When the weekend was done it was back to work.

If it sounds crazy, it’s because it probably was. Crazy and fabulous.

You had to be there, and I felt privileged that I often was.
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What Is Wrong with You?

After six years on constant show, I’d accepted that television is what television does, but in 1993 I really set myself up as a big fat target.

That year, as well as Today, I hosted a programme called Looking Good, which, no surprise, was all about beauty, fashion and style. It was an addition to my workload I neither needed nor wanted. But I was asked to do it.

Immediately I was worried by the title. Any TV show called Looking Good was asking for trouble. And I got it.

Women from both inside and outside the industry added to my angst by making it known that I was not what they considered an appropriate host for such a programme. I wasn’t  ‘looking good’, they said, and what’s more, I wasn’t qualified to determine what or who did look good.

I wanted to respond, ‘I know, but I’m too tired to bother.’ But I carried on, interviewing innovators of health programmes, covering the latest treatments and hearing from fashion experts. It was all done after I finished Today, and often at weekends. I was fatigued and becoming grumpy trying to muster the energy to get the job done. And there was little incentive. Not only was I setting myself up to be knocked down by the public judging panel, but I also wasn’t being paid an extra cent to do it.

I could only hope it would end soon. And fortunately, it did. In Season Two, Deborah Hutton, a proper beauty queen and model as well as a great television talent, was given the job. She was a natural host and made it a winner. Without doubt she was the perfect person for the role.

But the whole experience was just another reminder of some of the unpleasant realities of the world I was inhabiting.

* * *

There would be other, more pleasant assignments away from Today. One of the great interludes in my career was covering the 1994 Lillehammer Winter Olympics in Norway. It was a particularly cold winter, and Ken Sutcliffe and I hosted the games on location, and that meant standing in the ice and snow.

Suffice it to say we froze. It was so cold there were times when I literally couldn’t move my mouth to form words. I’d have to sit in a car with the heater roaring, trying to warm up between recordings. And it was equally harsh for the crew trying to film us. For we sun-loving Australians, it took a bit of time to acclimatise.

It was also pretty chilly on the ice rink between US figure skaters Nancy Kerrigan and Tonya Harding. A few weeks before the games, Kerrigan had been physically attacked with a baton by an associate of Harding’s former husband. It was the ultimate showdown, and the makings of a Hollywood film. Kerrigan was the American darling and Harding, whether she liked it or not, was the villain. Kerrigan would win the silver medal and Harding would later be banned from competitive skating.

As dramas went, it was hard to beat, although finding the beers we’d left in the car for later consumption had exploded was pretty dramatic.

I felt very privileged to be at the Winter Olympics, and I won’t forget being afforded an amazing opportunity to experience, up close, so many extraordinary human feats.

* * *

My private life around this time was following a different trajectory. In 1992 I met my third husband, Stephen Coogan. We lived in different worlds, literally on different sides of Sydney Harbour and had not a lot in common. He preferred reading books and wasn’t much interested in my line of work. And perhaps that was the attraction.

His working hours were even more demanding than mine, and kept him busy sometimes day and night. He was also training to specialise in obstetrics and gynaecology. But we made it work, for a while.

After four years together, in 1996 we parted.

* * *

It’s pretty harsh to consider someone a loser. It’s a label often unthinkingly applied to someone who, it seems, just can’t do anything right. Someone whose life stumbles from one catastrophe to another.

During my career I’d met a few whom society had dismissively tucked away, deeming them not worthy of any further thought.

And I was now feeling like one.

That sticker was metaphorically slapped on my forehead when again I divorced. My life was massacred by the press and gossip columnists were gleefully reporting my downfall.

My neighbours would tell me reporters had knocked on their door, wanting to find out whatever they could about me and my latest disastrous relationship.

Even a former husband joined the chorus when he appeared on a national daytime television programme. It was, I thought, a bit much coming from someone whose own marriage record was not too pretty, but he later publicly apologised and we made peace over lunch. But I still felt terrible.

Yet it was when a long-time friend commented on my failures that I was truly crushed.

I’d gone home to see my parents. A safe haven where they circled the wagons. I was a loved daughter, and even though they had been concerned about some of my marital choices, they were always supportive.

While I was there, an old friend from my farm days popped over to visit with her mum. They were salt-of-the-earth country-town people who were always jovial. It was great to see them.

They stayed for a while, but as they were leaving, my girlfriend turned to me and said: ‘What is wrong with you?’

The look on her face was unforgettable.

I had nothing. She’d uttered the words I had dared not speak to myself.

I couldn’t have felt any worse. Emotionally, I was spent. And I knew this was what so many others must have been thinking and saying.

Deep inside, I started believing I was a disaster. An embarrassment, and an infamous one at that.

The shutters came down.

Mum and Dad knew I was in trouble. They could see the darkness falling. They took me into their arms, and they started working their magic.

They encouraged me to ignore the naysayers. Get back to basics and believe in myself. They picked me up and dusted me off.

Before long, I was back lazing in the sunroom, eating roast dinners and drinking Dad’s ‘big brown buggers’ out on the veranda in the late-afternoon sun. The neighbours, Greg and Margaret and Les and Margaret, came calling.

I wanted what they had. Laughter and joy. And an anchor to what was real.

If not for them, I’m not sure where I might have landed.

I made myself a promise that I would no longer ignore the red flags. The signs from whomever I met again would be heeded.

And I would look much more closely at me.

The one thing I now knew was that if I were going back into the lions’ den, to the life and career that were so public, I had to start again. With some hard and fast rules.

And it might mean a change of scenery.

* * *

The arrival of 1996 had also brought the 10th anniversary of my time co-hosting Today. And I appreciated having been able to notch up so many years on the programme.

In that same decade I’d been married three times. The most enduring man in my life had been my television co-host Steve Liebmann, who kept me afloat more often than he might have realised, both professionally and personally. No matter the situation, he and I were nearly always in sync. We worked and laughed together with great ease. As I did with his wonderful wife, Di.

I was 30 years old when I started on Today, and I was now 40. I had done my growing up in a very public space. Right before the eyes of the nation, I’d gone from country-town kid to national television journalist. It had been a steep learning curve, and there’d been plenty of cuts and bruises along the way.

Nothing had really prepared me for life in the big smoke, let alone working at a highly strung television network. I hadn’t trained in the art of top-end-of-town talking in the very masculine world of power brokers. And I had absolutely no natural talent for dealing with being a public spectacle, and all the pointing and poking that had come with it.

My survival on all levels, I instinctively knew, was down to me.

I’d clung to core values that I’d sometimes forgotten, and even though I’d made some terrible personal decisions, I knew I was ultimately a better me when I stood my ground, resisted any outside influences and donned those Bata Scout school shoes of mine – the ones with the paw prints on the soles – that had from a very young age walked me with purpose in a direction that was right for me.

And they would come in very handy when I was suddenly confronted with the next phase of my life.

In mid-1996 I took a call from Peter Meakin. The no-nonsense head of Nine’s news and current affairs fired a question straight at me:

‘Are you interested in joining 60 Minutes?’
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High Expectations

The flagship programme at Nine was 60 Minutes. If there was ever a show that caught the eyes and ears of viewers across the nation, it was this one.

Based on the American current affairs programme of the same name that had been airing since 1968, in Australia it took some time to find success. Yet ultimately it did, becoming appointment viewing on Sunday nights in millions of homes across the country.

It was almost un-Australian not to know who Ray Martin, Ian Leslie and my mate George Negus were, and you were really living in another universe if the name Jana Wendt had escaped your ears.

The male trio were the original 60 Minutes reporters, with Wendt arriving three years later. All were given their travel orders by the vastly experienced, much celebrated American-born journalist Gerald Stone, the programme’s executive producer. And the big television names chasing the big stories around the globe were accompanied by an equally impressive list of producers, cameramen and sound men. Their stories would then be brought to life by an exceptional editing team.

60 Minutes was a tour de force, and when its iconic stopwatch started ticking in 1979, very few ignored it.

The show had certainly got my attention back in 1988 when its producers set the ‘fake spirit’ Carlos trap. And now, eight years later, I was going to be working beside them. By now the sting of that episode had well and truly passed and the invitation to take my career to another level was irresistible.

There were also personal reasons why I considered it the right move. After a decade in the media spotlight, the thought of moving from a daily programme to one that aired just once a week, as well as being able to disappear regularly on assignment, was deeply attractive. Even more so because the stalker who’d followed me for a decade was still a part of my life.

In a sense my thinking seemed ridiculous, because I was going from a breakfast show with modest ratings to the network’s prime-time news magazine programme. But actually, I was right. As a 60 Minutes reporter I would be whisked away to anywhere in the world for weeks, sometimes even months at a time. Sometimes not even I knew where I’d be, or when.

So Liebo and I tearfully said goodbye.

He and I had been a great team and I’d grown very close to him. He’d been instrumental in helping steer me through the business of broadcasting a live news programme for two hours a day and nearly always emerge smiling.

My final show was emotionally difficult, and I remember wishing I could feel and look a little happier. It was a generous farewell, with kind words from my colleagues and videos from people I’d encountered and interviewed, but I felt particularly moved when I was told there were secret guests in the studio, who turned out to be Mum and Dad.

Executive producer Steve Wood had always understood my strong family bond. Mum and Dad had been flown to Sydney and put up in a five-star hotel the night before. I don’t quite know how they got away with it, because I was in the habit of calling them every day.

Dad’s pride in his daughter’s career achievements was clear to see, and Mum’s fabulous personality rose to the occasion when she was cheekily introduced by Liebo as my replacement. After 10 years of riding on the Big Dipper with me it seemed appropriate that my parents were there to see me walk out one television door and through the next.

In November 1996, I handed the hosting baton to Tracy Grimshaw and made my way to the other side of the Willoughby compound.

* * *

It was time to start again, in a new job where there were high expectations. Many of those expectations were my own. I still wasn’t sure what I was stepping into and something weird had happened as I’d stumbled my way into life’s big metaphorical television studio. While I’d been gaining confidence in broadcasting, at the same time I’d started to lose confidence in myself. The exposure of television had made me feel self-conscious and somewhat vulnerable. The jumble in my mind had sometimes made me question whether I could really do this job. The impostor syndrome could leave me in a bit of a cold sweat in the middle of the night.

As I walked towards the 60 Minutes offices, nervously negotiating the wooden stairs leading down into the compound, I felt like a schoolgirl stepping into a new playground. I was leaving behind the security of Today, where I had done 10 years of live television and hundreds of interviews. But right now it didn’t feel like they counted for much.

At 60 Minutes, I would have to ratchet up my reporting. I would be going to the source of the story, and my interrogations would need to be deeper, more concentrated affairs. Interviews had to cover all the key points, repeatedly if need be, and also capture great moments.

And all on film. Video had not yet arrived; that would take a year or more. It meant that approximately every 10 minutes and 40 seconds, the camera’s magazine needed to be changed. Reloading a new roll of film was an intriguing operation that saw the cameraman with his hands lost in a black material bag, doing something I never quite understood. But it was all to prevent the film from being exposed to the light. Ultimately there would be a couple of magazines of film ready to go.

I had to plan interviews in the hope that they would not suddenly take off just as the film was due to run out. My new colleague Richard Carleton was the master at this. Keeping a close eye on his watch resting nearby, he’d stop the interview and advise his subject that it was time to change the film. It was usually also a signal to his crew and producer that he was about to monster his interviewee and he wanted another good 10 minutes in which to do it.

I would come to see interviews as a great part of the job, and I was always interested in those I was questioning. In all of these interactions, I’d invariably be left better informed about the world and the people in it, and little by little I’d also learn more about myself.

Broadcast journalism, though, requires some different skills from ordinary conversations. Both interviewer and interviewee are usually acutely aware that it won’t be just the words that count. Judgments will be made about how those words are delivered, and whether or not they’re genuine.

I met people from all walks of life. The rich and poor, the courageous and the not so, and the never-ending trail of victims who’ve encountered the world’s deep well of opportunists and scoundrels. I knew then, and even more now, that the best results come from those who feel most at ease. Unless of course they’re the aforementioned opportunists and scoundrels. Interviewing them was a different skill, as I would discover in time.

Crafting an interview was important, and reading body language equally so. You could quickly assess how the person sitting opposite you was feeling.

I was always understanding of the everyday warriors, those who’d struggled and achieved or needed to be heard. Most had never envisaged that a television crew would one day arrive to take over their lounge room, so ensuring that they were comfortable and not overwhelmed by the process was a priority.

My posture would change, though, when I needed to be the interrogator. It was not a demeanour I particularly enjoyed, and I had to learn to accept that there was no polite way of getting around a hard question.

One thing I did find hard to get my head around was the notion of paying for interviews. It’s always been counter to everything I’ve understood about journalism. In a country town, handing over money for a story just doesn’t happen – or at least didn’t, to my knowledge, when I worked as a cadet in Taree.

But chequebook journalism became a reality when I arrived in the big smoke. It was subtler during my time on Today, when tourism agencies sponsored trips to exotic locations. And in that environment I didn’t feel compromised. I was never told of any expectations, or given a list of ‘dos and don’ts’. But of course broadcasting from beautiful places didn’t require any encouragement. The exposure to diverse parts of the country was the payback.

At 60 Minutes the payment for box office interviews was a little more confronting. Often I wouldn’t even be made aware there’d been a payment. It was, after all a confidential contractual arrangement.

Eventually I would ask. When assigned a high-profile story, I wanted to know. And I wanted to know if there’d been any restrictions agreed to that I should be aware of. Almost always there weren’t.

Usually money was paid for exclusive access, and always there was a clause requiring complete honesty. Rarely was there an agreement that included previewing and approving the story. If there was, it was to ensure that matters of fact were correct.

It’s an uneasy situation. In saying that, I’m not assuming any high moral ground, I just didn’t like it. But I got on with it.

* * *

We live in a kaleidoscopic world, and adding to its coat of many colours are celebrities. Those who, for whatever reason, find themselves at the centre of attention. Some seem to like the spotlight, others don’t.

During my many years of holding a 60 Minutes microphone, I would find myself talking to a vast number of famous people. And the stars of Hollywood were, for me, the most challenging to interview. I felt many celluloid stars viewed the media with a level of disdain – unless, of course, they were in control of what was being reported.

I understand why. Anyone who has been subjected to unwanted and relentless publicity gets it. Not all publicity is good publicity, even if that is occasionally the view. Celebrities become fodder, headline- and column-fillers for gossip columnists. My own experiences had taught me that lesson beyond doubt.

The argument is that we, the media, are like bad guests. We don’t know when it’s time to go home. The appetite for celebrity news borders on the gluttonous. And the media are the feeders.

I’ve never really understood the obsessive fascination, or how we found ourselves caught in this web of tabloid tales. Like too much sugar, once we had a taste we wound up addicted. Alas, I too was required to chew on the chocolate bar and experience it from both sides.

It’s a vicious cycle. It can start when the media is courted to help build a celebrity’s brand. But it’s often when the famous come to sell their wares, that the horror begins. They’re forced to chat to the very people they most fear and distrust: journalists. And almost inevitably, somewhere along the line, it turns into a battle.

I found the hardest part of this cycle happened way before I clapped eyes on the star. The deal-breakers were usually the publicists. And that could sometimes be a most unpleasant business.

There are usually parameters including the time available and the access you will have, but personal experience has shown assurances and agreements will go out the window if their client doesn’t feel like keeping their end of the bargain.

We could travel halfway around the world with a clear understanding of what to expect, only to find upon arrival that things had changed. That our celebrity had drastically cut our interview time, or was now no longer wanting to be filmed at home with the cat. It meant producers were often wedged. To salvage the situation, the dancing begins and then my producer would have to wrangle me. News that we were being dudded was never something I was happy to hear.

It’s a fraught business. No one likes it. And I hated it.

Mind you, it didn’t start out that way.

My first 60 Minutes story put to air was with a celebrity, although Derryn Hinch would quite rightly argue that he was first and foremost a news and current affairs journalist. In 1996, the man colourfully labelled ‘The Human Headline’ was down on his luck and all out of money, despite his years of making millions.

The Australian media world is small, and I’d known Derryn for some time, though not terribly well. Always outspoken, he’d been the youngest ever editor of the Sydney Sun newspaper, then king of Melbourne radio for six years, before taking his high-octane opinions to television when he hosted his own shows on Channels Seven and Ten. He’d often verbally smack those caught doing the wrong thing with his famous line ‘Shame, shame, shame.’ And then, with no shame, he declared when taking on radio in Sydney: ‘I’m Derryn Hinch, and you’re not.’ Derryn knew how to perform.

When we’d crossed paths at events or functions, our passing hellos and friendly banter had always been entertaining. But now here I was with the impecunious Hinch on his property at Mount Macedon outside Melbourne, pruning the vines in his boutique vineyard and feeding the calves, all of which he was about to lose, while talking about the financial shadow recently cast over his life. A journalist interviewing a journalist, albeit a very famous one.

He knew better than I did how to tell his story. But my producer Allan Hogan knew better than both of us.

And I think we both knew that Derryn was broke but he wasn’t broken.

Although I did get a bit of stick afterwards from Australian actor Eric Bana, who at the time was hosting his own TV show,  and slammed me for my question to Hinch about suicide. It was the first of many slaps that would come with my new job.

But when I look at my first story with 60 Minutes I see two things. A ridiculously short skirt, and the encouraging beginnings of what I still love about the job: interviewing people.

A celebrity who did seem to be in a sorry state, or at least in need of a group hug, was Hugh Grant. Just weeks into the job, before filming my story with Derryn Hinch, I was sent to London to interview the English actor. Grant arrived for the interview still recovering from stinging headlines, having been caught in a vice operation with a prostitute and hauled into a Los Angeles police station. It was an inglorious time for Grant, and I felt incredibly sorry that he had had to endure such a worldwide tabloid berating for this sexual encounter.

I recall he arrived for the interview at our London hotel at the allotted time without any fuss. I decided to tackle the elephant in the room and asked the obligatory question about his indiscretion and he answered it with his newfound discretion. He batted the business away with a well-rehearsed reply that I figure came from dealing with the media storm in America, where he’d first had to stump up and face the music. There was little joy on this subject for either of us.

I shifted to asking him about his acting, and whether he was really just playing himself. In hindsight it was also an unkind question, but he took it on the chin. He was polite and seemingly reserved but it seemed his zing had zagged and he was just a bloke who happened to be an actor, caught in the public glare. It’s probably one of the few times he didn’t employ his trademark sarcasm.

Grant was one of many who got caught up in the nasty web of tabloid stories. And after a number of years looking many like him in the eye, I have to admit to some feelings of sympathy. The celebrity world is fertile ground for scandal and those seeking it out. It is perhaps even worse now. Where once it was just relentless paparazzi to contend with, today the reality is that anyone with a mobile phone could be your nemesis. At a restaurant, on the street or in a car, there is always a possibility the moment will be captured.

Anyone drawn to fame or any kind of high-profile branding becomes fair game. The reality-TV star, the sports person, the chef, the gardener. And once in the web, there are no rules of engagement.

I watch Grant these days and he seems to have recovered his zing. He remains a very matter-of-fact and accomplished actor who has kept his sense of humour.
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Living Out of a Suitcase

At 60 Minutes, I’d walked into what felt like an elite school with all the hallmarks of a secret society. Stories in progress were never to be discussed in circles beyond the compound. Sometimes not even with our colleagues, but definitely not with other Nine journalists. Seems we weren’t to trust anyone.

What also seemed to have been a secret, at least to me, was the shabbiness of my new 60 Minutes home. None of the multi-million-dollar budget the programme was mooted to enjoy had been invested in interior design. For a top-end show, our offices were definitely bottom-end dwellings. I often wondered what guests to the joint must have thought.

The offices were a group of Federation cottages and demountable buildings tucked away at the bottom of Nine’s Willoughby garden, next to the helicopter pad and in the shadow of a massive transmission tower that we were assured wasn’t frying us. It was what real estate agents would have labelled ‘a renovator’s delight’. There were cracks in windows and nasty stains in the ceilings, and masking tape covered the splits in the carpet down the hallway outside executive producer John Westacott’s office. It was freezing in winter and boiling in summer.

My desk was situated in a tiny demountable shed next to the tower and not too far from the helipad. Maintaining a telephone conversation was very difficult during heavy rain, and impossible when Nine’s helicopter was on the move.

This tin shanty was a space I shared with producer Stephen Taylor, away from the main office, and everyone else for that matter. The one concrete step at the door of our shack was also home to a hardy redback spider.

From here Stephen and I could observe who came and went and, with a bit of a chuckle, the quieter movements of our colleagues. As we could, without too many knowing. Our outpost though was eventually taken over for storage and both Stephen and I had to vacate to other rooms.

My next office looked across the street and the window above my desk featured what looked awfully like a bullet hole, although no evidence of a successful hit was ever found.

* * *

Despite the down-market digs, 60 Minutes was a well-oiled machine, and from where I stood, everyone had a vital and valued role to play. Each story required a team of four: a producer, reporter and two-person crew. Producers and reporters were an important tandem team who needed to collaborate and communicate effectively. Crews, each consisting of a cameraman and sound man, would quite often bring ideas to the table too, and they instinctively knew what was needed to make a good story great. Stories could cover almost any subject anywhere in the world, and there was an enormous degree of trust that those packing their bags would return with the goods.

Producers would oversee a story from start to finish, and to keep the programme’s engine running with plenty of stories, there were many more of them than us. One trip could take me around the world to cover five or six different assignments, which might also mean a change of producers mid-stream.

The crews, cameraman and sound man, were assigned according to their availability, and sometimes because of wherever they happened to be in the world. It would not be unusual for a crew to sit in an overseas hotel, having finished one trip, and wait for another reporter and producer to arrive a few days later before setting out in another direction.

I’d joined an impressive line-up of reporters, but I didn’t immediately realise I would rarely get to see them. We would all be on the road and almost never in the office at the same time.

Richard Carleton, Jeff McMullen and Charles Wooley were well and truly old hands. They were men of different personalities and journalism styles, but all equally talented. Carleton seemed fearless and loved nothing more than poking the political bear or despot in a corrupt country. McMullen could do it all and was deeply invested in his stories. Wooley  was the wordsmith who gravitated to those big-picture stories located in the outback or in the wilderness.

Overseeing us all was executive producer John Westacott, whom I knew from my early years on Today, before he moved to A Current Affair. He was a product of a blokier era of Australian television who had little time for political correctness, and seemed to enjoy saying so. Not long after I’d arrived, he told me he thought my eyebrows were too dark, though after my years at Today, comments about my appearance no longer surprised me.

Love him or loathe him – and there was plenty of the latter being expressed at the time – he was an old-school journalist with a doggedness that propelled the programme. And all held together by the experienced professionals around him. Westy would hold the fort for 16 years, an extraordinarily long tenure for such a high-pressure position.

* * *

Nearly all my colleagues had circumnavigated the globe enough times to make them dizzy. I hadn’t.

But all of that was about to change. I was soon to become a serious traveller.

At first, though, I had no idea that that would mean spending up to six months of the year away from home. If you do a job that requires weeks and months away at a time, and long hours of travel, exhaustion is an unavoidable side effect. I’d often start to feel like I was living in the twilight zone.

And even though for many years everyone in the team would travel business class, life on the road was not always champagne and caviar. Living out of a suitcase can become a hard slog. For every luxurious hotel I would stay in over the next quarter-century or more circling the world for 60 Minutes, there would be plenty of cheap highway motels and even tents.

Working in a team of four, living in each other’s pockets for weeks at a time, requires a certain personality. And typically I would be the only woman. There was no getting around the fact that my essential travel kit would be very different from those of the males sitting beside me on the plane.

As most people do before going away, I would plan my wardrobe and ensure my toiletry bag was stocked with everything I’d be likely to need, including the basics for doing my own hair and make-up. And I’d generally pack extra clothes, because it was always possible that I’d be sent on somewhere else without notice. Hiking boots would be stuffed in with high heels, jackets and jeans. A winter trip could change to a summer location and there was never a guarantee you could drop and shop.

And too many undies were never enough. A story passed down about one of my former female reporter colleagues had left a deep impression. She’d apparently washed her smalls in the bathroom sink of her hotel room and hung them out to dry over the tub. When she left the next day, she forgot to pack them. It seemed it was going to be a long time between department stores, which required a rather sensitive telephone call to the hotel concierge so they could be packed up and posted to the next city.

I would become pretty good at anticipating most situations. I’d always check the predicted weather, the facilities at the places where I’d be staying, and what kinds of situations I might find myself in while filming.

When I had to stay in the great outdoors, dignity would cop a beating. I’d make sure I had a head torch, wet wipes, insect repellent and a hat, because my hair never looks good after a night in a sleeping bag.

And feminine hygiene posed plenty of problems. I would never let the fact that I am a woman prevent me from doing a story. But it would mean extra consideration of all those potential female events.

Being away so long would also mean I could have nothing alive in my home . . . including pot plants. There was much to think about when trying to keep the home ticking over.

Early on in my 60 Minutes career, my accountant Beverley and I organised for my mail to go to a post-office box next to hers, so she was able to pay my bills. This was obviously long before the internet, and I was blessed to have someone I could trust to take care of my business needs.

I was on the point of putting in place direct debits when a huge box arrived for me at the post office. When Beverley opened it, she was shocked to find a massive printout of the telephone bill for the whole of Channel Nine: thousands of dollars. I still don’t know how I managed to get the bill, but it would have wiped out my bank account. We quickly rethought the direct debit plan.

I was lucky that those first trips overseas with 60 Minutes were pure joy. I had with me Allan Hogan, a senior producer whose former career as an investigative journalist was a hard act to follow. He’d reported from Vietnam, worked on the ABC’s Four Corners and been the founding executive producer of Nine’s long-standing and influential Sunday programme. Hoges had seen plenty of the world and plenty of cub reporters like me.

I remember him asking me what I was passionate about and what I considered important, in the way a seasoned and slightly sceptical journalist might. I think he was hoping to find some internal light that clearly I hadn’t yet been able to shine. I struggled to come up with an immediate and coherent answer, and knew I was now looking just a little bit underdone.

It might explain why, when we travelled to China to film with the monks of the ancient Shaolin Temple, Hoges asked me whether I’d consider standing on my head, just as the upside-down martial arts experts looking back at me, were. The monks are renowned for their discipline and control and extreme training régime. They show pictures of themselves lifting and dragging heavy weights attached to their testicles, apparently designed to toughen up their private parts.

I laughed at my producer’s suggestion, but at the same time I wasn’t sure whether or not he was serious. After all, 60 Minutes does encourage reporter participation, and his job, and mine, was to ensure we returned with a cracking story.

On that occasion, travelling as a compact unit of four proved to be a great experience. Everyone knew what had to be done, and we didn’t stop until our story was in the can. When we downed tools, there was plenty of camaraderie. Hoges was a wonderful raconteur and, as I’d learn, someone who loved karaoke. As did our Chinese hosts, who were prepared to pay Hoges to put down the microphone and stop hogging the stage.

The good cheer and laughter were a wonderful counterbalance to the long working hours and endless travel in buses, cars and planes. Humour would prove to be the key to surviving so many years of circling the Earth.

* * *

The following year, 1997, the travel was even more frenetic. I was barely home.

Just one itinerary had me covering the cloning of Dolly the sheep in Scotland on 26 March, then travelling to London, New York and Los Angeles, eventually landing in Miami, where, slightly hung over and somewhat starstruck, I interviewed the Bee Gees (and loved them) on 8 April. I reported in a Bogotá emerald mine on 11 April, then on to Afghanistan on Anzac Day. On 5 May I was in Pakistan, and three days later, I was sitting down to lunch at one of my favourite beachside restaurants in Sydney. Spent.

And just to give my body clock a real workout, I took a trip to Moscow on 16 October to film Australian astronaut Andy Thomas preparing for his first trip into space at Star City, Russia’s once-secretive cosmonaut training centre. Five days later I was on the border between Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan, walking the shores of the disappearing Aral Sea. On 30 October I flew to London and arrived back in Sydney on 3 November.

The very next day, with time only to grab fresh clothes and those all-important undies, I was back on a plane to fly to Honduras in Central America to chase down Australia’s most wanted paedophile, Dolly Dunn.

It was indeed a big year.

My diary tells me I reported from the Vatican, and sat down with Harry Connick Jr, George Clooney, Glenn Close and Michelle Pfeiffer. The latter interview I can’t even remember.

I also interviewed singer Stevie Wonder, which I do remember. Stevie’s personality was infectious. He might have been blind, but he could see better than most. He could tell I was nervous and he could see me smile.

When our interview ended, we asked an enormous favour. Would he mind if we recorded a message from him as part of a farewell for one of our 60 Minutes producers? He did one better: he sang an impromptu song.

And if I’m to keep name-dropping, let me tell you Jon Bon Jovi allowed us into his New York apartment to interview him. It wasn’t what I was expecting: behind closed doors, he was just another married 35-year-old with kids. But the rock star was pretty obliging and fairly generous in allowing us into a very private place. I don’t think that would happen in today’s world, where privacy is a highly prized luxury.

* * *

Other story locations were much more remote. My new job at 60 Minutes certainly took me off the radar at times. And for my parents, who’d been used to watching me most mornings on Today, it was sometimes a long wait for one of my stories to make it to air. I rang them from the airport before every trip, and while away I would try, depending on where I was going, to maintain contact a couple of days a week.

When I was home, they would call after every Sunday night show. Dad loved discussing my stories, and he and Mum would tell me in the nicest possible way whether they’d liked the programme or not.

Sometimes they were shocked to find I hadn’t told them exactly where I’d been. ‘Well, you didn’t tell us about that!’ they’d exclaim.

Mum and Dad, I think, were still marvelling at where my career had transported me. Certainly a million miles from our family’s country-town home. But they never lost sight of the toll it could take, knowing that I wasn’t always the tough person others believed me to be.

Our regular calls helped reassure them that all was well.




15

Panic Attack

Risk would become a part of the job at 60 Minutes. It’s not like it was written into my contract, but when I arrived I’d already formed the view that you don’t travel to isolated places or war zones without understanding that bad things might happen.

I am not normally a risk taker. I am the person in the crew who usually asks: ‘Are we sure?’ I’m the one producers often wish would shut up. I remember one 60 Minutes producer who replied, ‘Yes, Miss Glass Half Empty’ when I inquired what we might do if our best-laid plans should fail. Sometimes I know as I’m about to open my mouth that some of those around me are probably going to expel a little breath of frustration. I totally understand. Questioning what seems like a great idea sounds negative.

But I don’t remember questioning the wisdom of flying to South America to film a story on the perilous business of emerald mining.

On 9 April 1997, the day after interviewing the Bee Gees, I was plugged with a yellow fever vaccine at a hospital clinic, and two days later I was in Bogotá, Colombia.

There are few places in the world where it’s suggested you should be indoors by 3pm, because that’s when ‘the shit starts’. But that’s how it began when I arrived with producer Gareth Harvey and the rest of the 60 Minutes crew in the ‘emerald zone’ high up in the Andes.

This was a region rich in rudimentary mines burrowed into the hillside, a wild and lawless place that authorities weren’t even trying to police. Instead, local godfathers dispensed their own justice in squalid towns full of men who’d come to make their fortunes. But the rule was no gem, no payment, and some hadn’t been paid for months. It meant a constant battle for survival among those gripped by the so-called ‘green fever’.

My gut was telling me I could never be sure about anything here. Maybe it was the sight of the overly bright smiles and wandering eyes when we arrived with our female fixer, an attractive blonde from Bogotá.

Marcela was a journalist and her job was to do the ground work, obtaining permissions to film and organising the interviews we’d asked her to arrange. She of course spoke Spanish, the local lingo, so it made sense for her to ride with us to act as our interpreter and ensure everything went to plan.

It was wise, we were told, not to linger too long in these towns to avoid attracting too much attention, particularly late in the day when the thirsts of hard-working men needed to be quenched and the gun-toting locals got a bit loose.

We were in a rough town. Alcohol fuelled the nights and the fights, and prostitutes took care of other extracurricular appetites. Law and order were enforced the old-fashioned way and pictures of dead rule-breakers were pinned up on a communal notice board for all to see.

And all of that was before we stepped inside a mine. As I stood at the entrance to one shaft, watching workers bless themselves as they went inside, I felt a little queasy at the thought that I was soon to follow.

When I walked in, water came up to my ankles. Along one dirt wall was a plastic tube through which air from the outside was pumped in, and a string of dim lights barely illuminating the darkness.

I found myself stumbling over the virtually invisible sleepers of a wooden track along which carts were pushed to deliver picks and shovels to the miners. To steady myself I reached out towards the wall.

‘Don’t do that!’ said the foreman who was with me. ‘There are live wires.’

Electricity, water and me I knew was a bad combination, and we still had about a kilometre to walk. I turned around and looked back at the 60 Minutes crew following me, and beyond them, all I could see was a pinhole of light.

I froze.

I was now having my first bona-fide panic attack. I’d ignored fight and gone straight to flight. The darkness had overtaken me. I could not go on.

‘I have to get out!’ I told producer Gareth Harvey.

This was not what he needed to hear. But he assessed the situation, then gently asked if I could stay where I was to do an interview.

Feeling immediate relief, I agreed. With the crew’s portable light helping to illuminate the narrow tunnel and my darkening view of it, I pulled myself together, quizzed the foreman about the horrors of mining and then out I stumbled, leaving the others to continue on in.

When I made it outside, cool, fresh air washed over my face. My panic attack left me and guilt arrived. I felt a failure.

I sat for some time thinking about the courage Gareth and the crew had shown that I hadn’t, and just as I was beginning to worry about where they were, out they came, covered in dirt and rubble. None of them too happy.

They were lucky to be alive, they told me. When they’d reached the miners furiously digging into the walls, the roof had begun to collapse.

Our cameraman Vernon apparently said something explicit, and Ben, our sound man, finished his blistering sentence. Gareth grimly agreed it was time to leave.

We all felt very grateful we had survived the mine, but the day wasn’t over.

Our accommodation was not far from the town centre. It was a large, rustic house in the hills with several bedrooms and a water tank at the side. The housekeeper greeted us warmly, but her cheery nature deserted her when she realised the boys had washed their gnarly boots in our limited clean drinking water. Her outburst was nothing short of ballistic, tempered only by the sound we could hear of local lawlessness stirring.

It was after 3pm, and ‘the shit’ was starting.

Her duties done, the housekeeper left us in the hands of a security guard appointed by the local godfather. We should have felt safe, but as we made our way into town to seek food, I felt decidedly the opposite. It was obvious to the rowdy insiders that we were outsiders, and the leering at two female blondes who didn’t belong was unsettling.

As we drove home, having quickly downed our dinner, we could hear that the night-time partying had begun, along with the shooting. It was chilling.

We decided to sleep together in a bedroom filled with bunks, leaving our armed guard outside, where he was starting to consume the first of many nightcaps.

To the repetitive sounds of gunfire, we finally allowed ourselves to slumber, until our very drunk guard broke through the door seeking to join us and carrying a loaded gun.

It was a brave decision by Gareth to order him out.

We were to leave the next day, but the helicopter we’d ordered was cancelled – by our host. The town godfather told us we had to stay. It was an uneasy moment, and Marcela, having overheard his conversations with his underlings, became very concerned. It appeared we were to enjoy some compulsory partying, she told us.

She made a secret call to her now alarmed businessman father in Bogotá, who organised another helicopter. With one eye on the sky, we waited.

Our host left us, believing we were staying, but a couple of hours later, when our helicopter arrived, he rushed to find us and was most displeased.

With instructions not to shut down the engine, the pilot landed, and within minutes, with nary a wave goodbye, we’d loaded our gear and piled on board.

It was an unceremonious departure, but we’d been ambushed. Short of shooting us, which didn’t seem outside the realm of possibilities, there was little our host could do.
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Love and War

Afghanistan was a country I didn’t expect to visit. Twice.

It was on Anzac Day, about a week after leaving Colombia, that I arrived there to report on the internal conflict between the Taliban and the Northern Alliance.

I saw it as a bit of a 60 Minutes thing to do: to send new reporters into battle, to show us in amidst the dirt and danger, and probably to break us in. But I was up for it, even if I can’t pretend I knew what to expect.

The northwestern city of Mazar-i-Sharif was once on the tourist trail, its magnificent Blue Mosque a major drawcard. Our hotel still carried a hint of its former grandeur. The rooms were big and the floors covered in mosaic tiles, and when we arrived I noticed signs pointing to a swimming pool. From the second floor I could see that the pool area was blooming with beautiful deep red, almost black roses. I’d never seen flowers of this colour before, and I told my producer Gareth I was heading down to take a closer look. He enthusiastically said he’d join me soon.

When I got to the garden I could only laugh. In this hotel nothing was quite as it seemed. The black roses were stunning, but had hidden that the huge blue pool was completely empty. I was not disappointed, because I hadn’t packed swimmers; I was never going to be needing them in this strict Muslim country. But when Gareth arrived in his board shorts with a towel over his shoulder, I knew he was amused but perhaps a tad disappointed.

Mazar-i-Sharif was considered a reasonably safe city, still out of Taliban hands. Within months, that would change, and not long after we left it was the scene of a terrible massacre.

In this business, timing is everything, and our careful movements remained mostly unchallenged. There was only one occasion when I thought the locals might turn. We were trying to organise transport with hotel staff and Gareth, not having benefited from a cool-down dip, vented his frustration at the line-up of unhelpful men looking back at us. Suddenly a tall, poorly suited employee shouted: ‘They’re not words you should use to the president!’

It was a stunning moment of clarity. Not only could he speak near-perfect English, but it also appeared, to our surprise, that we were negotiating with the hotel president.

The tempers took some moments to calm, but the cars we’d organised eventually arrived.

* * *

As we traversed the wide and often barren Afghan landscape, it was easy to forget we were here to report on a conflict. For kilometres there were no obvious signs of war.

We ventured into the Bamiyan Valley, where two sixth-century Buddhas, one of them 58 metres tall, stood proudly carved into the rock face. At one point, while stopping to change a tyre, we heard cries of pain by the roadside only to find a patient in a nearby paddock enduring a dental extraction minus anaesthetic. And then there were the tales told to us of late-night attempts by highway robbers. All uttered as we sped in the dark through dangerous checkpoints. But still little front-line action.

The one war lord we did encounter was Sayed Jaffar Naderi, the son of a wealthy ruling family. His father, Sayed Mansoor Naderi, was the former governor of Baghlan province, and when he was imprisoned for a period of time, Jaffar, as we called him, was sent to school in the United Kingdom and later the United States. During those schooling years he became ‘Jeff’ and settled comfortably into his new Western digs, for a time working at McDonald’s, playing in a heavy metal band and – with some skill, apparently – hitting a hockey puck.

When he returned to Afghanistan, Jaffar became the commander of the Isma’ili defence force, a group of fighters who looked to me like they were straight out of the TV sitcom Dad’s Army.

But they weren’t to be underestimated. Their guerrilla warfare was brutal, and in the 1980s they had played an important role in the decade-long Soviet–Afghan War. Sadly, the withdrawal of the Soviets had only led to internal conflict,  and Jaffar had joined forces with the Northern Alliance to fight their new enemy, the Taliban.

To meet Jaffar, we drove southeast from Mazar-i-Sharif to the city of Puli Khumri, a slow three and a half hour drive, and booked into what sounded like rather special accommodation at the Puli Khumri Club. It wasn’t, but what was quite beautiful was the sound of water rapids nearby. I found so much of Afghanistan a contradiction. Beautiful country, very warm people, but beneath the surface, constantly bubbling, was the real prospect of yet more war and seething violence.

Jaffar the war lord was very welcoming. His time in the West had no doubt brought home to him the power of the media and the message he could send to the world. And he was keen for us to see him in action.

Jaffar had accumulated weapons left over from the Soviet invasion. He had tanks, guns, plenty of ammunition and, resting in a barn along with the hay and chickens, one lonely Scud missile that he believed would keep his enemies on their toes. He banged off a few rifle rounds as we watched on, and then, when one of his powerful rocket-propelled grenades failed to make much height, we all ducked for cover.

The war games were a little unconvincing, but Jaffar was pleased with his display of firepower. What he seemed more pleased with, though, was a huge pink eagle he’d had erected on a mountain. It was an eye-watering sight. We needed to climb steps to get inside, and once there, we could look out through the eyes of this man-made bird over the magnificent valley below.

The eagle’s body was inside fluffed up with carpets and pillows, on which Jaffar sat and held court. If the Taliban thought the magnificent Bamiyan Buddha’s were offensive we all knew Jaffar’s pink eagle would really tip them over. As we sat on cushions, sipping what I think may not have been tea, he declared he would fight to the last drop of his blood to keep the Taliban at bay.

We were not so sure.

* * *

The front line in this battle with the Taliban was not anywhere near Jaffar and his soldiers, but about five gruelling hours’ drive away in the Panjshir Valley, where we tracked down the soldiers of the Northern Alliance. With a nod from Jaffar, these fighters were prepared to show us the line between them and the Taliban.

It would be my first walk into a war zone. There was much for me to learn.

From where I stood, at first it looked like another stretch of dusty Afghan countryside with its own unexpected beauty.

But the tranquillity was shattered pretty quickly. As soldiers led us down a road towards a river, sounds of gunfire rang out. Everyone else fell into the nearest ditch, but I momentarily remained standing, looking around.

It was naïvety at its worst. I should have dropped like a rag doll, but instead I heard shouting, then felt a sudden yank of my hand.

Ben, the sound man, was screaming at me to get down and pulling me to the ground. My heart almost fell out. Now I was desperately seeking cover.

The soldiers were concerned that the camera tripod we were carrying looked like a lethal shoulder-firing weapon, a rocket-propelled grenade, and now the enemy across the river had us in their sights. We carefully continued towards a bridge, where I attempted to utter words and complete a piece to camera while trying not to become the target. I was leaning down and watching, to my horror, as everyone around us left, retreating behind a nearby wall.

I remember thinking that if our mates the soldiers weren’t prepared to stay with us, why were we here? But I knew the quicker I finished this piece to camera, the quicker we’d be gone.

I got the job done, but by now I was experiencing a new level of terror. If this was part of earning my 60 Minutes badge, I realised I was going to have to harden up.

Whether it was my fear, or his fear that they might have to ship me home in a box, from that moment Ben kept looking out for me. I would hear him regularly ask: was I OK, did I need anything?

Ben was a long-time sound recordist and a well-travelled crew member when I arrived in the 60 Minutes offices. He’d seen plenty of places, met plenty of important people and had experienced plenty of incredible and hair-raising moments. He already knew his way around the world: where to find the best restaurants, pubs and bars, and where to go to have the best time.

And he’d worked with all the reporters; I was just another one.

I could see he was the perfect fit for a 60 Minutes team. Smart, confident, easygoing, entertaining and full of cheek. Happy being with people but equally happy on his own. If I asked him whether we should wait for a quieter moment to record, he’d often say: ‘You take care of the words, I’ll take care of the sound.’

Ben was disarmingly charming. I loved his laughter and his great stories, and soon recognised we shared the same values.

Yet as obvious to each other as our mutual attraction was, we were both hesitant about the next step.

I wasn’t sure about a relationship with a work colleague. Plus, I’d been all but beaten to death over my personal life in the press and was wary of stepping back in. And Ben was still in the midst of sorting out his own private life. Time was on our side, and I needed some quiet to think about my past mistakes before considering the future. I just wasn’t up for any more disasters.

We continued our conversations, but work kept us either apart or constantly together, depending on our individual marching orders.

In early July, on a return flight to Australia, we sat together and talked some more. By the time we landed, the headlines were screaming again, courtesy of a flight attendant. We had, it was reported, been seen ‘canoodling’.

There was a feeding frenzy. My life, and Ben’s, were rich pickings for more written opinions and further exploration. Ben’s sin was to leave his magazine-editor girlfriend. Mine was presumably to have led him astray. It was dreadful for everyone, and Ben particularly was feeling the pain. His family and even my parents, who were now a little more used to unflattering headlines than most, were shocked, wondering what on earth all the fuss was about.

And suddenly I was in the board room at Channel Nine, being asked about the stories. I was somewhat astounded and more than a little offended by the men choosing to quiz me. It seemed that they, just like the gossips, wanted to know exactly what was happening.

I simply shut down. I was not entering the fray. Truth be told, by now I didn’t trust anyone. If I’d somehow brought the reputation of Channel Nine into disrepute, I was, I said, happy to leave. No hard feelings. It had been great. I was grateful for the years I’d worked and the experience I’d been afforded. But enough was enough.

The meeting ended. I was not, I was told, going to be sacked.

Ben was horrified. And again I was forced to wonder what the public interest was in all of this.

Somehow we weathered the storm, ignored all the unnecessary questions and marched forward. Family and friends stood firm, and on the work front we continued as we had before, often travelling together but also separately. When executive producer John Westacott asked whether I wanted to change any working arrangements, I said no.

In the madness of the media reporting, Sydney radio host Andrew Denton was perhaps the kindest. On his programme, having observed the inordinate fascination with my personal world, he simply wished us both ‘a soft landing’.

After some severe turbulence, we touched down smoothly.
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Is Evil Real?

Ever since Father Bill thundered at me in the confession box, I had been questioning religion and the hypocrisy of my own Church. How it determined that the pulpit was only for men. How it dictated terms concerning birth control and abortion. How it seemed so comfortable in discriminating against women and homosexuality, all in the name of God. And all the while I was being told to get down on my knees and confess my sins to the priests in my home town, some of whom were later convicted of child abuse.

Then, in November 1997, I was dispatched to Honduras in Central America, where 60 Minutes had just tracked down one of Australia’s most wanted men. Former Catholic schoolteacher Robert ‘Dolly’ Dunn was a paedophile with 91 child sex offences to his name.

His story forced me to question whether evil was real.

During the ’70s and ’80s Dunn had been a teacher at Marist Brothers School in Penshurst in south Sydney, and had sexually abused students in his office and in the school shower block. Court records would reveal that the Marist Brothers had knowledge of his criminal behaviour, and that Dunn had paid off corrupt police to avoid prosecution.

In 1996 he was summoned to give evidence at the ‘Wood’ Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service, but failed to appear. After police found hundreds of videos of Dunn committing sexual offences against children, he fled from Australia to Indonesia before he could be charged.

When a newspaper photograph exposed his whereabouts, he realised the Australian Federal Police would be coming, so he fled again.

We were also on his tail, and as I boarded yet another jumbo jet I was about to find out just how impressive 60 Minutes could be.

Some months earlier, producer Steve Barrett had received a tip-off that Dunn was now in Honduras, a place he’d cunningly chosen believing he was safe there from extradition. We found out his Australian passport was about to expire, so we thought there was a very strong possibility that, rather than apply for a new one, he would stay put for a while. Barrett’s information gave us the confidence to send our Miami-based producer Melanie Morningstar, an expatriate Australian who was fluent in Spanish, to try to track him down.

Melanie caught buses around the country, checking into tiny towns and asking about any ‘gringos’ locals might have met. It was a daunting task, finding one 58-year-old Australian in a country of nearly five and a half million people.

After weeks of nothing, executive producer John Westacott decided the assignment was proving too costly. So he told our chief of staff Cliff Neville to abandon ship.

None of us could believe it, and Morningstar, still winding her way through the towns and villages of Honduras, was adamant she would find Dunn. So, unbeknownst to Westacott, Cliff kept the project going and Melanie caught yet another bus.

Then, bingo. She sniffed the pong of his trail.

Arriving in the small border town of Copán Ruinas, Melanie found that Dunn had been there not long before, having run a restaurant where he’d employed up to a dozen young boys. Dunn had left sensing he was very much on the nose with some of the locals, who hadn’t liked what they were seeing.

When I interviewed her, Melanie said: ‘That’s when I knew I had him. That’s when I knew I was only six weeks behind him.’

A contact from Copán told her that Dunn was believed to be living in the Honduran capitol, Tegucigalpa. Finally, after still more days of tirelessly digging and asking around, Melanie believed she had found Dunn. But she had to provide us with evidence he was there, before we could take further action.

So, with the help of another trusted contact, Melanie set up a sting and lured Dunn to a city restaurant. Hiding in the shadows, she pulled out a tiny video camera and filmed him.

Melanie told me: ‘I couldn’t believe it. A chill went from my head to my toes. I was thrilled, I was elated, and I wanted to run to the table and punch his head in. It was so exciting for me, and I knew I had done what I had set out to do.

‘I was able to get on the phone and say, “I’ve got him, I’ve got him, I’ve absolutely got him.”’

Her film was sent via satellite to Australian police, who confirmed that 60 Minutes had indeed got their man. It had taken six months.

I vividly recall the moment. For Steve Barrett it was particularly satisfying. He’d been the one who put us on this path, and actually finding Dunn was a fantastic outcome.

Westy, our now somewhat suspicious executive producer, also knew this was an extraordinary result, and quelled his desire to interrogate Cliff further on how it had happened. After all, Cliff’s instinct had proven to be right.

With Steve Barrett and Gareth Harvey I flew to Honduras. Then, in cooperation with New South Wales Police and the Australian Federal Police, we worked to have Dunn arrested.

It took some time to get Honduran authorities interested in picking him up. At that time they’d never formally extradited a suspected criminal. While the red tape was being untangled, all we could do was keep an eye on Dunn.

After some convincing, the local police finally came on board, but their timing couldn’t have been worse. Dunn had decided to leave the city for the weekend, and all we could do was wait and desperately hope that he’d return.

And we had to lie low. We certainly didn’t look like locals, and if we were seen, we surmised it wouldn’t take long for Dunn to hear about some Australian gringos in town with a television camera.

By now we had accumulated quite a posse of police: the New South Wales Police, the Australian Federal Police, the National Police of Honduras and now officers from the United States Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA). The DEA was there to assist with Dunn’s delivery to America, where he could be extradited to Australia, if and when he was arrested.

So we all gathered in a hotel: law enforcers from around the world, along with the 60 Minutes team – Gareth, Steve, Melanie, cameraman Phil, sound man Mark, and me.

There were some serious nuts and bolts to work through. We wanted to film the arrest and the authorities just wanted their man. But it was acknowledged that 60 Minutes had done what police hadn’t been able to do: find Dunn and lure him to a meeting. So, using a black Texta and a whiteboard, we drew up a compromise plan that would satisfy everyone.

We booked two hotel rooms with an interconnecting door. We spent the weekend setting up cameras and sound equipment in one room, into which we hoped to entice Dunn, and monitors in the room next door where we would watch and wait.

The same contact of Melanie’s who’d first lured Dunn to a restaurant nervously agreed to entice Dunn again, this time into our hotel, on the pretext of a meeting about a business deal. The plan we’d all signed off on was that once they were both in the room, we’d call our contact and he’d leave, saying he had to pop down to the lobby. We would then come through the interconnecting door and confront Dunn.

We knew Dunn would try to leave, so when I said the words ‘How long do you intend to keep running?’, the authorities stationed next door and in the corridor outside would move in to arrest him.

Then, we waited. By Sunday, our contact was getting cold feet, and almost walked away from the sting. Melanie got him back on track, assuring him Dunn was wanted for the most heinous of crimes.

Monday morning came but Dunn did not. Then at midday, the allotted time for the meeting, he finally wandered in.

It was almost surreal to see the man we’d been hunting for so long casually take a seat on the lounge, light up a cigarette and begin sipping a glass of Scotch. He seemed in good spirits, while our contact showed no sign of the nerves from the day before. I was the one starting to sweat. But here we were. The plan was in place.

We rang the phone in the room. Our man answered, told Dunn he quickly had to go down to the lobby, then left.

The time had come.

With my heart racing and the crew beside me, I opened the door.

It must be pretty shocking to be sitting in a hotel room minding your own business, then have a door suddenly flung open and strangers pile in. Let alone a camera crew. Dunn, I suspect, was glad he was seated.

As I not so eloquently peppered him with questions, he stood up, assessing the situation. A small, quietly spoken, white-haired man, clutching a Scotch and sucking on a ciggie.

He became irritated and took a sip of his drink. What you might expect of an old hand deciding how to deal with a dicey situation while looking for the exit.

I asked him if he was a paedophile. He just smiled, flicked some ash and inhaled another lungful of smoke. I asked about the video tapes he had made of his criminal exploits, described by the Wood Royal Commission as ‘evil’.

ME: We have seen other tapes of you involved in having sex with young boys.

DUNN (IN A SMARTARSE TONE): So far, so good.

And with that he put his hand on the front door handle and turned it.

I uttered the all-important words, the signal for police, and instantly they were there. Dunn was handcuffed and arrested.

Six months of hard yakka.

Dunn was taken to Miami and handed over to the FBI. A court remanded him in custody until he was extradited to Australia on 31 March the following year. Eleven years later Dunn would die in an Australian prison.

* * *

I look back at the story and what we did to help capture Dunn, and realise it was an example of the extraordinary outcomes investigative journalism can achieve. We spend so much time lost in a world of tabloid stories, but the kind of reporting that can bring about important change or just do some good, is what most journalists hope to achieve.

In this case we were told the Australian police simply didn’t have enough resources to get Dunn. And if 60 Minutes had pulled the pin, Dunn, it could be argued, might never have been found.

It was brilliant teamwork, and they all deserve a roll call. Producer Steve Barrett had got the tip-off, and after I flew back to get the story to air he scored an interview with Dunn while in custody. Melanie Morningstar had had the grit and determination to do what few others could have: hunting Dunn down, literally one Honduran village at a time. Gareth Harvey had led us and ensured that everything went to plan. And cameraman Phil Donoghue and sound man Mark Brewer had done what 60 Minutes crews do best: kept their nerve and captured every moment.

And then there was Cliffy, our chief of staff, whose instinct had been to hang in there even when his executive producer was telling him to close the books.

I was the front person. I felt lucky it had been me who’d been sent on such an important assignment: a story that not only illustrated the wickedness and depravity of a man who sexually abused children, but also stopped him. Unbelievably, no one had seemed able to stop Dunn’s abuse of students at the Catholic school where he’d been a teacher.

I struggled to find any redeemable feature in Dunn, and his obnoxious claim that he was really just a ‘boy lover’ was sickening.

I feel equally horrified that much of his abuse occurred within the sphere of the Catholic school where he worked, and that in time, other priests in schools and churches around Australia would also be found guilty of abusing children.

* * *

That year I also encountered another form of evil, in the person of serial Australian conman Peter Foster, who had defrauded countless victims on three continents. He was a smooth-talking Queenslander who, it seemed, just couldn’t stop himself. And, in the way only a good fraudster could, he said, ‘We’re all conmen. Politicians are conmen.’

It was an interview in which Foster did a lot of ducking and diving. Defending himself then falling on his sword.

His pièce de résistance was, ‘It was a mistake I made. I would never make it again.’ And of course he did. Again and again.

* * *

It was a relief to find myself travelling to interview Elizabeth Durack, who in her eighties, had found herself at the centre of an art scandal.

Durack lived in Perth but had spent much of her early life in the remote Kimberley region with her sister, acclaimed writer Mary, on one of the cattle stations established by their pioneering family. The sisters seemed enchanted and inspired by the astringency of outback life and by the local Indigenous families, for whom they held a deep affection.

Elizabeth’s career as an artist was clearly influenced by her exposure to their culture and her outback experience, and gave life to more than 60 solo exhibitions.

When I met her she was a sprightly senior citizen who welcomed us into her Perth home, serving up a home-made quiche and a glass of local Aussie bubbles for lunch. She was warm and engaging and still coming to terms with the trouble that had found her.

Elizabeth had produced and exhibited Indigenous-style artworks under the pseudonym of ‘Eddie Burrup’. When Elizabeth outed herself that year, publicly declaring that ‘Eddie’ was actually her, a white woman, many in the art world exploded.

I could see she was both bewildered and wounded by the fracas, and frustrated that no explanation by her would ever be accepted. For a woman who had spent a lifetime expressing herself through her art, it was not the reception she’d anticipated. She and Eddie – her alter artist, she said – had simply merged. Though it seemed to me her objective had never been to fool people, her nom de plume had done just that.

We took Elizabeth on the road with us to the area where she’d spent so much of her earlier life, meeting some of the Indigenous friends she held closely. I could see she was totally at ease in this vast landscape of red soil and empty spaces. But there was also pain. Many in this place she loved and admired were offended and hurt by ‘Eddie’s’ work. And even though she put on a brave, sometimes defiant face, it was not what she had expected.

When it was over, and we’d wrestled with the difficult subject of Elizabeth and Eddie, she asked if each of us in the 60 Minutes crew would pass on the mailing address of our parents.

We thought it a little curious, but some weeks later my mother rang me and, with great surprise, told me a letter from Elizabeth had arrived.

I was, she wrote, a credit to them.

It was a generous note, and kind words, from someone from a different time.
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Out of My Comfort Zone

For a while, it was as if I were testing myself. How tough was I? Was there a story that required more of me than I could muster?

In 1998, I walked around on top of a live volcano, Mount Kilauea in Hawaii. The excessive heat singed my eyebrows, but my determination remained unscathed.

Then, the next year, I thought spending time with one of the toughest armies in the world might pull me up. So, here I was, out in the desert of Djibouti in the Horn of Africa, with the French Foreign Legion.

I was here to film a story about this unusual army with a fierce reputation that, since 1831, has recruited men between the ages of 17 and 40 from around the world. They are given a new identity and a five-year contract. And for a long time, the army turned a blind eye to their history.

Things have changed now. These days, signing up to escape serious crime is not so easy. But while we were there, a number of recruits told us they didn’t want anyone to know who they were, or what kind of life they’d lived previously. What they did want us to know was that they’d come to start again. If they could survive the brutal training régime.

We went with them on a training mission that took us out into the desert, where there was nothing much more than sand dunes and the odd scrubby tree. Under a relentless sun in excruciating heat, the legion went through its paces.

Once again, I was pleased to have with me a female fixer, a journalist we often used to help work up our stories in Europe. Dietlind was fluent in French and German, a smart woman with a level of endurance that could match most. On this full day out in the desert with men of steel, she and I would certainly need it.

It was common for me to find myself mostly working and travelling with men, and perhaps my childhood with Dad and my four brothers was what made me comfortable with all that testosterone. I suspect, too, that there might have been times when having a woman in their midst provided a great excuse for my male colleagues to walk away from difficult situations. Conversely, their usual unflinching masculine approach would sometimes force me to find my bravery gene and ‘man up’ with them.

But out here with the French Foreign Legion, everyone had to man up. These blokes prided themselves on their toughness, and weren’t the kind to show a hint of weakness.

So when an old familiar feeling loomed, I knew being a woman was just bad luck. It was the same situation I’d had to deal with in Afghanistan, and would many more times to come. In the Guatemalan jungle, on the tundra in the Arctic Circle, in the Australian outback and just about anywhere in the world where a good old-fashioned dunny is never in sight.

So, here we were with our French amis, and nature was beginning to beckon.

By the afternoon my bladder was talking to me, and for a long time I simply ignored it. Men could simply walk a short distance and turn their backs to take care of business. For Dietlind and me, it required a bit more planning.

Neither of us expected to be seeking privacy together behind a tree, but it was our only place of refuge in an otherwise desolate space.

As we took a moment together, the kind that comes with instant relief, we laughed.

We’d scoped the landscape and found a spot where no one was to be seen for kilometres. The men were elsewhere and we had escaped. Yet somehow, as always seems to happen on these occasions, out of nowhere a family came walking across the sand. A small group of men, women and children. Where they’d come from and where they were going we had no idea. They didn’t deviate at all but walked right past us, and there was nothing we could do other than smile and wave from our crouched position. They didn’t acknowledge us and they seemed unperturbed. It was a bizarre moment.

That night, the legionnaires circled the wagons – literally. Dinner took the form of impressive French Army packs, which even included pâté. The legion was partial to a red wine, and had even carted along a small brewery on this training mission.

They were a curious lot, our comrades.

Our camp beds were set up for us, side by side, in the open air. And all within the circle, guarded by a roster of soldiers.

As I slid off my boots and hung them on the posts at the end of my stretcher, I felt strangely comfortable. I was a girl from the farm and none of this basic living was a shock to my system. I didn’t mind sliding down into a sleeping bag and staring at the stars; in fact, I felt quite safe and sated.

My companions all seemed pretty content too, I thought, as I listened to them settling into their individual slumbers. To the hypnotic purrs of our crew, cameraman Paul Boocock and sound man David Norton Smith, and slightly sunburned producer Gareth Harvey, Dietlind and I drifted into our own desert dream time.

It was all a bit surreal.

If anything, traipsing from one hotel to another in city after city often had less appeal than the freshness and unpredictability of an outdoor assignment. And even though I would lament the lack of amenities, I would never fail to return to the land of comparatively luxurious living feeling better for my minimalist experience.

* * *

I might have felt surprisingly at home in the desert, but it was while out of my comfort zone that I conducted some of my most fascinating interviews, in the rarefied air of the seriously successful and rudely rich.

My itinerary in 1999 was again jam-packed, but with a heavy emphasis on the big end of town. From American media mogul Ted Turner to Hustler adult magazine publisher Larry Flynt. Australia’s richest person Gina Rinehart, Western Australia’s famously successful Paspaley pearling family, and the impossibly tall and highly paid Australian NBA basketballer Luke Longley.

This year would also mark my first encounter with the razor-sharp actor and comedian Barry Humphries, before immersing myself in a story about the business of building unimaginably mega cruise ships.

And my 60 Minutes career was only getting started.

But perhaps one of the more mesmerising experiences that year was spending time with two of the first and biggest billionaires to make their money from the internet: Pierre Omidyar, creator of eBay, and Jeff Bezos, founder of Amazon.

Omidyar’s online flea market had turned into the world’s largest internet auction site after his wife’s desire to collect lolly dispensers got him thinking, while Bezos had been working on Wall Street when he started observing the impact of the internet and set up an online business selling books.

Their success, even to them back then, was unbelievable.

Bezos, whose most striking feature was a loud and slightly awkward laugh, was especially amazed, and didn’t mind saying so. He believed if anyone back then had claimed he’d make billions, they’d be viewed as needing to be ‘institutionalised’.

Amazon had started with 15 investors, mostly his family and friends, and he’d warned them they might lose their money. He created the business, he said, so as not to regret that he hadn’t. It was a hunch he felt he had to act on, just in case he was right. He told me he’d been described as a nerd aspiring to be a geek, and he thought that was about right.

The Bezos I met was hugely likeable and didn’t seem to indulge in conspicuous consumption. Amazon was based in Seattle and he happily spent the day showing us around the city. His office was far from grand; he worked at a desk built from an old door. And at the time he was thinking of trading in his dated Honda car and spending some of his outrageous wealth upgrading to a Volvo, because it had extra airbags.

As we walked along the aisles of his massive book business, passing his workers – many of whom, he said, had stock options – I had to marvel at the Bezos brain. I would feel the same many years later when I interviewed Elon Musk. Both are entrepreneurs who seem to think very differently from others and who plunged head-first into the business of risk. It didn’t always make them popular, but it did make them rich.

Bezos, who now has his eyes on flying into space, was for a time the world’s richest man. And I suspect that, despite its extra airbags, he’s since traded his Volvo for something more salubrious.

He told me all those years ago that he considered it completely natural for people to be curious and want to ask him about his wealth. But he also wanted to tell them that if they knew what it was really like, they’d be very disappointed.






19

I’ve Made Other Plans

It was January 2000, the start of a new decade, and a new millennium (though some would argue it started the following year). It was also the year Sydney would be hosting the Olympic Games. By all accounts it was going to be a pretty exciting time.

I’d started the year in London, where I’d been sent to interview the late Princess Diana’s brother, Charles, Earl Spencer. He had opened an exhibition of Diana’s clothes, jewellery and other personal possessions at the Spencer family estate of Althorp. It was an interesting decision by the earl, who at her funeral had very publicly pointed the finger at the press and all those in the fame business who he believed had contributed to Diana’s death. And now here he was, his critics argued, cashing in on his sister.

It was a claim he vehemently denied when I put it to him. Earl Spencer was not in my tribe. Inherited wealth is a strange happenstance and I couldn’t even begin to know how it moulds the mind. But I presumed he was asset-rich and the upkeep of the family’s 500-year-old estate was potentially making him cash-poor, so maybe he did have an insight into what it was like worrying about paying the bills.

And I was mindful that no matter the nature of their often discussed relationship, this was a brother who, like any other, truly did grieve the death of his sister.

After a long day filming at Althorp, we returned to our London hotel and retired to the bar. It was a good place to debrief with the crew and consider the story we’d filmed.

Little did I know there was someone who might normally be in our tribe sitting nearby.

There in a corner, with an entourage of friends and colleagues, was actor Russell Crowe.

It’s not unusual to see famous faces when staying in reasonable hotels while overseas, and London’s Athenaeum was one of those.

My 60 Minutes colleagues and I stayed happily where we were. We presumed that was how Crowe would prefer it too, given he was, we believed, out of sorts with Channel Nine, after footage had been aired of a mêlée he’d been caught up in at a pub in Coffs Harbour, not far from his New South Wales home.

Then, to our surprise, a waiter came up and offered us a round of drinks, courtesy of Crowe. It was Australia Day, and the Hollywood star was obviously in a generous mood. We nodded in appreciation.

Crowe is a New Zealander we Australians are more than happy to call our own. And his love of things most Australians appreciate, in particular rugby league, makes him seem like a natural fit.

But he can get testy. So it was even more of a surprise on this night when Crowe came over and said he and his friends were going out. Would we like to join them?

We might have if we hadn’t been so exhausted, as well as a little wary. So we politely declined. Besides, our itinerary had us on the move again.

* * *

Sir Peter Ustinov, the witty, clever British actor, writer and raconteur, was the joyful man I hoped he would be. As we sat in his Swiss home, overlooking the view across his vineyard to Lake Geneva, we talked of his life and times and then relocated to the kitchen, where his wife, Helene, poured us each a cup of tea.

I had made an early faux pas when we’d arrived by thanking Sir Peter for having us into his house when clearly he was preparing to move out.

Everywhere in the lounge room, piled high, were hundreds of books. On the floor, against the wall, and stacked in lots on the furniture. All waiting, I thought, for a couple of big burly blokes with a removalist’s van to box them up and take them away.

Alas, to my horror, Sir Peter said he wasn’t going anywhere.

I recovered, and Sir Peter was unfazed. As we sipped our tea, he continued, as he had from the beginning, to make us laugh. And we did long after we left, particularly about one of his favourite stories that had come, he said, after hearing too many times the same line from good-mannered Americans.

It was when a stranger travelling with him in a lift turned to him and said, ‘Have a nice day’ that Ustinov replied, ‘I’ve made other plans!’

* * *

I was also making other plans.

My personal life had changed gears, and Ben and I were happily getting on with our lives, even though we both continued to live out of a suitcase.

Somehow, though, we managed to renovate a new home. It came with water views and – just as that palm reader I’d interviewed as a cadet journalist had predicted – it was a place that made me feel peaceful. (It was, of course, the easiest prediction any clairvoyant could make.)

There were also weddings to attend. My brother Phillip tied the knot, as did my friend and former colleague John Mangos.

Working away so much meant any time with family and friends had become a luxury, and to be with them to celebrate was a good reminder of their place in my heart. One of the tough aspects of the job is not always being around for these important family occasions. For those with children it’s particularly difficult. So many school moments and weekend dates are missed, and partners often become single parents for weeks at a time.

I also discovered that year that as much as I love the water, swimming in it and skiing on it, I didn’t like spending too much time under it.

I had decided to learn scuba diving, and my former newsroom colleague Sheryl Taylor knew just the person to teach me. Her husband, Rob, had been a troop commander with Australia’s elite SAS Regiment and also spent time with the US Navy SEALs. He was now teaching hapless civilians like me how to dive.

This involved doing a fairly intensive practical course then an exam before getting into a pool. I was keen, because there was a story in Turkey that I couldn’t hope to do unless I learned to dive. And it also seemed to me there was a whole other world under the water waiting to be discovered.

Rob had high expectations that I would crack the course with ease, but within a day or two he’d lowered them – along with me, into his small teaching pool.

No matter how many times I tried, I couldn’t clear my ears. The pressure caused pain and my lungs were squealing. And I felt claustrophobic.

I wasn’t loving it.

My fear of going underwater only got worse a few years later, when 60 Minutes staff were required to complete a helicopter underwater escape training course, designed to save our lives if a helicopter had to be ditched in water. After a morning of watching videos of crashes, and hearing what we needed to do if we ever found ourselves in such an unfortunate position, we were marshalled to the nearest swimming pool to start the practical session. That involved sitting in an enclosed cage that was lowered into the water and upended. This would prove whether we’d listened to anything we’d just been told.

Suffice it to say, this was a ‘Fuck me’ moment.

Learning to stay calm while strapped into your seat as the chopper with its heavy motors inevitably rolls over is one heck of a challenge. And then to hold your breath as you dangle upside down in a cabin filling with water, before finally making an escape, is not for the faint of heart.

If I mastered this lesson and survived the impact, I probably wouldn’t drown, I was told.

But I was starting to think the best way to save my life was simply not to get back into a helicopter.

* * *

Travelling is no fun if you feel like crap, so keeping on top of my health is always a priority. On assignment in early April 2000, I knew I felt unwell, but I wasn’t sure what the problem was.

Our 60 Minutes team had travelled to Panama to interview actor Pierce Brosnan, who was shooting The Tailor of Panama there with Geoffrey Rush. To most fans, the Irish-born actor was still James Bond, and the suave 46-year-old was possibly surprised that an Australian television crew would travel all this way to interview him on the set of his new film. Geoffrey Rush seemed pleasantly surprised too, although not inclined to be part of our story.

Brosnan, sans any publicist in sight, soon relaxed into our easygoing Antipodean manner. And despite his filming commitments he accepted our invitation to take a short boat ride that would allow us to capture more pictures with him.

He’d also agreed to record a campaign video message for the environmental group Planet Ark, co-founded by Australian tennis star Pat Cash. At the time Brosnan and other celebrities, including Olivia Newton-John and Kylie Minogue, were keen supporters.

It had indeed been a bloody long way to come from Sydney via Los Angeles and Miami, but by the time we’d finished filming and dined in Panama’s old city, we didn’t feel too bad. It was all part of the job.

Travel in this part of the world did come with some risks, though. Panama, linking Central and South America, is home to the Panama Canal, and to some pesky mosquitoes. Malaria can be an issue, so I was taking Doxycycline, an antibiotic and a recommended malaria preventative.

After Panama we headed to New York and then London for a few days to interview entrepreneur Richard Branson. The story also included a visit, via Antigua, to Necker Island, the Virgin Airlines boss’s hideaway in the British Virgin Islands.

Even now I look at my diary and shake my head. The constant travel was insane.

But it continued, and with a deep breath, we next headed to Zimbabwe, which happened to be another country where malaria was a problem. In my self-medicating wisdom, I’d decided to take only a short break from the anti-malarial Doxycycline after leaving Panama, so I’d be covered for our shoot in southern Africa.

But by the time we hit Zimbabwe I felt decidedly out of sorts. My face was lumpy and swollen and I was nauseous. I called a doctor and asked her to come to our Harare hotel. She was not particularly concerned, although she did think I might be having a mild reaction to something. She suggested I wait and see how I felt over the next few days.

I didn’t have much time to get better, as the next morning I was to interview Zimbabwe’s former prime minister Ian Smith.

We were here to tell the story of the deep and dangerous racial divide and unrest that had ensued after President Robert Mugabe had determined that land controlled by white farmers should go back to black farmers. The redistribution enforced by a Mugabe-backed group referred to as ‘war veterans’ often came with dreadful violence and the murder and beating of white farmers as their lucrative tobacco-growing properties were seized. It was all part of a brutal reckoning, seeing out colonial rule of the country once named Rhodesia.

I’d taken the doctor’s advice and stayed in my bed, but when I looked in the mirror the next morning I didn’t much like what I was seeing. And I was still feeling sick in the stomach.

I made the most of a crook situation and did the interview. An elderly Ian Smith, now a farmer, was happy to talk of the terror many people were experiencing under Mugabe’s rule.

We didn’t film me during that interview because even the cameraman Mick Morris agreed that my swollen face was not a good sight, and that I probably needed to seek further medical attention. When I got back to the hotel, I called my doctor in Sydney.

Malcolm understood the travails of 60 Minutes travel. He’d seen many of us over the years and had ensured that when we travelled we carried medical packs containing up-to-date and appropriate medications.

He took my call and listened to my description of the symptoms. There was no hesitation. ‘Get to a doctor immediately,’ he told me. He believed I was having a reaction to the Doxycycline.

As luck would have it, our fixer Jackie’s father was a local surgeon. She rang him and then drove me to see him. He came out of the operating theatre still in his scrubs, took one look at me and asked: ‘Where would you like the needle?’

It was an almost immediate recovery. As Jackie was driving me back to my hotel I was already starting to feel better.

I never took Doxycycline again. Instead, when malaria was going to be a risk, I packed a mosquito spray and ensured I wore long-sleeved shirts and long trousers.

Prevention was going to be my only cure.

* * *

No illness in my life was ever going to compare to what I was to encounter some months later.

The Ebola virus was first described in the 1970s near the Ebola River in the Congo. The symptoms are horrific and include internal and external bleeding. It’s so lethal that few humans who get it recover. And I was flying into Gulu in Uganda, where there’d just been an outbreak.

It was an uneasy story in every sense: the location, the transportation and the terror in the eyes of those suffering, and even of the medical staff treating them.

Having arrived in the capital Kampala late at night, we were all decidedly weary when we flew out to Gulu at 5.45 the next morning. With us was Professor John Mackenzie, a leading virologist from Queensland University whose expertise and sense of humour we’d already discovered on the long flight from Sydney.

I remember looking out the window of our small aircraft to Gulu, wondering what we’d find. It seemed the world was petrified by this virus – as were we, so much so that we’d toyed with the idea of bringing hazmat suits, those head-to-toe protective overalls you might think would make sense in such a deadly environment. But we’d been asked not to, because the sight of us looking like we’d landed from Mars would only add to the fear already felt by so many locals. It was a reasonable call, but it didn’t do much for our anxiety as we made our way through town.

Still, when entering and leaving the medical centre, we were given masks, gowns and boots and several layers of gloves to wear, then asked to step through a series of infection-barrier wash troughs.

When we walked inside, the Ebola sufferers’ agony was distressingly audible, and the only patients who were quiet were deathly ill. A small child crawled on the floor near to her dying mother. Medical staff said the child too was infected. For everyone in this centre, there was nowhere good to look.

It was overwhelming to witness the impact of this deadly virus and a relief to leave. I could only imagine how difficult it must be to work there and the terrible emotions such a desperate place would bring. Professor Mackenzie and other specialists from around the world told us of the challenge ahead in preventing the virus’s spread.

Several medical staff, including Matthew Lukwiya, the 43-year-old Ugandan doctor who had been leading the battle against Ebola in Gulu, died just four weeks after we left, as did a number of nurses. Every day they were on the front line, and when other medicos had left to work in safer places, they had chosen to stay.

They were the same staff who told us what to wear and where to stand. They were medical specialists but exhausted, which was perhaps the reason why they too came to be infected.

* * *

By the end of the year I felt ready for a break. If I have one regret, it’s not having been in Sydney for the Olympic Games. When Cathy Freeman stole the show with her incredible gold medal win in the 400-metre sprint, I was in a van in London, heading to the airport. Once I was home I just wanted to sit and not go anywhere. I needed time to myself, time with friends and especially time with Mum and Dad. I went to the dentist and doctor for check-ups, got a mole removed from my face. I had six weeks just to be me.

I laugh when I see a shopping list in my diary. Milk, bread, margarine, fish, ice-cream, potatoes (new) and onions (pickled). And a reminder to pick up my dry cleaning.
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Blasted Buddhas

If I’d thought the last year was a doozie, I had no idea that 2001 would see the whole world change.

At the 60 Minutes offices, Jeff McMullen – one of the programme’s most experienced reporters – had left the year before after nearly 16 years on the road, and political journalist Paul Lyneham, a more recent addition to the team, had died from lung cancer. Saying goodbye to them both meant losing an important wealth of knowledge.

The reporter line-up was now Richard Carleton, Charles Wooley and me, but soon we’d be welcoming Tara Brown and Peter Overton to fill the void.

At the start of the year, as we always did, we assembled at the office, still in a summer malaise, and tried not to think too much about the next jumbo jet we’d have to board. I was hoping to soak up more sunshine before inevitably being sent into a Northern Hemisphere winter.

It didn’t take long. On the morning of 28 February I was in Seattle, being shaken out of my relaxed mode by a 6.8-magnitude earthquake. We were driving in a van loaded up with all our bags and gear, heading for the airport. The vehicle seemed to be swaying, and I couldn’t see any good reason why the driver kept swerving. I remember asking him what the problem was. He thought he must have a flat tyre and pulled over to the side of the road, but it became clear we were being shaken by forces outside his control.

The news on the radio soon told us Seattle was experiencing a serious earthquake, one that would end up causing enormous damage and cost billions of dollars. Bill Gates was in the middle of a Microsoft conference in the ballroom at the Westin Hotel when parts of the ceiling came tumbling down.

All we could do was stay in the van. The airport was closed and we were going nowhere.

Or so we thought. As we discussed our options, the driver suddenly offered a solution.

‘How deep are your pockets?’ he asked. We couldn’t really answer that, but what he was suggesting made good sense. We could lift ourselves out of the earthquake zone if we hired a seaplane to Vancouver.

And that was what we did.

We eventually made it to New York, Miami and Paris to complete stories on human cloning, women boxers, including Muhammad Ali’s daughter Laila, and Australian fashion designer Collette Dinnigan.

During April, May and June I was travelling again, to the UK to report on foot and mouth disease in the United Kingdom, to the US to cover the development of a human mechanical heart, and to Ireland to report on the Dutch vessel Aurora, the so-called ‘abortion ship’, which controversially sailed to this very Catholic nation.

In the middle of all this I somehow managed to make it home for Dad’s 70th birthday. We gathered at a local Italian restaurant and celebrated heartily. My many and varied stories were always of interest to my parents, and for the farmers from a Catholic boat-building family, my last trip offered up plenty of conversation.

Mum and Dad were straddling a conservative past and the realities of the 21st century and, like me, they were learning more with each story. And even if we didn’t always agree, they appreciated hearing new information and were especially interested in hearing about the new parts of the world I’d visited.

* * *

Less than two weeks after Dad’s birthday, in late June, I was standing outside the Hilton Hotel in Anchorage, Alaska. We’d only arrived that night, and after a short conversation about the next day, we all fell into our respective beds.

But I’d barely closed my eyes when staff were pounding on my door, telling me to evacuate. A fire alarm had sent them into an understandable frenzy. With time only to grab a hotel dressing gown, I joined a throng, all looking like me, in the freezing cold outside. I looked for my colleagues but couldn’t see them. Surely, I thought, someone had woken them.

To my surprise, staff advised they hadn’t. They were on a much higher floor than I was and apparently were considered safe. I couldn’t quite believe it, but could do nothing other than wait until the all-clear, much later, then stumble back to my bed.

With very few hours’ sleep I greeted my colleagues for breakfast and grumbled about my night. They had no idea and not much interest. Besides, we had to get moving.

We were dropped onto the tundra next to the Aichilik River by a Beaver aircraft, manned by a pilot who looked awfully like the fictional pilot Biggles.

This was always going to be a demanding assignment. We were there to cover US President George W Bush’s plans to drill for oil in this pristine environment. Critics argued it was akin to putting a jackhammer through the Great Barrier Reef. What was more, it was feared that oil exploration would cause major disruption within the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge, in particular to the migration of its porcupine caribou herds. It’s been an ongoing political and environmental debate since the mid-1970s and continues to this day. Oil has always been like gold in America.

Now that I was here, I could not imagine why anyone would want to spoil such an extraordinary location. It was summer, and that meant it was light for nearly 24 hours a day. The sun never seemed to go down. Despite the warmer weather, the Aichilik River was iced over in many areas, its waters surging underneath. Travelling with us was Bob, our river guide, whose job it was to ensure we could cross safely. Fall through the ice and it might take you some time to come up for air, he told us.

This was just one challenge of life in the Arctic Circle. On a personal front, there were plenty more. Sorting out what to do with my bonce, for starters. Before arriving I’d had a ‘hair-brained’ idea that I’d be able to wash my locks in the river. I’d bought with me the environmentally friendly shampoo considered acceptable for such a location. So, when my hair needed a scrub, I got down on my hands and knees and plonked my head into the torrent. The freezing and, it turns out, rather fast-moving water nearly snapped my head off. From that moment on my hair would be permanently tucked away inside a beanie or a cap.

I, like the rest of the crew, was bedding down in a one-man tent, some distance from our food tent. This was a safety measure designed to separate us from any marauding brown bears in the area, who could apparently sniff a sizzling sausage from miles away.

Camping on the tundra meant there wasn’t a tree to be seen. Ablutions were to be conducted in broad daylight, out in the open, with nothing more than a roll of toilet paper, a small shovel, matches and a tin of bear mace. The latter was so that, should a grizzly approach, you had half a chance of defending yourself.

We were a team of three men and me. We had to have a candid discussion about how this daily chore would be best dealt with. We agreed that we’d split up and walk in different directions as far as possible from each other, so that no one was even tempted to peep.

It seemed to work. No one looked. But the business of lighting paper on a saturated tussock of spiked grass was not easy.

In this isolated and, even in midsummer, freezing environment, we were totally alone. We had to believe Biggles when he said he hoped to come back for us in about six days’ time. But he wasn’t sure. The weather, he said, would dictate his schedule.

In such a situation you make the most of it. But it did present one terrible and confronting moment.

One afternoon, at the end of a long walk while filming, Bob our guide suddenly came into our food tent and motioned that he was choking.

I must admit it took a little convincing to get the ravenous crew, Mick, Ben and Gareth my producer, who were busy devouring their reconstituted soup, to take my concerns about Bob seriously. But it was soon clear this was an emergency. Bob was gasping and starting to become very pale.

Gareth applied his best Heimlich manoeuvre, a procedure that isn’t always recommended. But his rib-cracking squeezes did the trick. Within seconds, Bob’s throat was cleared.

We were flummoxed when we learned that Bob had not been choking on food; he had a known condition that occasionally caused him to choke. Something he definitely hadn’t told us about before we left!

Bob retreated to his tent to recover. The incident had certainly unsettled him. He told us later that what had alarmed him most was our short discussion about whether we would have to make a hole in his throat to get air into his lungs. It was something we’d read in the emergency book that accompanied our comprehensive medical bag.

What had alarmed us most was that we were all Bob had. Nothing and no one else was there to stand in the way of his death.

I’m not sure he quite appreciated that.

* * *

Within months, issues like oil-drilling would be forgotten as the September 11 terrorist attacks on the US Pentagon and World Trade Center changed everything. Less than a month later, America and its allies launched an invasion of Afghanistan that would lead to a bitter 20-year war.

Somewhat ironically, I had been in Afghanistan just a few weeks before 9/11. I was there to understand from the ground level why so many were fleeing the country, and the desperate plight that made them easy prey for people smugglers. It was a story that had come off the back of the dreadful episode in late August, in which the Norwegian cargo vessel Tampa had rescued more than 400 asylum seekers from a sinking boat north of Christmas Island. They were mostly from Afghanistan, and 43 of them were children. The vessel and its captain were refused entry to Australia. It was a moment that led to new border security laws and set our moral compass whirling.

Without doubt the government’s concern was because so many asylum seekers, more than 5000 in 2001 alone, were turning to people smugglers, who took their money and pushed them out into leaky boats. But the way in which the government dealt with the issue attracted international condemnation. We changed the law, and Prime Minister John Howard began addressing it as a border protection issue. In what was called the ‘Pacific Solution’, asylum seekers from the Tampa were farmed out to neighbouring nations and processed offshore.

Our humanitarian heart, it was argued, had abandoned us. There was also the view that Australia had failed Arne Rinnan, the captain of the Tampa, caught in the middle of the debate and desperately needing assistance for over 400 new passengers, many of them unwell.

The human face of the issue was impossible to ignore.

I’d been to Afghanistan five years earlier, during the civil war between the Taliban and the Northern Alliance. The Taliban had won, and this time the Afghanistan I saw was a country of terrible poverty, squalor and fear. So many people were fleeing the Taliban’s strict Islamic rule, in which it seemed only the lucky or those with money had any hope of escaping.

Thousands of people were living in refugee camps on the border with Pakistan. As I walked through one of the cities of tents where families huddled and hoped for a better life, I could only imagine, if it were me, what I might do.

I looked at the mothers and their malnourished children and never doubted why they’d squeeze onto a fishing boat, no matter how battered, and set sail across an uncertain sea. And I thought how terrible it must be to arrive in a nation where no one wants to help you, to take you into their safe home.

The Taliban minister I spoke to didn’t believe his government should shoulder the blame for the horrors his nation was facing. He didn’t deny that there had been violations of human rights, but considered that a part of war. The Taliban were simply being judged, he claimed, because of their religion.

The Taliban had a long list of intolerances, including the magnificent Buddhas of Bamiyan, which I’d visited on my last trip. They were to the Taliban simply statues that had no place in their world.

It had taken 200 or more men three weeks and a large supply of dynamite to blast them to pieces in March 2001.

I was shocked to see their destruction. The places where the Buddhas had once stood were now two large gaping holes in a cliff face, surrounded by rocks and rubble. Like two teeth missing from a smile.

When we left Afghanistan we drove through the Khyber Pass into Pakistan. It was a scene of utter chaos, as thousands of Afghans were trying desperately to leave with us.

In my diary I’ve written ‘Cracked’. I remember feeling exhausted and retreating to my hotel room to cry, then feeling foolish, because I had nothing to cry about.

I was not in a tent and I had plenty to eat. And I wasn’t on a sinking boat in the middle of the ocean, trying to find a new home.

* * *

Ironically, I would be on a very different kind of boat soon afterwards.

On 7 October, America and its allies declared war on the Taliban for hiding Osama Bin Laden, the architect of the 9/11 attacks.

Everything changed after 9/11. I remember being in Melbourne watching the late news in my hotel room and seeing what simply appeared unbelievable as a jet hit the first of the Twin Towers in New York. After the second jet struck, I was never going to sleep.

I, like everyone else, realised these crashes were no coincidence. And with every new report that followed, I, like everyone else, had that terrible sinking feeling: this was not going to end well.

And it didn’t.

Within weeks, the most powerful nation in the world was at war, determined to take down those who found the Western world so abhorrent. Never had America been so wounded on home soil and this payback was coming from a deep and emotional place.

My 60 Minutes colleagues and I flew into Bahrain to experience this combat first-hand, joining the world’s largest aircraft carrier, the USS Theodore Roosevelt, and her crew of 5500 in the Persian Gulf. It was from this giant vessel that America was waging its war against the Taliban.

But just getting there was a dangerous mission.

Before we left it had been described to me as a controlled crash landing. Touching down on a moving ship apparently required a heads-up. At our briefing we were told there would be no slowing down when we hit the deck.

At 2am we boarded a C2 transport plane and were reminded again that plenty of things on this flight could go wrong. We might have to attempt several landings, depending on the conditions. We might land and have to immediately take off again, and we might ditch into the drink. I looked across at my colleagues Gareth Harvey and Mick Morris, who didn’t appear the slightest bit concerned.

I was.

For so long I looked out my window and all I could see was water, then suddenly, out of nowhere, the Roosevelt appeared. A floating landing strip on a mighty war machine, out in the middle of the sea.

The moment had arrived. We were descending with alarming speed to ensure we could take off again, if the tail hook on our aircraft failed to make contact with one of four cables stretched across the now rather short-looking deck.

As our wheels touched down, the engines were immediately turned to full power. We prayed we’d get hooked.

And clenched our cheeks when we were.

We’d arrived.

The Roosevelt was a floating city. Crewed by young men and women, with an average age of 19, who were fully engaged in seeking retribution for the nearly 3000 lives lost in the 9/11 attacks. Bombs and missiles carried personal messages for their intended targets.

The ship’s captain, Richard O’Hanlon, believed he and his crew had little choice, that this was a conflict that couldn’t be avoided. This was war on terrorism.

Up close, the Roosevelt’s ferocity was confronting. There would be no resting during my two-day stay. Sleep was impossible.

The sounds, the smells, the flames from fighter jets on their night missions were from another world and a reminder that war should always be a last resort.
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Wire Cages

On the receiving end of America’s attack on Afghanistan was an Australian.

David Hicks was a young man from Adelaide who by his own admission was a not-so-squeaky-clean, impulsive youth in search of somewhere to belong, who had converted to Islam and travelled to Pakistan and later Afghanistan.

After 9/11, Hicks was captured, and in late January 2002 he ended up in Guantanamo Bay, a 116-square-kilometre pocket of land in Cuba and home to the brutal and contentious detention centre controlled by the United States.

It’s actually a military naval base accommodating about 6000 people, including families. It is essentially a small town.

I arrived two months after Hicks, along with a contingent of the world’s media. Other than a tropical sweat, I had no sense of being in Cuba. Everything there was American. The shops, bars and food outlets, including a McDonald’s, were all to American tastes. And I must admit I enjoyed the pizza and beer. But it all tasted a little sour later. As we viewed Camp X-Ray and its cells, and circled the razor wire in a military vehicle, it took me some time to take in exactly what we were looking at.

Chained men in orange jumpsuits. Wearing goggles. Sitting in wire cages. David Hicks was one of them.

It was hard to know how to feel.

It was explained to us that there were no medium-security facilities because there was no such thing as a medium-security terrorist. But there were some comforting touches. An outdoor wire cell block was described to us as being painted in a green colour ‘chosen for its soothing aspect’.

Maybe the horror of 9/11 had made it seem reasonable to those who had captured them, but there was little getting away from seeing that these prisoners were being treated little better than animals. And before long, it was a view held by many around the world.

* * *

If there was a glimmer of hope that the dreadful divisions then engulfing the world would ever cease, I was pinning it on the King and Queen of Jordan.

They were the future: a modern-day couple with a deep knowledge of the past. For them, remaining friends with both the West and the Middle East was a delicate dance.

Royalty had never looked so good. Nor had royal bathrooms. The loo I used was gold!

Queen Rania, the daughter of a Palestinian doctor, was approached at school about becoming a model. King Abdullah was the warm and welcoming military man who had spent years training in the West. They were in many ways an everyday couple. And neither of them had had any plans to wear a crown.

‘If I went to a fortune teller and they told me that this was going to be my life, I would ask for my money back,’ Queen Rania told me while sitting in their luxurious home in Amman.

Before he became King, Abdullah did military training in Montreal, Canada, with Rania and their children. ‘She’d make the breakfast, drive me to the school, pick me up afterwards,’ he told me. ‘I’d come back, do the cooking, the laundry . . .’

That stopped me. The King did the laundry?

‘Well, being a soldier, I’m pretty good with an iron. I mean, that was the type of life that we lived. We lived a regular life as much as we could.’

In 1998, before Abdullah’s father, King Hussein, died, he designated his son to succeed him – not his brother, as everyone, including Abdullah, had expected.

‘He said, “I made this decision.” I said, “Yes, sir, but I don’t want this”, and he said, “Well, that’s one of the reasons I think that I picked you.”’

Rania told me she and Abdullah went from having a family of four, to having a family of four million, and there were times when she doubted she was up to the job.

They were, they both said, literally taking life ‘day to day’.

Queen Rania, said Abdullah, had become many Jordanians’ ‘Princess Diana’. And to the West, he said, she was perhaps a surprise: an Arab Muslim queen who was also an articulate English speaker, with a strong knowledge of the issues the world was facing.

Abdullah, too, had made some interesting choices while trying to keep it real.

As if in an episode of Undercover Boss, he would dress in disguise and mingle incognito among his people. Ordinarily those around him tended to tell him what they thought he wanted to hear, he said, so he’d decided to hit the streets and check out matters for himself.

The King and Queen were refreshingly open. Whenever they could, the family climbed aboard the King’s large and impressive black Harley-Davidson motorcycle and rode through the district. And they enjoyed nothing more than firing up the barbecue at their summer digs by the Red Sea.

Abdullah informed me he was the family chef.

‘Gee, if we’d known that we could have brought you the Australian barbecue book,’ I joked.

‘That’s how I started,’ he said, stumbling to remember the name of his favourite recipe book. ‘Women’s . . . Women’s . . .’

‘Weekly!’ I exclaimed.

‘Yes!’

‘Get out of here!’ I replied, sounding very Aussie.

‘Yes’, said the Queen, ‘they have the best recipes.’

Before we left, Queen Rania handed me a gift of some local handmade coasters to take home, and King Abdullah mentioned that the family wanted to spend time in Australia because they’d heard about this place called ‘the Gold Coast’.

I don’t know if they ever made it. There was a lot on their plate.

I still have the coasters, and when I plonk down my favourite plonk on them, I am reminded of King Abdullah’s forecast for that year.

In his opinion, 2002 would be ‘the critical year’ for politics in the Middle East. If we didn’t get it right then, it was going to be ‘a long uphill struggle’.

And he was right.

* * *

While the Jordanian royals had had no plan to find themselves in the spotlight, Keith Urban had.

He was, he told me, ‘a bit of a show-off’, and he’d always wanted to be ‘that guy up in the spotlight’ ever since his dad had taken him to a Johnny Cash concert.

Urban was born in New Zealand but did nearly all his growing up in Caboolture, Queensland. When I caught up with him in Nashville, the US capital of country music, he appeared very much the quintessential Aussie. Wearing a blue singlet and a bandanna on his head, he gave me a tour of the bus that he and his band used to travel the country, chasing Keith’s musical dream. It had 12 beds and a well-stocked bar.

Urban was happy, and he had every right to be. After 10 years of hard yakka, he was finally a bona-fide star. America had discovered him and they liked what they heard and saw: a rock guitarist with songs they loved, who also had undeniable sex appeal. Mike Dungan, the President of Capitol Records Nashville, told me he’d never seen anyone with as much ‘horizontal and vertical potential’ as Urban, and judging by the overwhelming enthusiasm of his fans I think I could guess at what he meant by that.

At the time Urban was single and had not embraced sobriety. The spotlight had found him and, like the proverbial moth to the flame, he’d been drawn dangerously close to it.

When he married Nicole Kidman in 2006, and then lost his way as he battled addiction, the spotlight would shine like never before. For this boy from the bush in Queensland, it was without doubt a searing experience.

The Keith I met on the bus, with his band in tow and a beer in his hand, seemed so very relaxed. He’d sold his first million records and the world must have looked pretty good. But today he seems to be a different Keith.

He continues to be successful and is happily married to Nicole, but I sense that with all that attention he is, at least in public, a little more self-conscious. And if that is the case it is entirely understandable.

It is an odd business, as I found out, to be constantly on show.

* * *

In 2002, my year included sitting down with actress Cate Blanchett and punching it out metaphorically with boxing and home-brewing champion Kostya Tszyu, as well as travelling to the big end of China to talk to the wealthy about living in a communist country.

I found Shanghai and Beijing exciting places. But that wasn’t how I felt in June that year when I travelled to Kashmir.

I have felt real fear only a few times. Those moments when you really do think something could go terribly wrong. When, for an instant, you feel vulnerable and in trouble.

The moment that stays in my mind is while I was sitting alone in a car in Srinagar, the largest city in the very beautiful but highly disputed state of Kashmir, nestled into the Himalayas. We were there filming a story on the constant and complex conflict, mostly between India and Pakistan, about who was in charge.

Earlier in the year I’d interviewed Pervez Musharraf, a former army general who, after a rather unpleasant coup d’état in 2001, had taken over as President of Pakistan. For a bloke who’d stolen the job and gaoled his predecessor, he was a rather charming man. He would later begin talks with India to resolve their dispute over Kashmir.

But here we were to see for ourselves this place that everyone wanted.

I thought I’d tag along with the rest of the crew, who were filming pictures of the city and the stunning sights of this irresistible location. But when the others took a few extra minutes to capture some footage of the bustling streets, I decided to stay in the car. It was cold, and I was glad to be sitting inside in the sun.

I’d only been alone for a few minutes when I noticed a group of young men looking at me from 100 metres or so away. I can’t say exactly why, but I began to feel very uneasy. Especially when I realised that the crew were no longer in sight.

The group of young men continued to watch me. I thought it was because of my blonde hair, and also because I must have seemed odd, a woman sitting in a car on my own.

I knew if they approached there’d be little I could do. Should I stay where I was, or should I get out and try to find the crew?

I decided if this was trouble approaching, I’d better stay put. Lock the doors. Attract attention. Scream. Put up a fight. Leaving the car would only make it easier to be swept up and taken.

I’d already had an experience in Budapest, walking from a restaurant back to my hotel, when a man had linked his arm into one of mine and attempted to pull me away. Fortunately I’d reached the front door of my hotel, and I managed to wrench myself out of his grip and into the foyer. I realised then how easy it was to be taken. And I considered myself lucky.

The difference now was watching and waiting to see if something might happen.

The minutes ticked by. Three or four men started moving towards me. And they kept staring.

Then, like a scene out of a bad movie, the crew reappeared. Nonchalantly making their way back to the car, smiling and chatting.

I was instantly relieved, and a bit out of sorts. How could they be so happy when I’d been so frightened?

Of course they had no idea that I’d felt so threatened. And it’s hard to know what might have happened. But I never willingly put myself in that situation again.

* * *

At home my sense of safety was also taking a battering. I would be reminded that there was still someone seeking me out when Mum and Dad rang to say they’d had a most unusual and unexpected visitor.

When this stranger told them he was looking for me, my parents instantly realised who they were talking to. Dad politely dealt with him, but the whole incident raised my fears to a new level.

This was someone who was not only deluded. He also seemed determined.
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Diva

It is truly unsettling being with someone who has committed a heinous crime. I’ve interviewed a number of dreadful people, and each time I’m left shocked at the depravity of some human beings. And moreover, at how they try to rationalise their behaviour.

Bill MacDonald and Leonard Lawson were serial killers.

MacDonald became known as ‘The Mutilator’ after stabbing his five male victims to death and then removing their genitals. He had terrorised Sydney’s inner city during his murderous spree during the early 1960s. There was nothing nice about Bill, and when I met him he agreed he was a monster.

Lawson, a rapist and murderer, had been a successful comic book artist and photographer. His criminal behaviour had also been relentless. He raped three women in 1954, and after being released from gaol seven years later he struck again, raping and murdering another young girl and taking a hall full of Sydney school students hostage before shooting to death a 15-year-old pupil.

And he still wasn’t finished. While in prison he held another young woman, a visiting dancer, at knife point. She would never recover from the horror of that experience.

I didn’t feel nervous about being with Leonard Lawson, just unsettled that I was with someone who had had no compunction in committing such devastating crimes. I could only wonder what kind of person does that.

But when we met in his medium-security prison in Grafton in 2003, he presented as a pathetic figure who offered misty eyes while telling me he was deeply remorseful. It felt a little like being in the confessional. He’d often rub his head while trying to explain his actions and telling me that he was still to come to terms with what he had done.

He’d had, he said, a normal upbringing and a great family: a wonderful wife and three children. Then, pointing to his head he said, ‘I simply lost the plot.’

And for what it was worth, Leonard Lawson wanted me to know he was being punished. He’d avoided the death sentence, but that meant it would take 28 years before he could walk on grass or see the stars, the moon, a sunset or a sunrise.

Obviously no longer deemed a threat, on the inside at least, he had surprisingly been given a key to his own cell. ‘You have to,’ he said. ‘The place is full of thieves.’

He showed me the paintings he was working on, artwork that he was donating to charity. ‘I want to at least put something back into society. By that, I can at least live with myself.’

Lawson didn’t expect to be forgiven, and if you were the families of his victims, it would be understandable that he never would.

While Lawson presented as a man seeking a generous hearing, MacDonald, The Mutilator, was pragmatic. He shuffled backward and forward in his tiny cell, admitting that all he was doing was keeping himself busy until he died. He was he said, a monster, and that was that. ‘It was like a drug addiction. I couldn’t stop.’

He was also a loner who chose not to have friends, and in 37 years I was his third visitor. ‘I like people, but I don’t trust them,’ he said.

He preferred to be in prison because he considered it a better life. It’s perhaps not what we want to hear, but the truth is that Bill MacDonald’s life outside of prison was unstable. He told me he was never able to keep a job and never knew where he’d find his next meal.

He uttered words of regret but I sensed he felt his crimes were not of his doing, they were, he wanted me to believe, the result of his poor mental health.

MacDonald and Lawson were two entirely different people who had committed equally dreadful crimes. Lawson felt at times that the death sentence would have been kinder to him, while MacDonald was glad for his life in prison.

For both of them, the final disgrace was to die in gaol. To me it appeared entirely appropriate.

* * *

Punishment comes in many forms.

For me it was interviewing celebrities because it’s usually such a palaver.

I’m never a good choice to send into that somewhat contrived world. I’m not a good groveller. I will abide by the agreed rules, but I’m not begging anyone. My position is that if you don’t want to do the interview, don’t turn up.

And that was exactly what Mariah Carey did when we were supposed to interview her in New York: not turn up for many hours.

It was a cool February evening. We’d been cancelled the day before and rebooked to interview the great songstress at 8pm, after a shoot she was to do earlier in the evening. We’d set up in a large warehouse studio immediately next door to make it easy and convenient for Mariah.

But when 8pm, the allotted time, arrived, Mariah was a no-show.

So, we waited. And when we politely inquired about Mariah’s estimated time of arrival, we were promised that we wouldn’t be waiting too long.

The minutes ticked away. And with each passing hour, Nick Greenaway my producer politely checked in with Carey’s people to see when their songbird might front.

By the time we’d clocked up four hours of standing around, we were well into the night. And we all began to ask ourselves: why were we staying?

And still, in answer to our many, now exasperated inquiries came the same guarantee that Ms Carey would be with us very soon.

And on it went. Then on some more. It was maddening. After we’d come this far, and waited so long, the decision facing us was when to pull the pin.

Finally, in the small hours of the next morning, at nearly 3am, Ms Carey, in her highest of heels, click-clacked through the door. By then we’d all fallen into a coma.

What she’d been doing during all those hours, we had no idea. There was never any explanation.

She was well turned out and sugary sweet. Her personal lighting man, who’d been flown in at her insistence, tweaked the shine in her eyes, and the sleep in mine.

What did she say? Not much. And me, even less. It was an unremarkable interview. My spark had fizzled, and any kind thoughts I’d held about stars had comprehensively flamed out. My interest in her had died, as I almost had.

When it was all over, which wasn’t quickly enough for my liking, I walked back to our hotel, heading for bed. I stopped, startled for a moment. The cleaners were running their mops over the foyer, and I realised that pretty soon the sun would be coming up. I couldn’t believe I’d left my New York hotel room in the afternoon, and was returning in time for the next day’s breakfast.

I could only assume that we were very low in the pop diva’s pecking order. Despite all the agreements and our endless efforts to accommodate her shifting timetable, we were the last on her list of priorities. Actually, I’m surprised she turned up at all.

* * *

I ended the year sitting with my former Channel Nine boss Sam Chisholm, watching him take deep and uninhibited breaths for the first time.

He’d not long been the recipient of a double lung transplant after years of struggling with a severe and debilitating respiratory disease, the result of an inherited lung problem.

We sat on the veranda of his sprawling Yass homestead on a glorious November afternoon, and talked about his near-death experience and the new life he’d been gifted. This was an introspective Sam, who was acutely aware his life had been renewed because someone else’s hadn’t.

He was deeply grateful and it was a unique moment.

I’d always been the employee and Sam had always been in control, but today the roles were reversed. His story was in my hands and he knew I was asking him to be vulnerable. It was not his natural habitat, and as I sat opposite him I momentarily thought of the many times he’d sat looking back at me from behind his desk, sizing me up before deciding whether or not my day was going to be a good one.

In the days and years that followed, Sam would draw plenty of deep breaths, though there would be many who lamented the fact that a new set of lungs had done little to change his pugnacious personality and bull-like bellow.

Sam Chisholm was too human for that.

But behind the scenes with his wife, Sue, there was another Sam, who worked tirelessly to ensure that others who needed a donated organ got to be as lucky as him. His generosity extended well beyond what might have been expected, even to other recipients who’d not been as financially secure as he was.

The tough Sam could be very soft.
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Porridge

Schapelle Corby looked every inch the frightened young Aussie surf chick she should have been when we met in November 2004. The 27-year-old had been caught at Bali’s Denpasar airport with more than 4 kilos of marijuana, about the size of a full pillow, inside her boogie-board bag.

Corby was potentially facing the death sentence, and every news outlet, including Nine, wanted to hear her story. The picture in all the media reports of a young Queensland woman, with ocean-blue eyes and well-plucked eyebrows, looking out as she gripped the bars of her prison cell, was shocking.

When our 60 Minutes team flew to Bali, Schapelle had already spent a month in her steamy Indonesian cell, but the horror of her situation was still sinking in. Our time with Schapelle was limited. We had arranged to meet her at the police headquarters in Denpasar and we waited in an assigned room for guards to bring her to us. Even in this relatively comfortable environment, with a large lounge and coffee table, I didn’t expect our Australian prisoner to feel any better. And she didn’t.

Schapelle arrived wearing a white T-shirt, her hair pulled back, looking unsettled. She knew that this would be the first time Australians would hear her explain what had happened.

She’d come to Bali in October for a holiday with family and friends. Bali was where her sister Mercedes lived and where Schapelle said she’d visited five or six times before. And it was a country that she well knew did not abide drugs of any kind. She knew that to be caught with them might prove fatal.

She was stopped at the airport by a customs officer, who told me later he thought Schapelle was behaving nervously. When he found the drugs in her bag, he said he believed she’d known they were there.

With tears welling up and her voice breaking, Schapelle told me she felt she was living someone else’s horrible life. She’d vomited for five days after her arrest and was living, she said, in a cage.

With a nervous giggle that I felt was coming from a deep, dark place, she looked at me and then asked herself: ‘What’s the use of me trying to survive these days, anyway?’

Schapelle didn’t expect to face the death penalty, but at 27 years of age, the thought of living in a squalid Bali gaol cell for the rest of her life, or even for 20 years, had little merit.

ME: You couldn’t do that?

SCHAPELLE: For my family I could; for myself, what’s the use? I’d be, like, 50 by the time I get out, and I’d never be married, never have children.

So many Australians didn’t want to believe she’d known that her boogie-board bag was filled with drugs. But I had to ask her. And I did several times. Her response on each occasion was an emotional and slightly high-pitched, ‘No.’ She was not, she said, a drug dealer, or even a drug user. She said she’d never bought drugs in her life.

Before I left, I asked one more time if she could tell the Australian people whether the allegations against her were untrue. She looked down the barrel of the camera and said: ‘I am innocent.’

When I returned to Bali on 27 May the following year for the live broadcast of Schapelle’s verdict, the judge begged to differ. As Schapelle stood to hear her sentence of 20 years in prison, she looked confused and disbelieving. Her family screamed, and what had already been a sensational case turned into an extraordinary media spectacle.

It was a story I would revisit a number of times. In mid-2016 I interviewed Schapelle’s younger half-brother James Kisina, who was with Schapelle on that fateful flight into Bali and who was initially taken into custody with his sister.

He told me how confused and scared he’d felt. But, like the rest of the family, he said Schapelle was innocent.

‘I know she’s innocent, because I saw her pack her bag,’ he told me. He said he’d seen it only contained flippers and a boogie board.

In August of 2005, a letter from an Australian government official revealed that police had dismantled a drug-smuggling syndicate involving baggage handlers who were working in Sydney airport on the date Schapelle passed through on her way to Bali. Schapelle’s legal team launched an appeal, but it mattered not.

Schapelle was finally released on parole in February 2014, having served 9 years of her 20-year prison sentence. Three years later she was deported to Australia.

Whatever the truth, Schapelle’s fate was yet another salutary lesson to all that drugs and Bali don’t mix.

In June the next year, though, I was sitting across from another Australian, model Michelle Leslie, who’d been gaoled in Bali for possessing two ecstasy pills in August 2005. She claimed she’d been set up when the car she was travelling in was pulled over late at night. The pills were allegedly found in her purse, and Michelle claimed that later at the police station she was told she could buy her way to freedom. All it would take was $25,000.

After some legal wrangling, and making admissions about taking drugs – a necessary part of her passage to freedom, she said – Leslie was released just three months into her prison sentence.

Her family had mortgaged the family home and paid some $300,000 to help their daughter. More had come from Michelle’s then boyfriend.

But the cost was more than dollars and cents. It was an experience that nearly broke her family’s hearts and left Michelle deeply affected.

* * *

Drugs were a bit of a taboo subject when I raised the topic with a certain Hollywood star.

Not long after sitting down with Schapelle, I was in London to interview actor Robert Downey Jr, who had not long come out of a difficult era with drugs. In 2005 he wasn’t quite the superstar he is today, but he had made his mark in a number of films and television shows.

His drug-taking had been well publicised and he’d just recently given a heartfelt and open interview to Oprah Winfrey about the tough life he’d lived during his years of substance abuse.

I was there to interview him about a musical album he’d put out that would end up receiving mixed reviews. The interview was set for 10.30am, and we had arrived early and set up a number of cameras in a pretty swish five-star Regent hotel suite. We had grand plans. We’d interview Downey Jr first, then get him to bang out a tune on a piano that we had ready not too far away. All of this, of course, had been arranged in consultation with his people, and all, of course, was dependent on whether Downey Jr felt like it on the day.

His American public relations person arrived to check the room and make sure that all was good for her client. Downey Jr was running late, and when he did arrive he seemed a little slow out of the blocks. He gave us a short acknowledgment, then asked for a bowl of porridge before disappearing into another room for hair and make-up.

When he took his seat for the interview, I instinctively sensed he wasn’t really in the mood. Then when we started he simply stared at Grant, our sound man, who was positioned at his side.

It was odd, given I was asking the questions. I might have been wrong, but I wondered whether, by refusing to look at me, he was perhaps hoping to unsettle me. Either way, I was of the opinion that he’d woken up that morning wishing he could just go back to sleep.

I got some arbitrary answers from him to my early questions. But when I raised his rough ride through those earlier years on drugs, he did look at me. And was apparently unimpressed.

‘Liz,’ fired his PR person.

I continued, mentioning that I understood Mel Gibson had been a major support.

‘This is fucked!’ said Downey Jr, now glaring at me. And with that he stood up and walked into the other room.

I didn’t think this was a subject off limits. ‘Sorry, Robert did a whole program with Oprah Winfrey about this,’ I said, looking at his PR person.

Her reply was that ‘Oprah was different.’

And I couldn’t argue with that, but I could argue that Downey Jr had talked at length about drugs and not appeared to be upset by it. Until now.

A huddle of sorts occurred in the other room where Downey Jr was holed up. There was a difficulty, it seemed. I’m guessing that the concern was it didn’t look good for Downey Jr to be seen walking out of an interview.

His PR person returned and advised us Robert would be prepared to sit down and say goodbye nicely. I told her, without the niceties, that there was no point.

It was an unfortunate end to an interview that I would have preferred to have gone well. Downey Jr had seemed like an open and honest talker, and a great voice on how to beat those terrible demons.

* * *

I moved on. Four days later I interviewed American actor and comedian Ben Stiller, this time at nearby Soho Hotel. In another plush suite, he sat looking relaxed and talked about all manner of things.

Like a lot of comedians who are also actors, he was reasonably serious. Being funny is work and the expectation of having us all falling about must get tiresome.

Still, a Stiller moment is what we all wanted.

There was no lack of moments with Will Smith. He was as smooth as they come, actually irrepressibly flirtatious, and I should have been better prepared for that, because our interview was off the back of his latest film, Hitch, about a professional ‘love doctor’.

From the get-go, Smith was a charmer. He walked in and kissed me on both cheeks, then during the interview kissed me twice more on the hand. I was burning and my face was on fire.

We talked about racism and how he was the ‘Man in Black’ who had cut through the racial divide to become one of the industry’s most bankable stars. But with his new film about men, women and love, it was inevitable we talked about relationships and, as the ‘love doctor’, what he believed a man needed to do to win over a woman. It was an extraordinary conversation.

At the end all I had left was a terrible admission: ‘I am blushing so badly.’ I was all flirted out.

With that memory irrevocably locked in my mind, it was somewhat unbelievable in 2022 to watch Will Smith, the man who had been so charming, walk onstage and violently slap fellow actor and comedian Chris Rock at the 94th Academy Awards.

Smith would later apologise profusely for his actions, but the damage was done. That one moment of madness had done him no favours.

If he’s anything like me, someone who constantly revisits all the things I could have done better, then that decision might keep him awake at night perhaps for the rest of his life.
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End of an Era

I was still in London in February 2005 when the Today show said goodbye to the man with whom I had had the most enduring professional relationship.

Unlike me, Steve Liebmann was born for morning television, and it was hard to imagine him ever hanging up his RM Williams boots. But he had a mild heart issue and, as he’d said in the counter-terrorism campaign he’d fronted for the Australian Government, he wasn’t ‘alarmed’ but he was being ‘alert’.

It was the end of an era and the beginning of a new one for the 23-year-old morning show, and the face of that new era would be Karl Stefanovic, Nine’s former US correspondent.

There was change too at 60 Minutes when Charles Wooley took a break. His sabbatical lasted four years before he came back and stayed for another decade.

* * *

In August, on the eve of the 2005 US Open, I was in the sweltering heat of Dubai with the very cool Roger Federer, the undisputed star of tennis. With him was his coach, former Australian tennis champ Tony Roche.

Dripping in sweat from the 44-degree-Celsius heat, I watched Roche put Federer through his paces, barely believing what I was seeing. A perspiring Federer sans shirt was a vision of sheer muscle and athleticism, and I, my hair clumsily tucked into my cap, was not.

Federer is one of a number of elite sports people I’ve interviewed over the years, including cyclists, cricketers, swimmers, jockeys and another tennis great, Andre Agassi. Andre and his wife, Steffi Graf, proved to be a welcoming couple when we visited them at their home in Las Vegas. But in this high-pressure world of athletes, Federer would have to be one of the more humble, and emotional. He told me he cried easily and was somewhat embarrassed about that. When he lost and when he won, and when he eventually retired, he cried a lot. And for that, we loved him.

But that emotion is not to be confused with weakness. He was tough and determined and disciplined. He was, as Tony Roche said, a genius on the court and among the best ever in the sport. And off the court, he was a gentleman.

When I repeated the compliments to him, Roger simply replied, ‘Those comparisons make me hot.’

He was also someone who didn’t need an entourage. At the time it was his then girlfriend Mirka who travelled with him. She helped him avoid feeling lonely, as so many did on the tennis circuit, living in hotels for months at a time. She managed his needs and was his cheerleader. She is now his wife.

For all his success, Roger told me he understood he was only experiencing a moment in time.

‘Tennis will live on but you won’t,’ he said ‘You are just there in the moment. You can never be bigger than the game and you always have to remember that.’

As luck would have it, Agassi turned up in Dubai to have a hit of tennis with Federer.

They were two greats, living in the moment.

* * *

Federer’s words of wisdom stayed with me as I boarded yet another jet and flew to report yet another story. I too was living in a moment and I could only appreciate the experiences ahead of me.

I went on to the famous Moulin Rouge theatre in Paris to find that its line-up of dancers was dominated by Australians. In this very French show the girls from Down Under were considered fit and healthy, with long legs and excellent dancing skills. And, the girls told me, ‘nice-shaped breasts’ also counted. A place that had been open as long as the Eiffel Tower has been standing, the Moulin Rouge had been given the Hollywood treatment four years earlier in the film starring Nicole Kidman.

I felt like I was in my own cabaret with the 60 Minutes troupe as we moved on to interview actor Steve Martin, who when we met again in 2019 would tell me he couldn’t wait to come to Australia and to Tasmania. Embarrassingly he knew more than I did about MONA, Hobart’s Museum of Old and New Art.

In my disparate world of subjects to cover, I went from actors to the horror of Auschwitz, the Nazi concentration camp in Poland; to the Australian outback with a team trying to save the almost-extinct and very tiny marsupial, the bilby; to Amsterdam, Japan and Alaska; and found time to co-host the opening of the Commonwealth Games with Ray Martin. And then, in Sydney, a story that really made me sit up and listen. Senior Chinese diplomat Chen Yonglin, his wife and young daughter were in hiding. He’d defected, and was now a man on the edge, scared and frustrated by his family’s predicament. He burst into tears as he and his wife pushed his daughter on a swing in a harbourside park.

Chen Yonglin told me that for the past four years, he had been spying on Australian Chinese – particularly members of the Falun Gong religious movement – on the orders of the Chinese Government. He said he had been deeply affected by the experience and in all conscience, couldn’t keep doing so. He talked of a thousand Chinese agents and spies working in Australia, and he alleged there had been kidnappings sanctioned by his government. And now he too feared being snatched up and whisked away.

If what he was saying was true, Australians had every right to be outraged.

His actions posed a diplomatic nightmare, but ultimately the Australian Government would grant Chen Yonglin and his family permanent protection visas.

To stay, he said, meant freedom.

* * *

In all my travels, one of the most delightful interludes happened to occur around this time in the Qantas lounge at Sydney airport. Our flight had been delayed, and as we waited, sound man Micky Breen caught sight of Australian author Tim Winton. Both Mick and I were big fans and had just read his latest novel, The Riders.

To Winton’s horror yet bemusement, I suspect, he allowed himself to be dragged into our circle, where we peppered him with questions. At the time he was not a happy media performer and didn’t seem comfortable in the spotlight, yet here he was, caught in the vice-like grip of the very people he’d otherwise avoid. But he endured and made us happy, then appeared equally happy when it was time for us to depart.

* * *

Come the end of 2005, Ben and I did what we wouldn’t normally do: we packed our bags and travelled again. Only this time it was a trip just for us – to New York. We knew the city pretty well by now and planned to luxuriate in its madness and electrifying energy.

It was freezing cold, but we loved being tourists. Christmas in the Big Apple is a special event; the city celebrates in a big way. Department store windows featured extraordinary decorations, and despite the need for hats and gloves, there is nothing quite like walking the streets and finding that special restaurant.

But just as the first flakes of snow dropped, the call came that Kerry Packer – the astute and bullish owner of Nine, and ultimately my boss – had died. It felt like a blow, even though most of his employees, and just about everyone else, knew he hadn’t been well. He’d been deemed clinically dead for nearly eight minutes back in 1990 after suffering a heart attack while playing polo. When brought back to life he famously told a reporter: ‘I’ve been to the other side, and let me tell you, son, there’s f–ing nothing there.’

Ten years later Packer received a new kidney, donated by his helicopter pilot Nick Ross, but when that began to fail, he did what he always did, and grabbed the rudder. He decided against any further treatment.

So now he was dead. The apex predator of media barons, the fiercely passionate and demanding television viewer we either loved or loathed, had hit the ‘Off’ button on his remote control.

Whether he’d been nasty or nice, this domineering character, a major influence and key player in both media and sport, was gone, and most knew the likes of him wouldn’t be appearing again for a very long time.

As nearly 2000 of us crammed into the Sydney Opera House for his memorial service, I didn’t know whether this was the kind of public send-off he would have wanted. Despite his extraordinary wealth, he could be very comfortable with the understated and ordinary.

In the short time I spent with Packer, as his mate Singleton’s partner and as his employee, I heard and saw a range of Kerrys. He could be a smart, sweet, generous, brutal and on one occasion with me, a quite vulnerable man. We talked about love, life, marriage and family. We also talked about work, and a couple of times about whether he thought I was a delight or a dud.

Sitting high up in the Opera House pews, I bade Kerry Francis Bullmore Packer farewell knowing full well that for Channel Nine, this was the end of an era.

* * *

I felt the same when, less than five months later, on 6 May 2006, my 60 Minutes colleague Richard Carleton died. I’d just returned from Perth after filming a story on skilled migrants, while Richard was in Tasmania covering one of the biggest mining disasters in Australia’s history. A rockfall at the Beaconsfield gold mine had killed one miner, Larry Knight, and two others, Brant Webb and Todd Russell, would be trapped for 14 nights nearly a kilometre underground.

It was a Saturday, and I was at home when executive producer John Westacott called me into the office. Westy had been shaken by news that Carleton had collapsed during a press conference, but when he rang me he was still hoping Richard might be saved.

Richard and I had worked together for 10 years, and over that time I’d come to find, inside this fierce and provocative interrogator, a big softie. He was a husband, a father and a stubborn co-worker, who was not easy to budge if the story he was being asked to report on didn’t suit him. Producer Allan Hogan once said that if Richard didn’t like a story, he was ‘hell on wheels’.

Richard loved performing magic tricks. A sleight of hand featuring coloured handkerchiefs and missing thumbs was his way of breaking the ice in tense situations. And all before he’d take on his next subject and, just as theatrically, slice and dice them.

As difficult as he could be, when the story suited him he was undeniably a potent reporter.

He was awkward in pop-culture settings and celebrity interviews, although the Spice Girls, even to his surprise, seemed to tickle his fancy. And as Fergie, the former wife of Prince Andrew, found out, Carleton didn’t much like royalty either.

Yet he loved delving into world politics and dreadful conflicts, and interrogating leaders whom evidence could show were corrupt and cruel and a blight on humanity. And he would also be reduced to tears by the horrors of what he saw.

When we ran into each other between trips at the office, and in the car park as he was driving out and I was coming in, we’d sometimes stop and chat. He would give me a hug and tell me a joke.

I told him how I didn’t think I could do what he did. Be that fearless reporter who never seemed to flinch, no matter how intimidating the situation.

‘Oh, yes, you can,’ he replied. Then he added, ‘I can’t do what you do.’

It was untrue, but indeed a generous comment.

* * *

We did join forces for what would be Richard’s last big Channel Nine start-of-year promo shoot. Unlike other years, at this promo we were told we’d be required to sing and swing along with a big band.

Richard had no desire to complete this task and, looking at me, confronted by what was about to happen, he said: ‘I don’t know what to do.’ He was totally out of his comfort zone.

I linked my arm with his and said, ‘Just follow me.’ Tara Brown and I belted out Nine’s promo hit ‘Still the One’, and Richard stood with us, swaying and laughing along and mouthing the chorus line.

He was eternally grateful.

* * *

That Saturday I walked with dread into Westy’s office, knowing Richard was in trouble. Westy was behind his desk and looked up at me. ‘He’s gone,’ he said in tears. ‘He’s gone.’

It was devastating to hear. And we had to compose ourselves quickly, because as much as we didn’t feel like it, we now had to report the story.

Within minutes, I was given the job of speaking to reporter Mark Burrows for Nine’s news that night. I could barely utter words, let alone words that would give some indication of how important Richard was to 60 Minutes, and how huge was the void left by his death.

The next day, Sunday, I stepped into the studio to read the introduction to our 60 Minutes report on Richard’s life and death. I thought I would never get through it.

Later, as I watched our story, I was reminded of Richard’s unique style and extraordinary breadth of experience.

I knew too that 60 Minutes was never going to be quite the same.
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Political Posturing

Popularity, likeability, authenticity . . . call it what you will, it’s an essential ingredient when it comes to winning over a crowd. Anyone in the public arena will, one way or another, be assessed, sometimes unfairly, on their behaviour, personality and even looks.

Hollywood figured that out long ago. It matters what fans think, and often their information comes from the media. And in many ways, politics is an extreme sport that requires that same kind of popularity.

It’s a pretty grim combination for those who enter the fray.

60 Minutes was and still is the place where politicians vying for the top job come to show electors they really are human, and the kind of homo sapiens to whom you would want to give your vote.

While they’ll happily face a firing range over policy, those wanting to be prime minister are often a little uncomfortable  knowing the real heat is coming from viewers who are looking at them closely, sizing them up from the comfort of their couch.

Viewers are looking to see what those wanting to lead the country are really like. Would they have them over for a barbie, beer, biryani or kebab?

And they’re a tough crowd. They’re probably voters who, after a tiring weekend of kids’ sports, endless laundry and mowing the backyard, are just starting to think about another week of hard work. Like me, they may be tucking into a Sunday-night pizza or something cheesy from the sandwich maker. But whatever they’ve been doing, when they tune in, most are not in the mood for the same old politicking. And that matters.

Kevin Rudd was a surprise candidate for prime minister, but his Kevin07 campaign would prove hugely successful and the Mandarin-speaking former diplomat from country Queensland would romp it in.

When I interviewed him in May 2007, six months out from election day, he accepted that he was a bit of a nerd, but maintained Australians could pick a phoney from 50 paces, and that was what counted. And even though viewers could probably see he wasn’t entirely comfortable skolling a schooner, they could tell he was at the very least determined and hard-working. As our cameras showed, his Canberra office was in full swing way before the sun came up.

His wife Thérèse and their three children turned up for the cameras too. Thérèse, an independent woman with her own multi-million-dollar business, punched out her own appeal when she explained that their 25-year marriage had survived the stressful world of politics thanks to some good old-fashioned humour.

THÉRÈSE: So you have to be able to take the mickey out of each other.

ME: How do you take the mickey out of him?

THÉRÈSE: Let me count the ways!

And you couldn’t help but think, there were plenty of ways!

Tony Abbott’s wife, Margie, was far less enthusiastic when I interviewed them both, when Abbott was first vying for the nation’s top job. And even though she was a strong supporter of her husband, it was clear Margie was no fan of politics.

But her mood had changed three years later, in 2013, when I returned to interview them again. Abbott was on the precipice of realising his dream, and this time Margie agreed that she and the family wanted to give him every chance.

Tony Abbott was a high achiever and a driven competitor. He rode his surf board and cycled hard on his push bike for the cameras, but this time he had a bigger challenge: to win over female voters. His conservative views had earned him a reputation as sexist, and then Prime Minister Julia Gillard had metaphorically punched him in the gizzards the previous year with a stinging speech in parliament calling him out as a misogynist.

So when I turned up at the Abbott family home in Sydney, all female hands were on deck, along with an entourage of minders. It was a circling of the female wagons and it seemed prompted by a determination to help change his image.

There was Margie, their three daughters, his sister Christine – and her partner, Virginia.

In our first story Abbott had told me he found homosexuality ‘a bit threatening’. I recall afterwards walking with him to the elevator at Channel Nine. He stopped and seemed troubled, then started to say something but decided against it.

This time he explained that statement further, and what had worried him. Before our first interview, Abbott’s sister Christine had advised the family she was gay. The threat he’d felt was to the family’s cohesion, he said, as they grappled with the news.

The barbecue was fired up and the family gathering warmed the outdoor setting. Tony Abbott was at his likeable best: a man who admitted to ‘using a bit of product’ in his hair, and a politician who wanted us to believe his conservative Catholic views on issues such as abortion would not be forced upon the women of Australia.

Perhaps the polar opposite to Tony Abbott was Malcolm Turnbull, although both were Rhodes scholars and both had their eyes on the prime ministerial prize. Turnbull would tip a bucket on Tony Abbott for his long run of poor opinion polls and eventually take his job in 2015.

When I met him a couple of years later, in February 2018, Turnbull was coming up to an election. We were partway through filming our story for 60 Minutes when he invoked the so-called ‘bonk ban’, prohibiting parliamentary ministers from having sexual relationships with their staffers. It had followed the revelation that his deputy, National Party leader Barnaby Joyce, was in a relationship with staffer Vikki Campion.

It was all anathema to Turnbull, whose marriage to Lucy, Sydney’s first female lord mayor, was considered unbreakable by many.

Indeed, Turnbull told me he viewed himself as ‘us’. He and Lucy. And from where I sat, she was indeed one strong and savvy woman. They were a very tight team and she was also fiercely loyal. When I asked her for her thoughts on Abbott, all she could say was, ‘Very sporty.’

ME: That’s it?

LUCY: Yeah, I’m sure he’s been a very good local member in his electorate.

The Turnbulls presented as a united force. Our 60 Minutes team were welcomed into their private space at The Lodge, where Malcolm, the self-declared tea maker, added: ‘I can iron and I can clean.’ He took us kayaking, something he did often from his waterfront home on Sydney Harbour, and we travelled with him on the prime ministerial jet.

Turnbull’s reign would end after he too suffered a long line of poor opinion polls. And soon 60 Minutes would feature the next Liberal prime minister, Scott Morrison, cooking a curry and playing his ukulele.

* * *

Pauline Hanson, one of Australia’s most controversial politicians, has a long history at 60 Minutes. She first caught the public’s attention when, as a new parliamentarian in 1996, she uttered the now infamous words ‘Please explain’ when asked by journalist Tracey Curro if she was xenophobic.

But Pauline the Queenslander was indefatigable. Her political career, including establishing her own One Nation Party, endured many ups and downs, including a stint in prison in 2003 on a charge of electoral fraud that would be overturned in the Queensland Court of Appeal.

She carved out a clear slice of voters who shared her very conservative views, considered by many as racist, and would ultimately be returned to federal parliament in 2016.

Whenever we met, she was wary. The media were her enemy, but she’d still front up. And while I didn’t enjoy many of her policies, I did find her easy company. Pauline was a country girl, a former fish-and-chip shop owner, who never stepped back from hard work and whose lack of confidence never kept her from speaking out.

And when in 2018 she teamed up with the equally controversial and opinionated Mark Latham, one-time leader of the Labor Party and contender for the prime minister’s job, it was indeed a meeting of the most unusual kind. They were the ultimate odd couple, but believed that they were kindred spirits because of their similarly strong and unpopular views. This was a political marriage they vowed to make work.

And at least for the cameras, they presented comfortably together in the country and in the suburbs. Pauline was without doubt the star, the one everyone wanted to be photographed with, but Latham was viewed as having the political smarts.

In March 2023 came a split when Latham, even in Pauline’s eyes, had gone too far by making a homophobic comment about a fellow politician. His remarks, she said, were ‘disgusting’. In August she removed Latham as the New South Wales leader of One Nation. The marriage, as so many had predicted, ended.

* * *

Political posturing of a very different kind was on display when I arrived at the Guantanamo Bay detention centre in Cuba for the second time.

I’d first visited the controversial American-run detention centre after Australian David Hicks was incarcerated there in 2002, and this, my second visit occurred not long before his release.

A lot had changed in five years. The brutal Camp X-Ray was gone and had been replaced by the newly established Camp 6. And Guantanamo was now in full public-relations mode following worldwide condemnation and demands it be shut down.

Hicks had previously been interned in a wire cage. Now, he was in one of the newly built tiny rooms with air conditioning. But it didn’t change the fact that he and other detainees were mostly isolated, spending approximately 22 hours each day alone in their cells. About a dozen prisoners were on hunger strike and many of them, after being medically restrained, were being fed through a tube.

With an excellent straight face, my military guide said, ‘One of our missions is to preserve life, and that is what we’re tasked to do.’

David Hicks’s military-appointed lawyer and former marine, Major Michael Mori, told me he was appalled when he first came to Guantanamo, and shocked that this was a place where the American flag flew. For David Hicks to sit in solitary confinement for years was abuse, he said, let alone the fact he’d been held for so long without charge.

But Hicks had been deemed an enemy combatant, and even if he were tried and found not guilty, under US military law he could still be held forever. Ironically, despite their brutal treatment of him, the military wouldn’t allow us to film him, because they said it would be a violation of his human rights.

David Hicks had apparently been considered the worst of the worst. But of course he wasn’t. Major Mori had exposed just how horrific his treatment had been and the terrible impact it had had, and in April 2007 Hicks would be brought back to Australia. His release followed a pre-trial agreement in which he pleaded guilty to providing material support to terrorism.

In 2015 the United States Court of Military Commission Review would finally set aside Hicks’s guilty plea and vacate his sentence.

It was a win for Hicks, but one that came at enormous personal cost. And Guantanamo continues to exist, despite the promises of a number of American presidents that it would be shut down.

* * *

Cut from similar cloth to the politicians wooing voters are the celebrities courting publicity for their latest project.

After many years of reporting on people from all walks of life, I’d built up a bank of knowledge and a substantial bellyful of gut instinct.

While I moan and groan about many of those in the world of make-believe, there are two actors who stand out to me: George Clooney and Dustin Hoffman.

I’d first interviewed Clooney in 1997, and both my encounters with this ultimate star and Hollywood heart-throb were refreshingly pleasant. For the record, both times Clooney turned up as scheduled. And on each occasion he arrived seemingly happy and ready to perform. He was funny, witty, clever and attentive.

He gets it. And you can see that in the interviews he does today, even though he must be done with them. Clooney knows why he’s there and what he needs to do.

And no one would know better than him that it never hurts ticket sales when those public supporters whom you are hoping will want to see your work are reminded that you’re also a decent person.

While Clooney was all class with a hint of cheek Dustin Hoffman, whom I met soon afterwards, was a whole other story. He too turned up on time, and came with more than a little candid humour.

After declaring that he saw this interview as our first date, he didn’t hold back, to the point where, when his publicist decided it was time to leave, he said he’d like to stay.

He agreed that his role in the hit 1967 film The Graduate, when he was just starting out, had changed his life. And then,  with lightning speed, he added: ‘So did my first wife, but that was only for eight years.’

ME: Which did you prefer?

HOFFMAN (LAUGHING): I’ll take fame.

He talked of instantly knowing the difference between good and bad flatulence; of monogamy being a discipline for men; and of how his view of women changed when he realised he was unable to make his female character Dorothy Michaels attractive in the 1982 film Tootsie. It was a shocking insight into how women feel, he said, and how, as a man, he had wrongly determined what made a woman attractive.

HOFFMAN: I said, ‘Look at all the women I’ve erased, all the interesting women, because I was brought up just like every other guy.’ You’re attracted to what you’re told to be attracted to. It’s brainwashing. It’s what’s on the magazine cover. And I started to cry, because I said, ‘I’ve lived half a life, in a sense.’ It’s true. It ain’t right.

And then he talked of the playful sexual mutterings he’d uttered into the ear of his co-star Barbra Streisand between takes when filming their bedroom scenes in 2004’s Meet the Fockers.

It’s perhaps not what a publicist wants to hear. We’d strayed way off course from Kung Fu Panda, the film he’d come to promote. And worse, Hoffman wasn’t even sure animation films were his thing. Delivering his lines in an audio booth absent from fellow actors wasn’t a great way to work, he said.

But it’s that tell-it-how-it-is, down-to-earth style that I think we all appreciate.

* * *

Dustin Hoffman, George Clooney and also Sir David Attenborough were my blessings in a year that included going to Iran and later hitting the deck of another aircraft carrier, the USS Ronald Reagan. But in 2008 I also got to travel down the Amazon River, spread my toes in the sands of the Kalahari Desert and check out what life is like living off the grid in Taos, New Mexico.

Also included in the crammed agenda was watching my friends Heather Swan and Glenn Singleman don wingsuits and literally leap from the top of a mountain in Italy.

Heather I’d first met some years earlier, when, not unlike me, I think she had a clear desire to leave both feet on the ground. But when she met Glenn, who was already into extreme adventure, I lost her.

I was their bridesmaid, but their marriage saw Heather become more than Glenn’s wife; she also became his wingman. They were a formidable BASE-jumping team who were soon testing their individual fears when they moved on to wingsuit flying, which they considered the closest possible thing to human flight. They tried to take me along for the ride – before accepting that I was a bona-fide coward.

But it didn’t stop me from reporting on their extraordinary feats. All of them involved extreme danger, despite the fact that Glenn was a physician who understood death only too well.

So, on 6 February 2008, my 60 Minutes colleagues and I slogged our way up a bloody big Italian mountain to watch my mates jump from the top.

We were able to drive only so far, then for the next couple of hours we had to wade through snow to reach the jumping-off point.

It was a heart-stopping moment. Every time I saw Heather go over the edge and glide her way down before pulling her parachute, I was frightened it would be the last I’d see of her.

But then up came her canopy as she gave a loud ‘Woohoo!’ and I knew all was good. What wasn’t so good was knowing that she and Glenn had come back down to earth within minutes, and we were some hours away.

I soon discovered descending could be more difficult than climbing up. The possibility of a misstep and sudden tumble over a cliff was terribly real. And there was a rather undignified moment when producer Stephen Rice had to apply his hands to my backside to help me over a ridge.

That August, Heather and Glenn attempted another spectacular jump out of a hot-air balloon from 37,000 feet, usually the domain of jumbo jets. They then planned to ride the jet stream that travels across central Australia at about 200 kilometres an hour. They would need oxygen just to get up there.

This was to be a world record attempt. The oxygen available would last just 11 minutes, and Glenn and Heather’s ride was to take 7 minutes. The maths worried me.

At 3.30 in the morning, the 60 Minutes team watched as Heather, Glenn and their pilot prepared and then boarded the balloon, which began making its way up into the atmosphere. There were cameras attached to all the balloon’s vantage points.

As we set out in a helicopter to trace their movements, Heather and Glenn stepped out onto a platform attached to the balloon’s basket.

Suddenly Glenn, appearing to black out, fell backwards over the side.

It was a moment of extreme peril; the pilot decided he needed to drag Heather back into the balloon’s basket.

To everyone’s relief, Glenn recovered and managed to parachute to safety, but I could only watch horrified from the chopper as the balloon Heather was in became caught in heavy wind and scraped dangerously along the ground.

All survived and all were soon smiling. But it was a reminder that in extreme situations, the difference between life and death can be just a matter of seconds.

My friends were not daunted. And 60 Minutes would feature them again in two more mind-blowing adventures, successfully flying across the Grand Canyon in 2015 and Antarctica in 2018.

Both are believers that when we treat fear as a ‘good friend’, we live our best lives. To do anything less stops us, they say, from doing what we would otherwise consider impossible.

* * *

Whatever fears Mum and Dad faced, it seemed they and their friends were living happy lives. But their resolve was tested when the savage business of cancer arrived.

Dad’s Saturday punting mate and home-brewing companion, Greg, died in early October 2008. It was the beginning of life’s inevitable cycle: the business of ageing and health aggravations coming up the path to meet you.

Greg had passed away peacefully in his own bed, with his wife, Margaret, by his side. To the outside world it was a seemingly unremarkable event, but to my parents it was the first break in what was a remarkable neighbourhood bond.

Mum and Dad took over where Greg left off. They ensured that Margaret’s bins made it to the kerbside, and did what they could to fill the void where Greg once stood. But the reality of time, or the lack of it, was hard to get out of our minds.

That Christmas, the Ryan clan took refuge at a home by the beach. Dad packed some ‘big brown buggers’ of home brew and we did what we always did: ate too much and laughed a lot. And we now had with us the in-laws of one of my brothers, a beautiful Iranian family whose love of close gatherings made for a bigger and brighter time together.

It was what we all needed.
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You’re All Individuals

By the end of 2011, I was celebrating 30 years at Channel Nine, and even I was wondering how that had happened. I had become one of a number of employees who’d notched up a very long stay with the company. I don’t think it was because of the Christmas hamper handed to all employees with a little card inside from the boss every year, but I did feel at home and part of Nine’s eclectic family.

Every new year after the summer break I’d drive back through the gatehouse to the Willoughby office, say g’day to the security guard manning the entrance and wheel my car around the back of the building, past the helicopter, to the 60 Minutes car park. And every year I’d reflect on what a miracle it was that I was still in the business of television.

It was always a good sign if there was a vacant car space in the small area allotted to us. And when, with an air of excitement and anticipation, I’d walk down those wooden steps into the compound to our still shabby offices with their corrugated-iron roofs, I’d already be wondering where I’d be going this year.

It was, however, what I loved about the job. Never knowing the details, yet always knowing that no matter what, I’d be with incredible people in incredible places.

I’d long since come to terms with the frequent absurdities of working at 60 Minutes. The crazy juxtapositions. It happened to us all. Ben once emerged from filming with Richard Carleton in Sarajevo’s Sniper Alley during the vicious Bosnian War to fly directly to New Orleans for the 1993 World Aerobics Championships.

‘From live rounds to revealing Lycra,’ Ben said. ‘It does your head in.’

* * *

Certainly, it often did my head in. In 2009, I was learning the art of hunting and gathering in Far North Queensland one day; on another I was watching the eccentric Lady Chichester ride a camel round her estate as I pondered the demise of the British aristocracy. Mid-2010 I was knee-deep in a dark and devastating catastrophe in Pakistan, and weeks later standing under the bright lights of a Las Vegas stage listening to the crackling laugh of a comedienne.

The 2010 Pakistani flood crisis was so catastrophic it was hard to put into words. Perhaps United Nations Secretary-General Ban Ki-moon did that best when he said Pakistan was being drowned in ‘a slow-motion tsunami’.

The monsoon rains had started but hadn’t stopped. More than 20 million people were affected, and by the time our 60 Minutes team arrived, 1200 had already died.

We talked our way onto a Chinook helicopter from the United Arab Emirates, sent to Pakistan to help with food and supplies. From the air, it did seem like the country had been swallowed up by the relentless rain, leaving just tiny patches of ground for families who now had nothing. I interviewed Pakistan’s Prime Minister Yusuf Raza Gilani, who could do little more than ask other nations for help.

As reporters we come to tell the story, but I left feeling very hollow. I could leave, but the many I’d come face to face with couldn’t. And their lives were in perilous danger.

* * *

Within weeks I’d washed the mud from my boots and given myself a psychological readjustment, because I was now in Las Vegas with Joan Rivers.

The American comedienne with the hair-raising and provocative jokes was all about making people laugh. And if they laughed, it soothed her soul, filled her pockets and made her happy. And after Pakistan I knew I could do with a laugh too.

Like so many in comedy, Joan had been kept afloat by humour because so much in her personal world wasn’t funny. From a very young age she’d been considered an ugly duckling,  and her weight had further impacted her body image. She’d struggled with serious dips in her mental health, and when her husband committed suicide she’d had to pick up the family pieces.

But being gutsy was a big part of Joan’s DNA. She was one of the first stand-up comediennes, and the first woman to have her own late-night television show. In what was undoubtedly a man’s world, she was a survivor. And she learned to give as good as she got. She was no pushover.

Even though Joan still had plenty of feathers, albeit cosmetically enhanced, she was no spring chicken. But age didn’t matter. Making people laugh gave her purpose and it made her feel worthwhile.

The Joan I met was loud. I had anticipated she’d rule the roost; that was the kind of woman she seemed to be. I wasn’t entirely wrong, but maybe I hadn’t got it right either. She was simply professional.

She knew more about publicity than most and understood the kind of story 60 Minutes wanted. She knew it was a profile piece, and she knew we’d very much like to be by her side as often as she would allow.

And so we were. She let us into her world. Onstage, in her dressing room, and in her hotel suite in Las Vegas, where she was playing to sell-out crowds.

Joan Rivers was a ball of energy. She was constantly working – if not onstage, then on her way to her show, smiling and warmly greeting all those she encountered.

Her bread and butter were those stinging lines she created from the news, the gossip columns or gatherings with her family and friends. Anywhere. But mostly she loved poking fun at politicians, politics and celebrities. And that included herself.

And they were her own jokes. Despite being in her late seventies, Joan would get down on her hands and knees on the floor to write her new lines in large letters, on big squares of white butcher’s paper. It was part of a process she’d followed for years. With a black pen she would write the jokes down, look at them, test them and then learn and perfect them, before bringing them to life onstage.

‘What do you reckon?’ she demanded of me, as she jotted down another joke. ‘Funny?’

And in the next breath, having sized up my slightly forced response, she shouted: ‘Nope, wrong laugh. Too polite.’ And with that she screwed up the paper and started again. As I watched I couldn’t help but admire her.

She was shameless, even ruthless at times. No subject was off limits. If anyone complained about her jokes during her show – and they occasionally did – she’d simply tell them to shut up. She didn’t care that people had paid good money to come and see her. If they didn’t like what they heard, that was bad luck.

Sometimes even I would wince at how far she went, and how many expletives she could utter in one sentence. At one show, a couple attempting to find their seats in the dark caught her eye. ‘Late!’ she shouted, pointing at them. ‘Get a watch!’ And that’s the polite version.

To interview Joan we booked a rather sumptuous Vegas hotel penthouse suite. The hotel manager came along early to ensure that all was well – and probably that we weren’t damaging the furniture.

When Joan swept in with her assistant she was suitably impressed. ‘Wow, look at this room!’ she gasped. ‘This is pretty special.’ And it was.

She walked around the suite, summing it up, then noted there were a number of bathrooms.

‘Go grab all the soaps!’ she said to her assistant. ‘They’re those good ones.’

It was a hysterical moment. At first I thought it was part of a routine: Joan testing more of her jokes.

Nah. Joan was serious.

Her assistant didn’t miss a beat. Between them they snaffled all the soaps and hand creams they could get their mitts on and shoved them into a bag.

No one said a word. Who was going to stop Joan? And just quietly, my producer Phil Goyan and I weren’t up for the verbal mauling that might come our way.

When the interview covering her life and times was done and Joan had left, I felt I had to let the hotel manager know that there might be a large absence of some products. He let out a hearty laugh – the kind Joan loved to hear.

For the record, no towels or linen, dressing gowns or slippers were taken during the making of our story. Joan was only interested in the smelly stuff.

When Joan died in 2014, it was the end of a life that had blazed a trail for women. Not everyone liked her. And not everyone approved of her style. But hers was the kind of strength that has ensured others who followed didn’t have to do it the hard way.

Joan’s style and humour could not have been more different from those of John Cleese, to whom I chatted not long after Joan died. She was American and he is British, and perhaps that’s all that needs to be said.

But both were of a similar vintage and both were incredibly successful and had millions of fans.

I was talking to Cleese because he was back onstage for what he called ‘The Alimony Tour’. After an apparently unpleasant divorce, he was alas down to his last million.

Cleese had eked out his early career as a member of the Monty Python troupe and as Basil Fawlty in the TV sitcom Fawlty Towers. He loved ridiculing the British class system. He said his father told him he should never look startled, and ever since he’d been quite bemused by that unemotional, stiff-upper-lip behaviour expected of the royals.

But with his long, lean frame sitting posture-perfect before me, I couldn’t help thinking Cleese’s facial movements were not dissimilar. His own top lip seemed a bit stiff, but he did make me laugh.

He told me his favourite scene was from Monty Python’s Life of Brian. From his window, Brian is addressing the masses below, telling them they don’t need to follow anyone.

BRIAN: You’re all individuals.

THE CROWD: Yes, we’re all individuals.

BRIAN: You’re all different.

THE CROWD: Yes, we are all different.

‘And then one voice pipes up,’ says Cleese ‘with: “I’m not.”’

Cleese declared it was a joke that made no sense, but nonetheless one that never ceased to make him laugh.
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Armed to the Teeth

On 11 March 2011, I was standing in my lounge room watching a television report of a giant tsunami smashing into the Japanese coast. This long, forceful wave, triggered by an earthquake, crashed across the land, destroying everything in its path and sweeping away thousands of homes and lives.

Before the night was over, I was on board a jet headed to Japan along with every other news journalist, not knowing how close we’d be able to go or what we’d encounter.

On the ground, it was as if the Earth had turned upside down. The loss of life and property was appalling – and there was more to come. Shortly after I arrived, the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant, the country’s major supplier of electricity, located just 200 kilometres from Tokyo, exploded.

Three of its six nuclear reactors went into meltdown, and now even those who never saw the wave were running for their lives. The Japanese people already knew what damage radiation could do; embedded in the national psyche are memories of the atomic bombs that virtually obliterated the cities of Hiroshima and Nagasaki at the end of World War II.

During our stay, there was a reminder most days of the earthquake that had started it all. My hotel room would make a cracking sound just before the floor started swaying. And it kept occurring.

In Tokyo I felt relatively safe. Much of the earthquake-prone city is built on rollers designed to ensure that most of its tall buildings roll with the punches and don’t shatter with the shaking. But in the regional areas around Fukushima, it was different. There my modest room in our tiny hotel would feel like it wanted to fracture, and the ongoing aftershocks were quite unnerving.

And then there was the radiation.

It was hard to know just how exposed we were to radiation as we travelled closer to the exclusion zone. And for the radiation refugees, the families now ordered out of their homes, daily life meant sleeping inside public buildings, their privacy carved out with cardboard-box walls.

We had with us a radiation expert who diligently tested the air and would on occasion refuse to let us travel any further. But not being able to see or even smell the threat makes it seem even more frightening.

I felt the same soon afterwards when we travelled to Chernobyl in Ukraine, the scene of the world’s worst nuclear disaster following the explosion of its nuclear plant in 1986.

Chernobyl is not a place you can just pop in to have a quick look. The government had to approve our visit into the 30-kilometre exclusion zone, and we were tested for radiation before and after leaving the area.

Like in every report I’d seen, it was the lonely swings, the abandoned children’s dolls and schoolbooks, the apartment blocks and hospital left empty that made me feel queasy. The people of Chernobyl were given no time to take any belongings before evacuating, just like the people of Fukushima.

In that sense, the human toll in both places was terrible. People forced to flee and leave their entire lives behind.

Yet the merits of nuclear energy are back under discussion. The debate is whether atomic energy is a reasonable alternative to fossil fuel, in a world where global warming is a serious issue.

I suspect the refugees of Chernobyl and Fukushima may feel differently about the issue from many of us.

* * *

The link between nuclear power and nuclear weapons seems to be the problem that won’t go away. Ever since the two atomic bombs were dropped on Japan, nuclear weapons have been seen as both a dreadful scourge and the ultimate deterrent.

Talk of nuclear war is dangerous business, and the sabre-rattling reached new heights in 2017 when American President Donald Trump called North Korean leader Kim Jong Un ‘little rocket man’, telling him North Korea should not make any more threats or they’d be met with ‘fire and fury like the world has never seen’.

They were statements Trump could make with confidence, because the United States, as I found out soon afterwards, is absolutely locked and loaded with nuclear arms.

Over the northwestern State of Montana, I joined a defence helicopter checking nuclear launching sites. I was looking at paddocks of hay and happy cows, but my military colleagues on board were gazing at the sites of 150 Minuteman 111 missiles armed with nuclear warheads, buried deep beneath the ground.

It was a world I could never have imagined. When we landed, I descended into the control room from which the nuclear missiles could be launched. An elevator took me 20 metres underground to a massive blast-proof door. And beyond it were two very young-looking people who’d been assigned to carry out the president’s orders.

Today it was 25-year-old-Ally and 24-year-old Brent who would do the deed if the order came. These ‘missileers’, as they were called, were secured inside a concrete and steel pod that was manned 24 hours a day.

To my surprise, there was no red button to push and no red phone to pick up. When the president sent the order to launch, it would arrive on their monitors and needed to be authenticated by both of them. Then, using individual combinations kept secret from each other, they would unlock a strong box for further instructions.

The Minuteman 111 missile is 20 times more powerful than the bomb dropped on Hiroshima. It stands taller than a six-storey building, and once fired it would rocket into space before releasing its nuclear warhead. The warhead would lock on to its preprogrammed target, and could travel to anywhere in the world within 30 to 40 minutes.

They are the frightening figures that told me how quickly it could all end.

But America can also launch its nuclear weapons from the sea and the air.

I had to train before joining a mission on a B52 bomber, and dangled from the ceiling while learning what all-important cords to pull if I should need to parachute my way to the ground. I didn’t like my chances.

This eight-engine bomber was tiny inside. But from the ground it was massive, and it flew like a bird.

On the tarmac beneath its enormous wings, I could only look up in awe. It was easy to understand its power as it loomed above me like a weaponised eagle, its wings ominously spread across the sky, its hull armed to the teeth with 30,000 kilograms of weapons.

Thousands of military men and women at this air base came to work every day simply to prepare for nuclear war. It was easy, I suspect, to live in this military bubble and not see just how intimidating a concept that was.

Describing the nuclear weapons, one of those in charge said to me: ‘I love them.’

But on the front line, another was more direct. ‘None of us comes to work hoping today’s the day,’ she said.
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No Longer Funny

There are some 60 Minutes trips that steal your eyes and your mind. Trips that remind you that few people get to do what we do – in this case, get up close and personal with some pretty frightening wildlife.

It was July 2012, and our 60 Minutes team had travelled to the pristine Okavango Delta in Botswana to meet an extraordinary couple. Husband-and-wife team Brad Bestelink and Andy Crawford were wildlife film-makers and their speciality was diving with Nile crocodiles, which they’d promised us were docile and slow-moving in the winter months. When we visited, they were working to collect genetic samples so as to better understand and therefore protect this species. But it meant diving low into the crocs’ lairs, in some pretty murky water.

Before travelling I’d made it clear I would be choosing to stay on top of the water. It might have been over a decade ago,  but the memories of my unsuccessful attempt at learning to scuba dive were still fresh.

Andy Taylor the cameraman and Charles ‘Chick’ Davey the sound man did the unthinkable, though, and plunged over the side of our boat. I felt a bit of a shirker, but really, I was a happy slacker.

I was later told I was just as much at risk away from the water. In our camp, the staff had done a double-check of our accommodation to ensure that the venomous black mamba snake had not taken up residence, as apparently it had a habit of doing. It gets its name from the black colouring inside its mouth and, like the crocs, they are pretty nasty. The long and strong black mamba can strike 12 times in quick succession.

I must admit that when I climbed into bed that night, I took a little while to drift off.

It reminded me of an earlier African experience, filming out in the wilds of the Kalahari Desert in 2008. After a hot day and an evening observing wildlife gathering at a watering hole within eye-shot of our camp, I’d meandered off to my small cabin and my bed.

I didn’t have a worry in the world, or any fears for my wellbeing. Maybe it was the glass of wine I’d had with dinner, but as I settled in under the covers, I felt as safe as houses.

Then the world stopped. A roar of the worst kind sucked the air from my lullabying lungs. A sound that felt as if a beast were at my door.

It was a lion. The king of the jungle was reminding me who was boss. I lay rigid, not daring to move, and I certainly had no intention of checking outside. All the while, I was quietly thanking Geoff, our dear 60 Minutes accountant, that on this trip I was not sleeping in a tent.

I found out the next morning that a pride of lions had been nearby, but not anywhere near me. Their roars were intense and fearsome, a spine-tingling noise that can apparently be heard for many kilometres.

Both these African encounters helped me understand that being ‘frightened to death’ was a very real possibility.

* * *

There would be other confronting moments coming my way.

Despite whingeing endlessly about celebrities, my job still requires me to turn up and give these interviews my best shot. And that’s what I did when I encountered British comedian and Hollywood actor Russell Brand.

It was 12 September 2012. I’d prepared for my interview just like any other. I’d read Brand’s books, watched his documentaries and checked out as many interviews he’d done with others as I could.

I knew he was a former heroin and sex addict and a recovering alcoholic. And that he could be both outrageous and introspective, depending on his mood. He could also be prickly. So when I fronted for our interview, I carried a little internal knot that was telling me to hang on to my hat.

By now experience had taught me that when it came to interviews, there were usually tiny indications that gave a hint of what was to come. And on this particular day, I could tell Brand wasn’t going to do anything by halves.

As he was telling me about splitting his trousers just moments before he was to perform in the closing ceremony of the London Olympics, held the previous month, he raised a leg up onto his chair to demonstrate the location.

‘My pants tore in the worst place that pants can tear,’ he said, and I knew full well what would come next. With his legs now wide open, he pointed to his crotch. ‘There, the nut undercarriage!’

I knew then that Russell the unpredictable entertainer had arrived. But in between the outrageous, Russell Brand, ‘the Donald Bradman of shagging’ as he described his former self, was also thoughtful and candid. Addiction to anything was destructive. And that included sex, he said.

He talked about his relationship with his former wife, pop-singing sensation Katy Perry, and philosophised about what made for a good marriage. He told me how he no longer trusted figures of authority. In his experience they’d proven unreliable. And then I met the impulsive Russell.

What was supposed to be an opportunity for more filming at the Warner Brothers Studios in Los Angeles turned into a mad Russell ride. It ended with his golf cart wedged into the set of a TV show that neither of us recognised. We abandoned ship, but on our way out, before I knew it, Brand found another place to cause havoc: the set of TV sitcom Two and a Half Men.

When my producer Phil Goyen finally tracked us down, we’d been missing for over an hour and he was none too impressed. Time was passing quickly, and he believed he still didn’t have enough sequences for our story.

He needn’t have worried about the B-roll. We’d had GoPro cameras running on the buggy and they had recorded our whole ride.

But Russell obliged with more of his time. With his push bike handy, he explored the laneways winding through the studio backblocks for our cameras while smothering me in kisses. It ended with a bold and brash attempt by Russell at unclipping my bra, all for shock entertainment value, and a final shout: ‘Liz, I love you!’

All before he turned and disappeared.

Phil and the crew were stunned by this television moment. And I was left a middle-aged ball of sweat. We packed up and left.

I didn’t know until much later that Russell had left us to do a phone interview with Sydney radio stars Kyle and Jackie O. He apologised to them for being late, telling them he’d been delayed because I had ‘behaved in a deplorable way’.

‘She couldn’t keep her hands off me!’ he said. ‘She looks so demure on the television, but she’s an animal!’

That moment would be reprised and used in the media storm that erupted in 2023 when Russell Brand was accused of serious allegations of rape and sexual assault. His outrageous schtick for our cameras was no longer funny.

* * *

From filming across the Warner Brothers backlot, to perhaps the smallest studio I would ever come across . . . In July 2013, legendary US rocker Bruce Springsteen was in the small medieval town of Kilkenny in southeast Ireland and about to begin one of his famous test-of-stamina concerts. The ones that go for nearly four hours.

A Springsteen concert gives you bang for your buck. But for our interview, the only room available was barely big enough for our individual butts. His show was at a sports ground, and the dressing sheds had been taken over by his concert crew. So, following some negotiation, it was agreed we could set up in the dunny.

After a little dressing with some black drapes and a couple of plastic seats, Bruce took up his position. And he didn’t mind a bit.

With more than 50 years’ experience, Bruce Springsteen truly is ‘The Boss’, who loves what he does and loves his fans. He tells a fabulous story of sitting beside a young admirer in a cinema in St Louis, Missouri, and incredibly, agreeing afterwards to go home with him to meet his mother. For years Springsteen said he kept in contact with the young man and his mother.

It’s a story few stars could match, and perhaps shows how at peace he is with his fame.
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The Window to the Soul

It’s said the eyes are the window to the soul. On a number of occasions, I’ve sat and searched for an inkling of what lies beneath. And with murderers, often there’s not much.

Australian serial killers Leonard Lawson and Bill MacDonald were both glassy-eyed but seasoned performers when they talked to me in 2003 about the crimes they’d committed. But one of the best murdering manipulators was yet to come.

Three months after interviewing The Boss in a toilet, I eyeballed the murderer of 10-year-old Australian girl Zahra Baker, who died in the most horrific of circumstances.

In an American gaol, I sat opposite Elisa Baker, Zahra’s stepmother, who not only murdered the little girl in the family bathroom, but also cut her body into pieces and disposed of it in bushland.

It was an incomprehensible crime. I couldn’t understand how anyone could do that to a child, let alone a little girl who’d already suffered and been left disabled by a terrible cancer. Thinking about what she’d been through, first with cancer, and then with her stepmother, left me overwhelmed by what those last moments of her life must have been like. How terrified she must have been.

Baker had not taken the stand, and had never had to explain her actions. So meeting the woman who killed Zahra I always knew was going to be challenging.

It was no mean feat getting Baker to agree to an interview. Zahra’s cruel end had been felt deeply in her home town of Hickory, and equally in Australia. She knew there would be no love in the room. Yet Baker was up for the conversation, and officials at her North Carolina prison had agreed to facilitate my meeting with their headlining inmate.

I wasn’t sure what Baker was hoping to achieve. The evidence against her was overwhelming and I was hard pressed to think of anything that might make her crime any less appalling. Still, I was intrigued to hear what she had to say, and perhaps gain an insight into what made a murderer of her calibre tick.

Baker seemed reasonably relaxed as she walked into the room, and when I greeted her she was unwaveringly polite. Dressed in a light brown slip-on dress and white sandshoes, she could have been any middle-aged woman you might see in the street.

She waited for my first question, and it didn’t seem to shake her at all.

‘What kind of person dismembers a disabled child?’

Staring straight back at me, Baker pulled both her lips back into her mouth and without a quiver said: ‘A sick person.’

ME: Does it take an evil person?

BAKER (NODDING): Yes.

ME: It’s an evil act?

BAKER: Yes, ma’am.

Her dark brown eyes were wide, and for a split second I thought she just might be about to pull back the curtains and let me into her criminal mind.

But no. Even though Baker pleaded guilty to the dreadful murder of Zahra, she only did so to avoid the death sentence. I knew I was looking at an accustomed liar and a cunning and consummate manipulator. I watched her smile as she talked of meeting Zahra’s father, Adam, whom she called her ‘Prince Charming’, then produce a smattering of tears as she told me how terribly she missed Zahra.

When Elisa Baker married Adam he was her seventh husband. She was also still married to another man, who lived just across the road and whom she introduced as her brother. Her whole life, it appeared, was made up of lies and deception. And Adam was easy prey, a single father keen to find love and lured into an online liaison.

Elisa Baker was not born a killer, but something made her kill a little girl and then, in a desperate bid to avoid being caught, cut her into pieces and hide her body in the bush. The question I most wanted her to answer was: why?

That day I was never going to find out. Elisa Baker still claimed she didn’t do it, even though her own lawyer explained to her that the evidence against her was so overwhelming a jury would convict her within five minutes. During our verbal combat, as I presented that overwhelming evidence to her, including the fact on the day of the murder her mobile phone records placed her at the location where Zahra’s body parts would ultimately be found, she didn’t budge.

By the end I’d experienced Baker’s best. Her smiles, her caring eyes, her contorted face and slivers of tears.

Remorse? Only this. ‘I wish things would have been different.’

Human beings, all of us, are complex.

Never in a million years, I believe, was Elisa Baker going to admit she was the reviled woman the court had deemed her to be. Not to us, and I suspect not even to herself. If she did, she would probably fall apart.

I tried hard to not let Zahra’s murder affect me. But often, on assignments like these, it’s very difficult.

* * *

Michael Jackson was probably the biggest pop star of all time. So to sit opposite the man found responsible for his death was always going to be something of a test . . . for him.

I remembered hearing of Jackson’s death in June 2009 and being surprised by my own reaction. I don’t know why, but I was shocked. Maybe, like so many, I remembered Jackson as the child performer who grew into an extraordinary and exhilarating musical talent.

His life had taken some deeply troubling turns, from claims he suffered at the hands of a father considered a brutal disciplinarian, to allegations Jackson was a paedophile. It was hard to know how to feel about him. His album Thriller is still the biggest-selling record of all time, yet he was shockingly flawed and deemed a criminal by many. Could the man and his work be separated?

Certainly his doctor gave the impression they could. ‘I love Michael Jackson,’ he repeatedly told me.

Cardiologist Conrad Murray had been living with the superstar, hired to help prepare him for his biggest and final concert tour, aptly titled ‘This Is It’.

‘I was his closest friend,’ he said. ‘I will mourn his loss forever. I am so sad he’s not here.’

Murray, a tall man, had arrived with his hair pulled back in a bun. He carried himself with a level of arrogance that was hard to fathom given the nightmare he’d endured when Jackson died. Maybe I was misreading him.

A Los Angeles jury decided Murray was guilty of involuntary manslaughter after administering Propofol, a heavy-duty anaesthetic normally used for surgery patients, to help Jackson sleep. He was sentenced to four years’ gaol in November 2011 but released on parole after only two. When he and I spoke in late 2013, he’d been a free man for less than a month.

Despite his conviction and gaol sentence, Murray steadfastly refused to accept he’d contributed to Jackson’s death. Yet in the two and a half months before Jackson died, by his own admission Murray purchased more than 15 litres of Propofol and sedated Jackson with the drug nearly every night.

He said other doctors before him had given Jackson the same drug, and while he didn’t agree with using an anaesthetic as a sleeping aid, he’d administered the powerful sedative with the plan of eventually weaning Jackson off it. The coroner had found that Jackson died from acute Propofol intoxication and that the amount of the drug in his system was equivalent to the dose usually given to someone having major surgery.

Murray maintained Jackson had somehow self-administered the lethal dose, and that it must have happened when he left Jackson’s bedroom for no more than two minutes.

MURRAY: I was not present when Michael Jackson took matters into his own hands. Michael Jackson, as you realise now, is a drug addict.

ME: I’ve got to be honest and say a court didn’t believe you, jurors didn’t believe you, the judge said this was medical madness, this was a homicide case, not even malpractice. Michael Jackson died because you killed him.

MURRAY: I did not kill Michael Jackson. I met Michael Jackson in his state, lifeless or not, I met him in a state and all I did was my best to help and to revive him . . . 

ME: What responsibility do you take?

MURRAY: For his death?

ME: Yes.

MURRAY: None.

ME: None?

MURRAY: None.

ME: Absolutely nothing?

MURRAY: Nothing. Nothing that I gave Michael Jackson should have killed him.

At the time, the court was told, Murray wasn’t monitoring Jackson properly. His phone records showed he was busy texting, emailing and taking personal calls.

The only time I felt Murray falter was when he talked of the moment he discovered Jackson wasn’t breathing.

MURRAY: Oh, my God.

His voice caught, and he looked away.

MURRAY: It was outstanding in a sense, I mean initially, you know.

But he quickly gathered himself. And his voice steadied as he articulated his next thought.

MURRAY: What happened here?

And then, as if demanding an answer, he slowly repeated himself.

MURRAY: What happened?!

He’d been Jackson’s doctor for three years at that point. He said he was sympathetic to Jackson’s plight of being more than $40 million in debt, and also to ‘the things I’ve learned about Michael, the things that he shared with me’.

What those ‘things’ were he would not elaborate. What he did say was this:

MURRAY: Michael is not a perfect man by far. Michael has a huge dark shadow. Michael slept with dolls, yes. Is that normal? No, it’s not normal, but if you understood the history of Michael as a child and the things that he has encountered in life, and you’re willing to listen, you probably wouldn’t judge him.

ME: Do you believe he’s a paedophile?

After a huge pause, he replied:

MURRAY: I am not prepared to answer that question. Not now.

Dr Murray weathered my storm and constantly pushed back on any suggestions he’d been derelict in his duties, but looking into his eyes made me feel that he was, deep inside, a beaten man. And that had happened long before I sat in front of him.

Before he left, Murray looked nervously outside at the beach below our hotel room. While he said he felt fine being out in public, he appeared totally haunted. He will, after all, forever be burdened with the death of Michael Jackson.

* * *

On 6 December 2013, I rang the bell at the Sydney Stock Exchange, signalling Nine’s entry onto the share market, an occasion when we all gathered around, drank champagne and ate little cupcakes with white icing covered in the blue dots of the Nine logo.

My career at 60 Minutes was closing in on two decades. Ben and I had settled into a happy rhythm at home and at work and I was still pinching myself that I was experiencing the world and those in it like few others. I hadn’t lost my curiosity or my desire to travel. But I had been reminded of life’s shortness. We had recently lost a number of close staff. The previous year our beloved former chief of staff Cliff Neville had succumbed to cancer, as had Richard Carey, our senior series producer, and earlier in 2013, Peter Harvey, a reporter of enormous experience who’d also joined our team, had died from pancreatic cancer. For so long his deep and dulcet tones were the very recognisable voice of Nine.
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The Day Australia Stopped

When it came to conmen, there was Peter Foster, but then there was Jordan Belfort.

Better known as the Wolf of Wall Street, Belfort was everything you might expect of a slippery character. A fast-talking, big-in-confidence, somewhat-smaller-in-stature American stockbroker who, even after being gaoled for his fraudulent crimes, was able to emerge with the unconquerable belief that he was no longer despicable but entirely trustworthy and respectable.

When facing the slammer, he did a deal with the FBI and testified against his mates for a reduced sentence. He was given four years in prison and ordered to pay restitution of US$110 million. Belfort wrote a best-selling book about his drug-taking and dodgy dealings, selling it to Hollywood, where it was turned into a blockbuster movie. And some of the profits made its way back to the US Government as part of the repayment plan.

The lead role in the film was played by the brutally handsome Leonardo DiCaprio, who was perhaps overly tall for the character.

Belfort, he seemed to believe, was resurrected. And this pleased him hugely. But his victims, those who had lost their savings because of his unethical behaviour, saw the film as a celebration of his appalling past. And there was money he was still to repay, despite his promises and an order from the Department of Justice.

Amazingly, Belfort agreed to an interview with 60 Minutes. He was selling himself as a guru of business, and was coming to Australia to pass on what he had learned to those who were willing to pay.

We did our research. The Department of Justice was clear in stating that it believed Belfort hadn’t fully repaid his victims. Plus, the department claimed, he had an oral agreement only with his Australian promoters, the Fordham Company. No paperwork meant no evidence of just what Belfort was being paid for his Australian masterclasses.

We travelled to California in early May, where we had a couple of days’ filming scheduled with Belfort. One day was assigned to film him at his home, located right on Hermosa Beach.

When I arrived at his house with my 60 Minutes colleagues, we were greeted by Belfort’s Australian agent Nick Fordham. It was agreed we’d get some pictures with Belfort and his girlfriend at home and later walking on the beach.

Fordham was there to ensure that all went smoothly. He accompanied producer Phil Goyen and me downstairs to meet Belfort.

Belfort was in bed.

It was an odd place to meet.

He was very friendly and loud. He talked fast and with great animation. He is a salesman. Always.

And then he dropped a little bomb. He wanted me to be aware that James Packer was someone he knew.

I knew James too. It would have no bearing on how I thought of Belfort or the questions I might ask.

As Phil and I walked back upstairs, both of us sensed these were going to be a colourful couple of days.

When Belfort emerged upstairs we conducted a short interview on his balcony. I could tell he wasn’t entirely comfortable, perhaps because he wasn’t sure he had control. I surmised that this interview was occurring because he’d believed it would be a story with a good outcome.

A good outcome, in my mind, was entirely possible. It was up to Belfort.

But Belfort didn’t seem to want any hint of negativity. It seemed to me he was happy to gloss over his misdeeds and smile through his Hollywood success, but any talk of victims who were still to be paid I don’t think was on his agenda. And certainly not questions about the Department of Justice investigation into his oral payment arrangement for his Australian sojourn.

I went back to my hotel that night believing the next day was going to be rough. And I was right.

When we started the interview, Belfort’s voice was sharp and he seemed far from relaxed.

Having passed through questions about his stockbroking life, the list of his offences and his cinematic second coming, I moved on to the subject of his unpaid victims.

His reaction was unhappy.

‘Let’s move on,’ he demanded, ‘I’ve said enough about this.’

He seemed angry.

I asked my next question: ‘Apparently you have an oral contract with your management, the Fordham Company. Is that an attempt to hide your income?’

Belfort bellowed, ‘Oh, my God, you’ve got a lot of nerve, boy, I tell you!’, presumably at Nick Fordham. And with that he stomped out, shouting: ‘I was told this was a friendly, nice interview, and no one has ever treated me as disrespectfully as you have!’

Then Belfort’s girlfriend hurled abuse. Nick Fordham was caught in the crossfire.

Belfort eventually returned to finish the interview, saying later to others that he did so because he was ‘a decent person’ and he was ‘trying to be nice’.

Once in Australia, Belfort used every media outlet available to complain about our treatment of him. And he saved his best for me.

To radio personalities Kyle and Jackie O he declared that my interview had been ‘a complete attack’.

‘If you saw the unedited version you’d realise what a fuckwit she is,’ he said, adding that the interview had been ‘idiotic’ and ‘the biggest waste of my time’.

‘I think everyone in Australia should boycott 60 Minutes, because it’s a worthless show,’ he continued.

Belfort’s bleatings certainly didn’t harm the ratings. He had behaved just as I had anticipated. Nothing about him surprised me.

* * *

Monday, 15 December 2014 is a day I remember well. Summer had arrived, and through my lounge-room windows that morning I could see the waters of Sydney Harbour sparkling.

I always read the papers and turn on the television early: an old habit from my breakfast television days. Around 10am that day I started hearing reports of something happening in the city: a siege, and the possibility, shockingly, of bombs located around the city.

My brother Phillip’s law firm is in the city, and I instantly felt I needed to call him. I was relieved when he answered. He was unaware of any issue nearby, and I suspect he thought I was worrying unnecessarily. I do, my family tells me, worry a lot.

Then I saw the television pictures. A siege taking place in the Lindt Café in Martin Place, right across from Channel Seven’s studios.

Sydney stopped. Australia stopped.

I felt I couldn’t move as I sat in front of my television. Like most others, I almost couldn’t believe what I was seeing.

But inside that café, it was far worse. The gunman, Man Haron Monis, ordered manager Tori Johnson to lock the café doors, then produced a large rifle and told everyone to move into a corner. He said that he was carrying a bomb in his backpack. If they didn’t cooperate, they would die.

When he removed his cap, Monis exposed a bandanna covered in Arabic script and declared that Australia was under attack from ISIS, the Islamic terrorist organisation that had already horrified the world with its barbaric slaughter of hostages. He forced several of his 18 hostages to stand at the café windows with their hands up and their eyes closed, to be his human shields. Some of them were ordered to phone police to give them his demands and tell them there were also bombs planted around the city.

Everyone inside was terrified. Yet some actually managed to escape.

The night ended horrifically 16 hours later, when Monis executed Tori Johnson. When the New South Wales Police Tactical Operations Unit finally stormed the café, the gunman was killed, and so too was one of the hostages, 38-year-old barrister Katrina Dawson, hit by fragments from police bullets. Three other hostages were injured.

It was a day that changed Australia.

Over several days in January 2015 I interviewed eight of the hostages, listening to their pain and anger, their desperation and even their guilt at having survived.

Just hearing them speak, it was impossible to not be affected. The calmness of Fiona Ma, the ingenuity of Jarrod Morton-Hoffman, the spirit of Louisa Hope. The horror endured and the bravery of them all was most profound.

At the end of each day with my 60 Minutes colleagues Stephen Rice and Laura Sparkes, we would sit to consider what we’d heard, what it must have been like. Talking about it seemed to be the best way for us all to debrief.

Each hostage had tried to get through it in the best way they knew. Whether they chose to run or not, I understood why each of them had made the decision they did.

It forced me to think about what I would do. I’d like to think I’d be courageous. I’d like to think I’d be smart. But really, I could never know. How can you, until you’re in that situation?

After the story aired, Nine’s Chief Executive Officer David Gyngell rang me at home. He was proud of how we’d told the story, and wanted me to know.

I just stood on the balcony and looked out to the sea as tears fell down my face.

It took me a long time to let that story go.

In mid-2019, though, the story would come again, but this time from a different perspective: from a New South Wales Police sniper who’d been positioned across from the Lindt Café that day.

Ever since, Mark Davidson had felt troubled about those events. About how he and his colleagues had sat poised at every vantage point, waiting to take a shot if they could. About how, as the hours unfolded, Mark saw the gunman terrorising his hostages but was never able to stop him.

When the terrorist executed Tori Johnson before his eyes, Mark Davidson, the officer trained to kill, was left horrified. He spent the next weeks and months questioning what he could have done differently, and struggled with the belief there’d been an opportunity earlier in the day when he should have taken the shot. And even though many in the police force said it wasn’t possible, Mark Davidson begged to differ.

It was, he said, a missed opportunity he’d have to live with for the rest of his life.
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Go Figure

In 2015 and 2016 I met several bands and solo artists who’d firmly left their mark after years of dedication.

All of them started with a passion and not too many pennies, and some had a clear dream. But all knew their success was about building on a talent and being prepared to work hard.

One of my great joys in 2015 was finding myself at the Deniliquin Ute Muster with none other than the great Australian rock’n’roll band Cold Chisel. It was their first concert in a long time, and there I was with them and their most ardent fans in country New South Wales, at a festival like few others.

Jimmy Barnes, Ian Moss, Don Walker, Phil Small and new drummer Charley Drayton had already let us film their rehearsals, and now we were witnessing the magical roar of an exuberant and approving crowd.

Don Walker told me when Cold Chisel started more than 40 years ago, the band’s expectations were ‘not much, and really it was an indulgent launch into a nothing future’. Barnes was a railway apprentice, Walker a budding scientist, Small a department store employee and Moss just out of school when they got together. They travelled the nation in whatever transport they could find, performing wherever they could. It was, they said, one long party on and off the stage.

There were plenty of ups and downs. But their story was ultimately one of fulfilling a passion through sheer hard work.

Now, to be onstage with them, to see and hear 20,000 of their hard-core fans singing every one of their songs word for word, I could see how this could be addictive.

But for Cold Chisel, it was a massive return for a massive effort and the ultimate accolade to have so many fans who simply love what you do.

* * *

For singing superstar Adele, the massive return had come so quickly that she’d had to step away for a while.

I met her in late 2015, right after she’d emerged from a three-year break. She literally closed the door and didn’t come out again, spooked by her extraordinary success: something she might have dreamed about but had never expected. In those three years, while trying to come to terms with the world’s adulation, she’d also become a mum. She’d released her third album, 25, just days before I spoke to her.

I found her delightful. Up close she was even more beautiful, as well as funny and good company. There were no diva displays from someone who by now could probably have made any kind of demand. The singer who needs no other name – but Adkins for those interested – turned up to our interview a ray of sunshine.

I did, though, find Adele’s speaking voice a little startling. It’s not what you expect after listening to her songs. She laughed in a loud and raucous manner, and banged out her words with a strong North London edge. Not a hint of those famous melodic vocals.

But that was just what I loved about her. Adele was real. She knew she could sing. But she’d never allowed herself the luxury of presuming her audience would love her and her songs. Before performances, Adele told me, she could let rip with a projectile vomit.

Being frightened of failing is normal, I think. Success, no matter how good it feels, can bring bouts of self-doubt. It’s a vulnerability I recognise in myself. There’ve been many times over the years when I’ve looked into the camera and thought, ‘Can I still do this?’

When I asked Adele if she’d played her new album to her mother, to my surprise she said no.

ADELE: No, no, I haven’t played this album to many people.

ME: Because . . .?

ADELE: I don’t know, I’m scared.

ME: Of what?

ADELE: I don’t want to disappoint them.

She was still the little girl from the working-class suburb of Tottenham, raised by her mother, Penny. Adele’s father left when she was just two.

She admitted she’d always been and still was ‘mouthy’. Much of who she used to be hadn’t changed. Including her choice of perfume: Hypnotic Poison.

When we filmed Adele in the record shop where she used to work, I could see she was immediately at home. It was a place where she felt very comfortable. The smell of the shop, the sounds of a busy street and the smiles from her former boss took her back in time. Success had catapulted Adele out of her working-class life, but it hadn’t altered her soul.

The sunroom in my parents’ house, the cool breeze on the front veranda of my childhood home, pegging out clothes on our Hills Hoist, even dodging the backyard bindies . . . all these memories made me feel the same.

Warm. Uncomplicated. Happy.

Adele had not lost her ordinariness. But she’d found her passion and surpassed her craziest dreams.

* * *

Just like when I met Adele, my affection for ’80s pop star Cyndi Lauper was immediate.

When I interviewed her in New York in early January 2016 she was a vision, her smiling face popping out from under her trademark tousled blonde hair with its pink stripes.

If you hadn’t seen her, her voice would have told you this was Cyndi Lauper. Her unmistakable raw Brooklyn accent concealed a four-octave singing range that had for decades wowed music critics.

Lauper was empathetic and had that can-do determination. She was a fighter. Before her quirky voice turned her into a huge singing success, she struggled for many years. There were times when she was homeless and hungry. She’d eaten squirrel – with a great sauce, she told me! But back then she mostly felt a misfit. The way she talked and the clothes she wore were considered ‘funny’.

Music gave her peace, and found her a place and her people.

What I loved about Lauper was when she made it to the top, she remembered what it was like when she wasn’t at the top. She could easily have taken the money and had a good life. But she’d done so much more than that. She’d become a fighter for those who couldn’t easily fend for themselves. She’d helped build emergency accommodation for homeless people, to assist them in getting back on their feet.

And she had been a strong advocate for the gay community. Her gay friend Gregory Natal’s death from AIDS had led to one of her biggest hits, ‘True Colors’.

The song sold millions, but it was the message, and how it was delivered by her, that mattered most:

CYNDI LAUPER: It had to be a voice that whispers to you, a voice that’s almost childlike, so that it would speak to the basic DNA, the softest, most gentle part of a human being. And then you’d hear a voice whispered to you, and tell you, ‘It’s going to be OK.’

As she said this her own voice trembled.

Not long after ‘True Colors’ was released, Cyndi was approached by a man who said he’d been so inspired by her song that he’d designed a flag. It was the rainbow flag.

‘You realise there’s not a lot you can do for people, but you can soothe them,’ she told me.

* * *

In ordinary life, Boy George is known as George O’Dowd, and he told me when we met in April 2016 that the difference between the two is ‘Not much . . . a hat and some eyebrows, basically!’

His story was familiar: a young man from a very Catholic and very Irish working-class family found fame and fortune as an ’80s pop star with his band Culture Club. Growing up, he was the ‘pink sheep’ of the clan, who always felt out of place. His Auntie Josie once gave his mum a box of clothes, and he loved dressing up in them. Clothes that were loud and proud.

And in due course his appearance would become the focus of much attention. He and his band made millions in the four years their songs were hits around the world.

There was much about Boy George’s life that I’d presumed he would be uncomfortable discussing. His wild behaviour, much of it fuelled by his drug-taking, had landed him in gaol.

So I’d expected this might be a tricky interview, but when I asked him about the drugs he barely flinched.

‘There are some people who can have one sandwich, one biscuit. I’m an addict, I can’t do one of anything,’ he told me.

If he’d believed I was seeking to embarrass him or create a sensational headline, I don’t think he’d have responded so politely. But he could see my intent was quite different.

So instead of reacting badly, what Boy George O’Dowd gave me were some insightful reflections. He talked about his personal growth, and how he hoped he had contributed to changes in people’s thinking about sexuality and individuality.

And he reminded me he had a long-standing fondness for Australia. We embraced him in all his colourfulness when Culture Club toured in 1984 – and we gave him the keys to Tasmania, the last State in Australia to decriminalise homosexuality.

Go figure.
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Deep Wounds

I might have met some inspiring people in 2016 but as always in my job, it was also a year when I confronted the very worst of humanity. And it was a year when, for all of us at 60 Minutes, the confrontations got personal.

Sinaloa State in Mexico was home to the world’s most dangerous and powerful drug cartel, and its former leader Joaquin ‘El Chapo’ Guzmán. It was a place where violence occurred often and journalists were unwelcome. Walking the streets, it was hard not to feel a level of anxiety.

We were there because El Chapo (‘Shorty’ in English), who was big on prison escapes, had just been captured after six months on the run.

Thanks to the help of many accomplices, he had spectacularly absconded from his Mexican gaol by exiting through the shower floor of his cell then climbing down a hole and onto a motorbike set up on rail lines, riding his way to freedom along a nearly 2-kilometre tunnel.

For me, standing outside the prison looking at the paddocks under which he had burrowed and seeing where he’d come out was eye-popping. It was hard to imagine a more audacious escape.

When El Chapo was finally captured in spectacular fashion, on 7 January 2016, from a so-called safe house in Los Mochis, he once again had escaped through a trap door in a closet leading to a sewage tunnel. He was able to weave his way underground and come up in the middle of traffic on a nearby street. He was finally apprehended 20 kilometres out of town.

Tunnels were his thing. I’d seen a number and went inside one of the hundreds he’d built under the border to ferry drugs from Mexico to the United States. He’d even hired architects and engineers to design them.

There were, though, other tunnels his hired help built, which cameraman Mark Munro and I realised were so dodgy we might both be buried alive. We’d descended into a tunnel from a hole dug under the car park of a house. To move, we needed to crawl on our hands and knees. And the earth around us was far from stable. It was a frightening experience.

El Chapo was also nicknamed ‘El Rapido’ for the speed with which he moved his illegal drugs, and that’s because he had so many of these holes, large and small. An underground freeway for his billion-dollar business.

He might have been a little man, standing at just 5 feet 6 inches, but El Chapo had a massive reputation and a wallet to match. He’d spared no expense to ensure his empire thrived.

He also used his money to bribe his way out of trouble and to buy influence. Many we spoke to in Sinaloa considered El Chapo a hero, a kind of Robin Hood who was good for the economy and generous with his ill-gotten gains. There was also a level of admiration for his many outrageous breakouts. Shop keepers offered to sell me souvenir T-shirts with his face emblazoned on them.

Our filming in Sinaloa garnered unwanted attention, and in a place where so many, including journalists, had been murdered or kidnapped and tortured, we knew we shouldn’t stay too long. It’s always a balancing act, judging how far to go and when it’s time to move on.

On this assignment we’d brought security with us. Paul ‘Jordo’ Jordan had been on a number of trips with us in the past and was excellent at reading the room and, on this story, the street. He was quick to tell us when he thought it was time to pack up and get back into the van.

El Chapo, too, would soon be leaving. He would be deported to the US on 19 January 2017, and in February 2019 a judge would sentence him to life in prison and order him to pay more than $12.5 billion dollars in forfeiture.

It’s an extraordinary amount of money, but I figure the authorities knew he was good for it.

* * *

I’d avoided danger in Sinaloa, but a short time later I came in for a proper touch-up in Stockholm, Sweden, where we’d gone as part of a story on the immigration crisis in Europe. So many of those who’d arrived were desperately seeking escape from Syria.

We were in the Stockholm suburb of Rinkeby, which was heavily populated by migrants. We’d just stepped out of our vehicle with our camera gear when we were sighted by two young men in a nearby car, who drove directly at Richard Malone, our cameraman, knocking him to the ground.

It was a frightening moment, signalling further trouble. The police arrived and assured us that we’d be safe.

But the moment the police left about half an hour later, trouble returned. In a nearby shopping square some youths began attacking the crew. I was some metres away and suddenly realised what was happening. In not necessarily a good move, I ran straight towards the attackers and implored them to stop. I could see they were conflicted by my sudden appearance, and for an instant, things settled.

Then, in what I can only describe as an extraordinary moment, a man in a wheelchair rolled up to our group with some speed and crashed through the crowd. In hindsight, I realise his actions were timed to give us an opportunity to leave.

There was much criticism of us later in the media for going to Rinkeby in the first place, but also for interviewing a writer and activist there who was critical of the country’s immigration policy. I’d not been led to believe it was dangerous for us to be there, though I knew that Sweden, which was incredibly generous and took pride in keeping its doors open to migrants, was now grappling with the numbers arriving.

We later went to the island of Lesbos in Greece, which was having to cope with large numbers of refugees who’d mostly paid people smugglers to help them make their voyage to a better life on barely seaworthy boats. Mostly the boats ran out of fuel and drifted into Greek territorial waters.

The world had already been horrified by pictures of the body of a two-year-old Syrian boy lying on a beach, after the inflatable boat he and his family had boarded capsized. They were pictures that, if we needed reminding, summed up this terrible humanitarian crisis.

I was on an early-morning patrol with the Portuguese Maritime Police, who were there to assist the Greek coastguard, when another boat of refugees drifted towards us. It carried a large number of women and children. We helped bring them on board, and I sat squeezed amongst them at the back of the boat, an elderly woman beside me. As we motored towards the port of Molivos, she looked at me and held my hand. I could only imagine what she had been through. Fleeing her home would have been terrible, and heading to another to start again must have been extremely daunting.

An officer on the Portuguese vessel became very emotional as he told me of the harrowing experiences he and his crew had already faced. They had assisted more than 2000 people to shore who otherwise might not have survived the journey.

* * *

This was a confronting story, but soon all of us at 60 Minutes would have to face another that felt very personal.

In early April, my colleagues reporter Tara Brown, producer Stephen Rice and crew Ben Williamson and David Ballment were arrested and detained for two weeks while filming a story in Beirut. It was a difficult assignment: a mother attempting to bring her two children back to Australia.

So much was written and said in the media, and not all of it complimentary, but for everyone in the 60 Minutes offices the experience was devastating. I had told similar stories, and understood very well that on the ground decisions have to be made, and sometimes they can turn out to be the wrong ones. For our locked-up colleagues it was a harrowing time; one in which they had no real idea just how big they and their story had become. There was little the rest of us could do other than carry on.

I was dispatched to London to film a number of other stories. But no matter where we were or what we were doing, it was hard to concentrate knowing our colleagues were struggling. When it ended, and it did, our team was released and flew back home. But it took some time for us all to regroup. And for those directly affected, the impact would be long and lasting.

* * *

There was another story that year that proved to be terribly confronting.

Kylie Monaghan dedicated her last days of her 35 years to campaigning for the legalisation of voluntary euthanasia in her home state of South Australia. Sitting with me, literally boxing with cancer for her every breath, Kylie talked of the importance of choice for those who are dying.

Hers was a potent message. A young woman telling us how much dignity it would bring if, when all other avenues had been exhausted, we could choose a time and place to die. Few would take the option, but just knowing there was a choice, especially if you were suffering, would make such a difference. And the irony was that Kylie’s campaign was never going to assist her. She was never going to be able to have a choice, and I was acutely aware of that when news of her death reached me.

Her last, most selfless act was to fight for others to have what she was always going to be denied. It felt dreadfully unfair.

* * *

Unfair, too, was the media hounding of a young woman who was lucky to survive a terrifying attack in Australia’s outback.

In 2016, I interviewed British woman Joanne Lees, who, with her boyfriend Peter Falconio, had arrived in Australia on a working trip. When Peter disappeared, Joanne would suffer what could be called ‘the Lindy Chamberlain treatment’.

Joanne and Peter were driving their orange Kombi van along the Stuart Highway about 300 kilometres north of Alice Springs on 14 July 2001. They’d finished a stint in Sydney and had set out to explore Australia’s Red Centre with its exotic and alluring vast open spaces.

On that cool winter’s night, the driver of a vehicle came up behind and signalled to them, pointing to the back of their van. Peter pulled over. The last thing either of them expected was to encounter a gunman.

A court later found that Bradley John Murdoch, a violent criminal who couriered drugs between South Australia and Western Australia, had shot Peter dead and disposed of his body. But police later believed Joanne had been his real target.

The story of her desperate fight to stay alive was excruciating to hear. With her hands tied, she’d managed to escape Murdoch’s clutches, and as she ran under the cover of salt bushes, Murdoch and his dog came after her. For five terrifying hours she hid, until finally she heard a road train, a multi-trailer transport truck, coming towards her. In a desperate bid for help, she ran out in front of it to attract the driver’s attention. He pulled over and drove her to safety.

My heart raced when she told me about it. I could only imagine how terrifying her ordeal had been. But not everyone felt the same.

As the police search for Peter and his murderer went on, incredibly, Joanne Lees became the focus. The media, and even police, seemed to believe she’d somehow been involved in his disappearance.

Much later, after a renewed look at the case, Bradley Murdoch was identified as the killer. He was convicted and sentenced to life in prison.

It’s extraordinary to me given the evidence, but to this day, there are some who still regard Joanne Lees with deep suspicion.

Joanne’s crime, it seems, was that she somehow didn’t fit the bill as a victim. Throughout most of her ordeal she remained composed, though eventually she became hostile  towards the press. It was reminiscent of Lindy Chamberlain, who was convicted in 1982 of the murder of her baby daughter, Azaria, in a shocking miscarriage of justice. Despite being pardoned, she too would be viewed with suspicion for years.

For both women, it must have been dreadful: in terrible grief and shock, having to prove you’re a victim.

‘I couldn’t believe that anyone would doubt me, and think that I could do that to Pete,’ Joanne told me. ‘I wouldn’t wish it on anyone.’ For so long, she’s suffered believing Peter had died because their attacker, Murdoch, wanted her. It is a haunting thought.

Hoping to find Peter’s body, but failing to do so, Joanne Lees returned to England. But she remained deeply affected.

The international attention Joanne received almost brought her undone. She changed her address and attempted to disappear from prying eyes. Her life was never the same.

* * *

These are the stories that carry deep wounds for those telling them, and at times are equally troubling for journalists.

Telling tough stories can be incredibly unsettling, so when a happy one comes along it’s often a relief. I felt that when I jetted to America to do a story about a dog.

Chaser, a border collie, was deemed the world’s smartest dog, because her owner, retired psychologist Professor John Pilley, had taught her to identify more than a thousand individual objects and to understand sentences about what to do with them.

Chaser had become a science research project conducted at Wofford College in Spartanburg, South Carolina. And when John Pilley’s work in canine cognition was published in the peer-reviewed journal Behavioural Processes, it captured everyone’s interest. Media from around the world arrived on his doorstep – including us.

I was already a bit of a sucker for a dog, thanks to our incorrigible family pet George, a Labrador. And I’d come to marvel at what dogs could do after a story I worked on about their ability to detect the very early stages of cancer. Their extraordinary sense of smell means dogs can be trained to sniff urine for bladder cancer and exhaled breath samples for cancer in the lungs, as well as detecting a number of other diseases. Man’s best friend was shaping up to be man’s best chance of being saved: the equivalent of a smoke detector, only for cancer.

So, here I was in South Carolina, to meet a dog who was ready to have a conversation.

The Pilley family couldn’t have been more gracious. And Chaser and John had me from the moment we met. They weren’t just dog and master, they were family.

Chaser never missed a beat. And she did it all without a single doggy treat, other than lots of affirmation and warm hugs.

Play, said John, was infinitely better as a reinforcer of behaviour than food. And Chaser, named because that was what she liked to do most, loved to play.

It was considered by many to be ground-breaking research. But John Pilley told me all he was really doing was confirming what dog lovers already knew. Dogs are smarter than we think.

Having spent time with Chaser, I realised it was very possible there was much more that our family Labrador George had wanted to tell us. If only we’d known how to listen.
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Muffins for the KKK

Manners matter. Most of us at 60 Minutes agreed that was a good place to start, no matter who we were dealing with. And there have been plenty of times, when we’ve known we were taking over someone’s home to film, that we’ve come bearing gifts of food.

And that was also why, in early 2017, we took muffins to the home of a Ku Klux Klan family in America’s Midwest.

We were in Harrison, Arkansas, unashamedly Klan country. Messages of white supremacy were plastered on billboards and blasted on KKK Radio, which declared that it broadcast ‘the best in white news and entertainment’.

Arkansas was home to the Knights of the Ku Klux Klan.

We’d come here to investigate the ‘nod and wink’ that they and others of their ilk believed had been given to them by the newly elected president, Donald Trump. Comfortable enough now to come out of the darkness and talk openly about  their beliefs, Pastor Thomas Robb and his daughter Rachel Pendergraft, a clan of Klans, were happy to have us pay them a visit.

Ben, as it happened, was our sound man on this particular story, along with Scott Morelli our cameraman and producer Phil Goyen. Ben would always follow his mother’s motto, ‘Never turn up empty-handed’, when we were invited to someone’s home. It was essential to arrive with something: a cake, biscuits, anything.

He suggested that even for this meeting we should take something along. No matter Robb’s and Pendergraft’s distasteful ideology, we four were coming to their home to film for the day, and we shouldn’t forget our manners.

Even though the rest of us scoffed at the idea, we did stop by the local bakery and buy a dozen muffins.

The Robb home was tidily tucked away in the bush, out of town and out of sight. Theirs was a compound with its own library and classrooms for students, and catered for groups and individuals who wanted a short-term stay and even souvenirs from the shop before they departed. It was for those seeking a full indoctrination. You could eat, sleep and come away with the full Monty, a complete whitewash.

Intriguingly, it was also from there that the father–daughter duo broadcast their television programme. And we were there in time to watch their latest offering of White Resistance News, which they hosted from their own studio and which went to air twice a day.

I watched as Pastor Robb and his daughter Rachel reported with some glee that Pauline Hanson’s One Nation Party was gaining in popularity in Australia. It was good news, apparently, because they were of the belief that their views and those of One Nation had some common ground. And with that, up came a picture of Pauline.

Having spent a bit of time with Pauline, I didn’t think this would have made her terribly comfortable. Every time I’ve been with her she has been at pains to tell me she doesn’t hate.

With the show over, it was time for our interview, and it went exactly as we’d predicted. A frustrating, circular exchange. Robb and Pendergraft confirmed why they were excited by Donald Trump’s election, saying he gave them ‘the courage’ to speak up, because they believed Trump held views similar to theirs. But they did not agree that they were discriminatory, let alone entitled to be called haters. The Klan was not, they said, a hate group.

Unsurprisingly our hosts had turned sour on my questioning, but when we moved towards the rear of the room, all unpleasantries were tempered by the muffins. As they tucked in, even they felt it would be bad manners to tell us, with their mouths full, to bugger off.

It was a stark contrast to our next KKK meeting.

The Orange County KKK group agreed to meet us outside Los Angeles, at a nondescript motel on a California freeway. But first we had to agree to a security check. The group’s leader said he wanted to send along his ‘security boys’ to ensure we weren’t planning an ambush.

No problem, we said. Send in the guards.

Shortly afterwards there was a knock on the hotel-room door. In they came. It appeared to us that they were completely hung over.

The ‘boys’ got down on their hands and knees to peer under the bed, then checked the pillows before heading into the bathroom.

Good news. We were given the all-clear. Shortly thereafter, the grand wizard – a mouthy middle-aged bloke who had obviously been to the same party as his security detail – arrived with his offsider, an elderly gent with a bad hip. They went into the tiny bathroom to change into their Klux clothes: hoods with crude cut-out slots to see through, long gowns and dark sunglasses that never came off.

We were in the presence, we were told, of the California Exalted Cyclops and the California Grand Dragon.

They wanted to hang their flags on the back wall but those kept slipping down, and Cyclops, our man with the bad hip, tried standing defiantly but eventually had to take a seat.

It was like watching a B-grade comedy. Except these men were espousing views that weren’t so funny. And they too believed Donald Trump’s election gave ‘whites’, and particularly ‘white Christians’, a voice.

They were men who seemed frightened of anyone who wasn’t like them. But they claimed to be against violence.

We talked about 21-year-old Dylann Roof, who had been sentenced to death for hate crimes after shooting dead nine black parishioners in the Emanuel African Methodist Episcopal Church in Charleston, South Carolina. Roof had committed his shocking crimes after reading racist propaganda online.

This time, the Grand Dragon wasn’t so clear.

GRAND DRAGON: He should have never went to a church. But I would have no problem with him going to LA or Detroit where the negro race are selling drugs to not only their people, but our white Christian children. If he would’ve went and shot them – I’m not saying he should have, but if he would have, that would have been better than shooting negroes in church. Because you’re getting the job done. You’re cleaning up trash.

ME: In many respects, then, you’re promoting violence when you say that.

GRAND DRAGON: No, no, no, no, no. I said it would have been better. We do not condone any type of violence.

All their attempts to explain their position made absolutely no sense. They never could.

* * *

That experience with the Klan was worlds apart from the one which I would encounter later in Chicago. Young Black Americans fighting for survival and lost in a world of poverty and racism that had seen them start to turn on each other. It was as if they had lost hope and could see no way out other than to form gangs and shoot it out.

It was late June 2017. I was in an SUV, one of those big bulky American cars that I always seemed to need a bit of a leg-up to get into. I was sitting beside a bloke my producer Phil Goyen had assured me wasn’t a gangster.

Maybe not, but he seemed to know where to find them.

It was midnight, maybe later. We were in Chicago, headed to the South Side, considered the heart of Black America. CTC Du-opp, my new mate, had been supposed to meet us around 7pm, but he’d turned up hours late.

He’d arrived for our low-key meet-and-greet looking like a neon sign, in a bright multicoloured jacket, with diamond studs in his ears. Turned out he’d been delayed because he had to pick up a gun.

Ex-military, now a rapper, he’d flown in from the other side of America to show me how his former home town had become a street-gang war zone.

More deaths here than in Afghanistan, I’d been told. Every three hours someone was shot, and every fourteen hours someone was murdered. Officially there were 59 gangs at war on the South and West Sides, but I was told there were actually many more. One on every street corner. All armed and dangerous, maintaining a tight line of control over their block that often erupted into gunfights. Du-opp told me there were kids who’d shoot each other over a packet of chips.

In the crossfire were mothers and children, some shot while asleep in their beds as bullets from the streets pierced the walls and windows of their homes.

There had been many deaths, more than 750 in the previous year, mostly of young men. Sons who’d met their maker while still in their teens. Police couldn’t keep up and officers kept wanting out. ‘We have more and more leaving younger and younger. We have wives telling their husbands and husbands telling their wives, “I want to get outta Dodge”,’ former policeman and union leader Dean Angelo told me. ‘And they’re packing up their kids and they’re going.’

It reinforced the bald truth that no amount of security would guarantee our safety on the streets.

‘It sounds like it’s a free-for-all,’ I suggested to another street contact, Leoski D.

He laughed. ‘It’s past a free-for-all.’

He took us to what they called Murder Drive, where the anxiety of those who came with us was palpable.

Club promoter Melo the Gutter Man told me how lucky he was to come away from a shoot-out after being hit in the stomach twice. He showed me his wounds. He was very forthcoming about what it was like in that moment. ‘They put like 32 holes in the car, like, they shot the car, and it was like, I really thought that I was going to die,’ he said, ‘like, “Man, I’m going to die.’’’

But when I asked why he was shot he was much less candid. ‘Street business.’ He shrugged. ‘Street stuff.’

ME: So you were targeted?

MELO: Of course.

ME: Do you know who shot you?

MELO: Yeah.

And then I asked the question he wasn’t wanting. ‘And did you take care of business?’

Melo, shaking his head, was backed up by our friend Du-opp. ‘He ain’t gonna answer that one,’ Du-opp told me.

But I persisted. ‘But you know who did this, so did you take care of business?’

Melo, again shaking his head, said, ‘You know, it is what it is.’

‘So why’s that got out of control?’ I asked him. ‘What’s gone wrong, then, when innocent people are being affected?’

‘People don’t know how to aim.’

I gasped. It was an unbelievable answer, and probably summed up why this war was not ending any time soon. Everyone was in danger because there were gangsters out there who were bad shots.

And yet there were brave and motivated people, trying to turn back the tide and CTC Du-opp was one of them. He wanted to shine a light on this life of terror that was costing so many lives. And he’d agreed to do that for us in the hope that help might come. As the middle-class white woman beside him, I realised I had no idea just how terrible life was for Du-opp or any of his friends and family.

The local funeral director, Spencer Leak, told me kids as young as 13 came to his showroom to peruse coffins and make an early selection.

‘So they expect that they will not live to be thirty-five, forty years old. That’s ancient history. They know they won’t survive,’ he said. And too often they did come back, via the cool room.

Leak had once been the chauffeur of Martin Luther King, and before becoming an undertaker had been in charge of the county gaol. He had a deep understanding of the anger that seemed to be fuelling this war.

If these had been young white people killing each other, there would have been universal outrage, he said. ‘You would have congressional committees coming here, presidential committees, you would have people coming from all over the world trying to determine what kind of rage would cause these young white teenagers to kill other white teenagers.’

But he believed that because this war was restricted to the black community, it was allowed to continue unabated.

I often think about how we, as journalists, dip in and out of other people’s lives. We come, capture their stories and leave. Sometimes I feel uncomfortable about that. And that was how I felt in the hellhole that was the South Side of Chicago. My short-term anxiety was nothing compared with the life of fear so many families had to endure.

For many of Chicago’s young black people, poverty, drugs and violence were now their whole world. Many of them had never left the street on which they’d grown up. They knew no other way.

I left the South Side knowing the best I could do to help was to tell their story.

* * *

There were some lighter moments in the middle of all the gloom of 2017.

Of all the music legends, Paul McCartney is one of the hardest to ignore. Like most people my age, I grew up listening to The Beatles, and in some families, a Beatle wig was worth fighting for. The helmet-like plastic hair sold in stores was indeed a special gift, and would slip onto the heads of kids who wanted to emulate the band. John, Paul, George and Ringo were singing songs back then that are still being played today.

Sir Paul McCartney is music royalty and I almost bowed when he walked up to me.

It was late June 2017. Paul had turned 75 the previous week, and was over a year into a gruelling world tour that would end in December in Australia and New Zealand.

We were told there’d be no signing autographs or selfies and there was a lot of brouhaha behind the scenes at his London headquarters. Yet when the man himself emerged, the office jitters from his staff seemed unnecessary. He was incredibly likeable and, it seemed to me, when we talked of his extraordinary career, McCartney was still slightly in awe of his own achievements. He knew that having been part of The Beatles, and later his own band Wings, made him one of the world’s most revered singer–songwriters, but I sensed that in spite of it all, even he wasn’t sure he was that good.

Of course he was, and is, and his desire to keep singing despite now being into his eighties hasn’t stopped. Retirement was not on his agenda, he told me. ‘As Willie Nelson said, “Retire from what?”’ he added. And he was right.

When we were all said and done, Paul McCartney didn’t rush out the door. He stayed on for a chat and he gladly lined up for those pictures we had been told not to take.
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Fierce Women

I am but one woman. Yet I feel I have been many. Perhaps because I started life in the 1950s, when the role of women, it seemed to me, was dictated by men.

I traversed the grossly unfair terrain of sexism and judgment through my younger years and into my working life. And it took some time before I realised that I was every inch equal to the men alongside me.

The process, though, was sometimes uncomfortable. At times my assertiveness was deemed unsavoury. I was ‘harsh’, I was told by one television executive.

But no one seemed inclined to listen or take notice until I found my ‘direct’ gene. The one that finally saw me speak in a blunt, no-nonsense manner.

So when I sat down in August 2017 with two women of a similar ilk, who are among the world’s most potent names in music, I understood that they too had probably taken on some of the same battles I had.

At least, that was what I came away thinking after I’d interviewed them. One said she knew she could be ‘really pretty scary’ and the other said she was often considered ‘an arsehole’! Gosh. My tribe.

Chrissie Hynde, the founding member, lead singer, songwriter and guitarist of The Pretenders, and Stevie Nicks, the singer, songwriter and producer of Fleetwood Mac, are incredibly different. Yet Nicks and Hynde had joined forces, singing on the same stage around the world. And here we were, the arsehole, the scary one and me. And I liked them.

I have to say I wasn’t sure what I was going to hear or even see when we set up in a New York hotel to interview them individually and later together.

Chrissie Hynde is no pretender, and she’s probably heard that line a zillion times. But it’s true.

She arrived for our interview ahead of time, with a relaxed attitude and a style to match. This was a woman who, despite her years of fame, seemed to revel in being normal, but also rebellious.

She was totally at odds with the mystical and seemingly softer Stevie Nicks, who arrived late and took forever getting prepared. Hynde was immediately ready to roll, and ready to rock me with her frightening honesty. Her hair and make-up she’d done herself and she was more than happy with that. Nicks was a work in progress.

Hynde was to the point, Nicks was not.

When Hynde walked the Manhattan streets with me, she was totally at ease. A fan approached and she put her hand out and asked his name then said, ‘Marcus, nice handshake.’

She lived alone and was very happy about that, she said. Yet when I asked whether the door would remain closed if someone did catch her eye, she replied: ‘Definitely not! “Come and get it, boys,” say I!’

She made me laugh and she made no apologies.

While Chrissie and I were mixing it with the public, Stevie Nicks’s people were being very specific about what the public would see. There was much talk about Stevie’s ‘best side’.

The suggestion that the Fleetwood Mac star might also like to take a walk on the wild side had been met with horror. Stevie, we were told, didn’t walk!

Of course she did, but not for the cameras. She later told me the only reason she was able to stand onstage in her impossibly high boots for so long was because her feet had no idea they were in pain. They were numbed with an anaesthetic spray.

It all should have affected my view of Nicks. But it didn’t.

Despite all the hoo-ha and the Hollywood-style antics, when she sat down, Nicks too was brutally honest.

She talked openly about her addiction to cocaine and prescription drugs. She described seeing pictures of herself high that she found ‘so unattractive’ they frightened her. ‘I’m shocked that anything could have that much of a grip,’ she told me.

It was only when a doctor told her that the large hole in her nose was dangerously close to her brain that she stopped snorting cocaine. But it was Clonazepam, a prescription drug given to her by a psychiatrist, that nearly killed her, she said, stealing eight years of her life.

‘In that eight years, I could have had a baby, I could have had maybe an amazing relationship. I could have been married,’ she told me.

‘So many things that I could have accomplished during that eight long years. I accomplished nothing.’ She added: ‘And if I were to see that psychiatrist on the street, I would run towards him and try to kill him.’ And I think she meant it.

Despite her wealth and fame, Nicks’s life as an addict had been no different from the lives of so many others who’d fallen prey to drugs. And no amount of money could make up for all those lost years.

Hynde too had taken her fair share of drugs. She wrote about it in her autobiography, as well as retelling the story of a terrible sexual assault by a gang of bikies when she was just 21.

In the book, her explanation for the attack was that she was high. She didn’t call out her attackers; instead, she declared that it happened because she was ‘stupid’. It caused a furore, and particularly upset many victims of crime.

When I questioned her about it, Hynde came back with an expression of deep anger.

‘Ah, they can go fuck themselves,’ she told me. ‘I’m not here to protect anyone else, you know. Live your life, don’t expect me to live it for you. Don’t put words in my mouth and say that I said something. I didn’t say anything. I just talked about my experience. I wasn’t telling anyone what to do.’

I understood. She told her story as she saw it. It was an era when women were made to believe they were somehow  ‘asking for it’. When skirts were too short, or the drinks too many, it was the women who were behaving badly. Never their attackers, or those who took advantage of their situation.

That kind of judgment was alive and well when I was young. Men would bully and shame women with their words and deeds, and their sons would follow. In my youth I saw it and experienced it. And I felt powerless.

I understand why Chrissie Hynde considered herself stupid, because that was how women were made to feel. Today it’s called coercive control. A manipulation designed to ensure domination.

Hynde and Nicks are not for everyone. And what attracted me to them both wasn’t necessarily what they said, but the fact that they said exactly what they thought and believed. They weren’t frightened to speak up, and when they did they weren’t seeking anyone’s approval. A kind of don’t-ask-if-you-don’t-want-to-hear-it attitude.

They were older but had lost none of their potency. And they were happy with who they were.

Nicks said she didn’t care to live in the digital world. She didn’t have a computer, and didn’t want one. She would, she said, sing until her vocal cords gave out.

Hynde said she was at her best onstage performing. And that no one was going to stop her from feeling good about herself any more.

I liked that. They were speaking my language. They were in charge. They were done with the judgment. They didn’t care what anyone thought. Although when I described Hynde as ‘fierce’, she didn’t much like it.

‘Why not?’ I asked, adding, ‘But you are.’

‘Because it’s not a very feminine thing, and I don’t think it’s a nice thing to be,’ she said. And then, as if suddenly hearing herself, with a laugh she added: ‘It’s no wonder I’m alone!’

* * *

The rock star in our home was Mum.

It was from her that the rest of us heard the laughter and felt the sunshine. She was the young woman who started her working life as a typist and who, after five children, dared to peg the tag of domestic duties on the line with the rest of our clothes when she landed a paying job. In an era when a woman’s role was heavily defined and confined, she found a way to ultimately tread her own independent path.

Patty’s twinkle never left her, but parts of her memory did. Dad had been worried for a while that Mum was suffering from dementia, but her doctors were perplexed. When I spoke to her general practitioner, he was surprised that he hadn’t picked up on the signs. For some time he’d been seeing Mum and she had, he said, constantly passed every pertinent test.

Dad would laugh at how well Mum could perform. Her memory on prime ministers, history and the latest news was excellent. She could remember names the rest of us would struggle with and she never lost sight of us, her children. But she lost other things, like her rings or shoes.

Then one terrible day, when I was helping her get ready for a shower, she looked at me and said: ‘I can’t remember how to do it.’

I am quite emotional even as I write this, because the memory is so painful. I could see in that terrible moment that Mum felt so very vulnerable.

I took her by the hand and reassured her that all was okay. With help from the strong yet very gentle Pam, who came daily to ensure Mum could live her best life at home, Patty and Bryan were able to motor along, taking drives, watching their favourite TV programmes and humming to the music they enjoyed.

But we all knew Mum was running out of time.

Ageing, if we’re blessed, is a reality. Our faces and bodies tell us that, but it can also be as much about how we feel.

* * *

When I met with comedian and author Barry Humphries for the last time in early 2018, I felt he had travelled into his ninth decade not too badly. He was reflective, but perhaps even more rambunctious than the last time we’d met, nearly 20 years before. His body needed time to get about, but his mind didn’t.

And he didn’t take a step back, even when told by his critics that he was out of step. Though he was a satirist, it appeared there was no forgiveness on some subjects. Barry had caught the ire of those at the forefront of the transgender debate. It was a subject that seemed to perplex him, and he said so. Perhaps it was expected that because he dressed as Dame Edna, a woman who had been his longest and most-loved character, some of his expressed views should have been less controversial.

Barry Humphries would pass away on 22 April 2023 after living a life of bright lights and on many stages. His characters,  particularly the great dame, had found fans across the globe. He is considered one of Australia’s all-time greatest exports, and that alone is no mean feat.

* * *

With every life comes death, and it visited us early on a cold winter’s morning in June 2018.

It had been several awful weeks since Mum had stopped eating. I had been sitting by her bedside, attempting, again, to spoon-feed her, when she told me: ‘Please, go away.’ She had sometime earlier lost interest in food and it had been a challenge to get her to eat anything nutritional. Ice-cream, maybe, but little else.

I have no doubt Mum had reached a point where life was no longer her friend. I didn’t blame her. The woman she was now was not who she wanted to be.

For several days and nights we stayed by her side. Then, one day at 4.44am, she slipped away.

Patty had put a skip in our step as she steered us through the meadows at the farm and into the ’burbs with great love and affection. She’d been our light, the mother, wife, sister, aunt, cousin, neighbour and friend who was cherished by all. She cared for and caressed us and kept us delighted with her party performances and dazzling personality. When we’d ask how she was, Mum would often reply: ‘Never seen it brighter with the naked eye.’

Later that morning, I crawled into bed with Dad. I didn’t want him to be there on his own. For so many years, from the bedroom across the hallway, I’d listened to them both chatting away when they first woke, listening for a few moments to the radio’s early news, and then talking about the day ahead.

The two of us reminisced about Mum and smiled through tears. Dad, ever the rock, had always thought Mum would outlive him, and that she would be the one we’d be taking care of when he was gone.

I worried about how Dad would endure the long days and nights alone. But he refused to come to Sydney with us, and he had no intention of living anywhere other than in the home he and Mum had shared.

This was his castle, and the place where Mum was ever present.

* * *

The strength of relationships between women carries a power that for me feels unique. Perhaps it’s a shared understanding, maybe simply a knowing.

On one occasion during Mum’s last days, my very dear friends Nadia and Paula had waited outside the hospital, knowing I would soon be visiting. I’d had no idea they were coming. They’d driven several hours from Sydney that morning just to be with me, and drove back later that afternoon.

Their love and support were invaluable and carried me through a time of terrible darkness. As did the thoughtfulness of many others, including my work colleagues.

60 Minutes turned up in force for Mum’s funeral.

* * *

I returned to work, and on 1 July attended the Logies, where 60 Minutes was being inducted into the Hall of Fame. So many of the reporters, past and present, came together along with the show’s founding executive producer, Gerald Stone. He had no idea this gong was really going to be for him.

I was so glad we had the opportunity to tell Gerald how important he was, not only as the man who helped make 60 Minutes a compelling news and current affairs programme, but also as someone who’d maintained his interest in us, and been there to help pick up the pieces when we’d fallen.

We mourned the loss of Gerald when he died a couple of years later.

* * *

Despite my deep sadness over the loss of Mum, within weeks of her funeral I was back on the road.

I didn’t know whether it was a good idea, but I needed the distraction and this trip would take me across the globe. It mostly kept my mind busy, but there were nights in my hotel room when I found myself curled up in a ball of tears.

We filmed stories in South Africa, Los Angeles and Hawaii, where I reported again on the onslaught of volcanic lava flowing from Mount Kilauea, now chasing down more than 700 homes.

I also interviewed Nicole Kidman and Liane Moriarty, the very humble, understated Australian author whose book Big Little Lies had become an international best seller. Nicole had then turned the novel into an award-winning blockbuster TV series.

Our conversations about parents were warm and thoughtful. Both women had talked about the importance of their parents. Nicole, having lost her dad four years earlier, hugged me when she realised Mum had not long died.

They were women who somehow came into my life at the right time and, not that they knew it, soothed my soul. More recently, on a flight from Tasmania, Liane was sitting nearby with her mother. We talked and she told me her own dad had died.

* * *

There was another woman who proved to be quite remarkable, if not extraordinarily controversial.

Stormy Daniels had power. She was the woman who’d called out American president Donald Trump as a liar, and dared to take him on. She claimed they’d had a sexual relationship, and Trump maintains they didn’t. But Stormy said she only spoke up about the alleged affair after there’d been an attempt to shut her down.

For our interview, she’d donned an army-green jacket; on the back were the words ‘I really don’t care. Do U?’

I’d seen this jacket before: in the media, on the back of Melania Trump!

It was brazen Stormy Daniels at her best. But in the wings, her publicist was not happy. It was, he believed, just too provocative. Appearing on camera in the exact same jacket worn by the wife of the man Daniels claimed to have slept with was a step too far.

With some reluctance, the adult entertainer and headline-making rebel acquiesced. So I wore the army-green jacket, and Daniels wore mine: plain black.

It was rare for Daniels to back down. She was a tough woman who’d endured endless attacks, not just regarding her allegations but also about who she was and what she did for a living. Daniels wanted me to know she had not lied about her relationship with Trump, and she was not going to be shamed by anyone. Particularly not the President of the United States.

* * *

We made the most of Christmas that year.

Mum was on our minds and her absence deeply felt. Ben, whose own mum, Norah, had passed away some years earlier, understood my pain. He and Patty had been pretty tight, and we agreed Norah and Patty might have been kindred spirits.

Their humour was definitely similar. Norah once declared that a friend of the family was so boring that when they came to visit ‘even the fire went out’.
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Goodbye

Even after two-plus decades at 60 Minutes, with each new year I still wondered what might come next.

And 2019 started out quite a mixed bag. From investigating the potential dangers of herbal supplements, to interviewing American actors and comedians Steve Martin and Martin Short. Then there was the terrible story of young Dan Jones, wrongly accused of rape by his fiancée Sarah-Jane Parkinson, who was ultimately gaoled for her lies, but only after wreaking dreadful havoc on Dan and his parents.

Particularly unnerving for frequent travellers like me was the story of the brand-new Boeing 737 MAX aircraft, whose flawed flight control system had been blamed for two horrific crashes. I can’t forget seeing and hearing the raw pain of Susan and Ike Riffel, who lost both their sons, Melvin and Bennett, when the Ethiopian Airlines Boeing 737 MAX on which they were travelling plunged virtually head-first into the ground.

I delved into the world of young Australian billionaires Scott Farquhar and Mike Cannon-Brookes, who’d founded Atlassian, a tech business that in the beginning paid them little more than $300 a week. And Melanie Perkins, who with her partner, Cliff Obrecht, had established Canva, an end-of-school idea that spawned a multi-billion-dollar graphic design company.

In between, aware Dad was now living alone, I spent as much time with him as I could. Some of his dear friends regularly called in and Pam, who’d cared so well for Mum, continued to arrive most days of the week. She helped keep the house in running order and accompanied Dad to medical appointments. But perhaps just as importantly for Dad, she was great company.

In between my trips to see him, Dad would come to see me in Sydney. He loved the spectacular harbour fireworks on New Year’s Eve and he loved being up close to Vivid Sydney, the city’s great winter light show. And his country culinary observations of a couple of the top-end restaurants we took him to was, with a grin, simply: ‘Delicious, but big plates and little food.’ But Dad loved the energy of the city and took it all in.

The first part of the year though would see other neighbourhood losses. Margaret, the wife of Dad’s mate Greg and one of the cul-de-sac’s Secret Wives’ Club members also passed away. It was yet another reminder for us of the importance of time with Dad.

There were though some pauses for great celebrations, including the marriage of my dear friend Julie, she who’d let rip with me through the vineyards of France. It was a great day. She was a vision in pink with a champagne flute to match.

But within a few days, work beckoned. There was one story waiting for me that I’d been dreading, but that ultimately proved to be one of the most inspiring I’ve ever done.

* * *

Jeni Haynes had every reason to hate life and everyone in it, after she was repeatedly and violently sexually abused by her father for years. As a little girl she had nowhere to hide and no one to tell. And when she eventually did, no one believed her.

To survive, Jeni developed multiple personality disorder, or, as it’s now called, dissociative identity disorder. In order to cope with the ongoing abuse, her mind created more than 2500 different personalities.

I was immediately curious. I had no idea how she’d been able to do it, but as her psychiatrist Dr George Blair-West explained, it was what saved her. Each personality was created to deal with the horrific aspects of her assaults: certain sounds, smells, sights and much more.

When I first met Jeni in the first half of 2019, before she’d agreed to do the interview, she was a ball of nervous energy. She wanted her personalities to meet me and size me up, make sure they all felt good about me. But I was the really nervous one, because I was sitting in front of a judging panel of a few hundred people; fortunately not all 2500 could make it.

All I could do that day was go with the flow. Whoever came to the table, I had to deal with.

As we enjoyed tea and cake, I was irresistibly lured into this extraordinary story. Instead of being weighed down by the life she had relentlessly battled to emerge from, Jeni was overwhelmingly positive.

And I wasn’t the only one who thought so. An emotional Detective Sergeant Paul Stamoulis told me that while working to bring her father, Richard, to justice, he’d found Jeni to be ‘the greatest person I’ve ever seen’. Her strength, power and determination, he said, were incredible. She wasn’t mad, she was amazing.

Richard Haynes faced multiple charges, and the court, acknowledging Jeni’s mental health condition in what was considered a first, was prepared to hear evidence from some of her multiple personalities. Ultimately they didn’t have to testify when Jeni’s father changed his plea to guilty. But they emerged when Jeni read out her victim impact statement. In the end, her father was sentenced to 45 years in prison.

When Jeni and I met again a couple of years later, she was a new woman. She was in a relationship and was embracing life, and had even written a book.

Jeni Haynes is a potent example that it is possible to survive and even thrive in the aftermath of horrific events, and that our minds are often the strongest part of our bodies.

If ever I feel dispirited I make myself remember Jeni Haynes.

* * *

Olivia Newton-John was also someone with true grit. She was Australia’s favourite girl, the very beautiful and successful singer who was dying before our eyes.

Olivia had told the world about her breast cancer when she first contracted the disease in 1992, in her very early forties. Now, as she and I spoke, we both knew she was on borrowed time.

I’d had to think long and hard about how to conduct this interview.

Olivia was the eternal optimist. Always joyful, always smiling, always putting on a good front. She quite understandably wasn’t going to be throwing in the towel on national television. Actually, quite the opposite. It seemed to irritate her that she kept having to read her demise was nigh.

When we met in her California home, Olivia looked quite serene, but perhaps a little nervous too about another interview posing questions about the end. It’s never easy to talk about death, especially with a person who is facing it. I felt if she were able to tell me as best she could how she felt about her health, how she was stepping up to this fight despite a terminal diagnosis, that would be more than generous.

And she did.

Her greatest challenge, it seemed to me, was knowing she was going to be leaving her daughter, Chloe, behind. Their connection was strong and deep. Chloe was living on her mother’s ranch and never far away. She told me trying to come to terms with her mother’s death was heart-breaking. Yet both of them said that they didn’t talk about it too much.

I could understand that. They wanted the time they had left together to be happy, not sad. A time for creating loving memories that would ultimately help Chloe deal with the loss of her mum when the time came.

I could also feel the pain of Olivia’s husband, John Easterling. He took me down into his garden, where he was cultivating cannabis plants to help treat his wife’s pain. He was so hopeful that he might be able to make a difference, perhaps even provide a cure. He was full of optimism and love for Olivia.

Like I saw in my own mum, Olivia brought the light. And neither John nor Chloe wanted it to go out.

I didn’t expect I’d see Olivia again when I packed up and said goodbye. But I was wrong.

Some months later, in early 2020, I was in Melbourne filming another story with Stef Sgroi, the producer who’d been with me when I interviewed Olivia. Stef and I were eating in a restaurant when in walked Olivia and John. They were in Australia to watch Chloe perform in Dancing with the Stars and, like us, had come in for a quiet and early dinner.

Olivia saw us, and came over and gave me a hug. She was full of life, her eyes bright and shining, as was John.

Olivia said she had enjoyed the story we’d done, and thanked us. I looked at her, hoping she had somehow kicked the butt of this disease that she’d been fending off for nearly 30 years.

There was so much I admired about Olivia, and I didn’t even know her. But just a day with her told me that she was generous, kind and very professional. She was determined to eke out every last drop of sunshine in her life. And she did.

When she died on 8 August 2022, almost three years to the day after our interview aired, I shouldn’t have been surprised. But I was. I thought she just might be that person. The one who would defy the odds.

* * *

I still find it hard to talk, or for that matter write, about my dad’s death.

It’s like I suffer a form of post-traumatic stress disorder, because whenever I think about it, I immediately find myself standing beside his hospital bed, my eyes catching his while being told he’d suffered a catastrophic stroke.

I had been with him only a couple of hours earlier, believing that within the next day or so I’d be taking him home.

Now, I wasn’t. Instead, Dad was unlikely to last the night.

It had begun some days before. My brother Terry had been with Dad and had called an ambulance, concerned Dad was feeling unwell and struggling to breathe. At the public hospital emergency department, Dad was diagnosed with pneumonia. Some alarming mistakes were made with his medications, but at last a strong course of antibiotics seemed to do the trick.

Ben and I drove from Sydney to the hospital in time to see Dad the next morning, still ill but grateful for the timely treatment. My brothers manned the bedside while I left to finish filming a story in Sydney.

While I was away Dad was transferred to the local private hospital to recuperate, and my brothers sent pictures of him smiling, seemingly well on the mend. A picture of him sitting  by his bed tucking into his meal was a great sign, and coming to the end of a week he was itching to leave.

I drove back to Taree so I could be there to take Dad home. We were going to surprise him with a new pergola at the side of the house, filled with Mum’s pink orchids hanging in their baskets.

Dad loved home. He was in control there, diligent about what maintenance had to be done, and what other things he needed to do.

When I walked into his hospital room, Dad was sitting up but I could tell he was tired. He wasn’t all that interested in the newspapers, which he had always loved to devour, or anything on the television. I encouraged him to rest as I sat quietly with him.

Before I left to go home to Dad’s some hours later, I kissed him and assured him I’d be back in the morning to get him organised to come home.

As Ben and I sat down to dinner, my phone rang. It was 8.15pm. The hospital told me Dad had suffered a stroke and been taken back to the emergency department of the public hospital.

I instantly felt sick.

It was while medical staff were determining whether Dad could be given an anti-clotting treatment that I heard them talk about his regular medications. Dad had atrial fibrillation, a heart condition needing daily blood thinners, to prevent, of all things, the risk of a stroke.

The doctor on call at the private hospital had arrived to discreetly advise staff that Dad’s anti-stroke medication had not been given to him for the entire eight days of his private hospital stay. I only found this out when I happened to glance at Dad’s medical notes, left at the foot of his bed.

As the night turned into the very early hours of the next morning, I stood with Ben and my brother Chris, stunned by what we’d learned. And in the days to follow, our disbelief would only grow as we tried to understand how it could have happened.

We gathered by the bedside for what we now knew would be Dad’s last days. Just like when Mum was dying, we took turns to be with him through the night. This time we were perhaps better prepared for the ritual, but the experience was no less terrible.

As I sat with Dad, listening to his breathing, I wrote copious notes and started asking questions. I spoke to doctors and nurses and administrators. It was obvious that my interrogations made some of them uncomfortable, because none of the answers they could give me were ever going to be great.

Nursing staff began quietly telling me their own horror stories, as did some doctors. It seemed I was on the precipice of uncovering a nasty medical condition called ‘rural health’, one that was in need of as much treatment as my dying dad.

I was catching up on sleep the next morning when my brother Terry called to say he was worried Dad was near the end. Ben and I rushed to the hospital.

I walked down the corridor towards Dad’s room, realising why I was here but totally unready to say goodbye. I can still hear the terrible cry I let out from deep inside when I saw Dad.

We farewelled Dad just as we had Mum, the local Catholic church once again filled with family and friends and anyone who’d known Dad. My dear, sweet friends Nadia and Paula returned, as did my kind colleagues from 60 Minutes.

And then I started asking more questions about what had happened, and how Dad could have sat in a private hospital bed for eight days without being given his prescribed anti-stroke medication.

I was not interested in publicly shaming the doctor, who, it turned out, had missed writing down the medication upon Dad’s arrival at the hospital. Instead, I wanted to investigate those in charge of this health system and the hospitals within it.

Dad had been felled. And the rural health system, I believed, had let him down.
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The Hardest Story

If my mood were to be lifted, it couldn’t have happened in a better place, or with a better person.

It was February 2020, and I was sitting beside Billy Joel, one of the world’s biggest names in rock’n’roll. I couldn’t quite believe this legend was driving me around his home turf in one of his favourite old cars, a perfectly preserved green 1970s Mercedes, giving me a tour of Oyster Bay on Long Island outside New York City.

Billy Joel was a pretty nice guy. He pointed out his house across the bay, telling me he usually went everywhere by boat. Local cops pulled us over, but it was just because they wanted to meet the Piano Man.

Billy took me backstage at New York’s Madison Square Garden before his latest concert and gently patted me on the arm when I said I felt a bit nervous for him. ‘Everything’s going to be fine, don’t you worry,’ he said, smiling.

But things were soon very far from fine. This would end up being a story two years in the making, because before we could finish it, COVID-19 arrived.

Billy’s concerts stopped, New York City shut down and I had to go home.

* * *

COVID took hold of the world, and for a long time, chaos ruled.

At 60 Minutes, like every other workplace, we had to establish strict rules to avoid infection. We divided into two teams, blue and red, and to avoid contamination we were not permitted to cross paths or work spaces.

I was in the blue team, and continually worked with the same crews, editors and producers. Like everyone else, we masked up and were constantly washing our hands. All Nine employees were also being regularly tested for COVID, and on a number of occasions Ben and I joined one of those interminable queues of cars at the nearest testing centre for the joys of the PCR test, with that long, thin cotton bud that seemed to linger a little too long up the nose and near the eyeballs.

At 60 Minutes, we quickly established COVID-safe strategies for covering stories and became very good at using Zoom to interview people anywhere in the world. I was acutely aware that up-to-date information had never been as important for people sitting at home, as it was now, although it seemed the really urgent thing was to ensure a continued supply of toilet paper.

At home I dragged out my Hula Hoop and gave it a good workout.

And even though I still grieved for Dad terribly, part of me was relieved that he hadn’t had to live alone with this virus lurking, and its apparent hankering for the elderly.

* * *

Dad’s death had struck at my very core.

Both hospitals where he had been treated admitted that serious errors had occurred, and both stated that there would be changes to their systems to address the mistakes. But in reality, the issues were never going to be addressed unless some home truths about healthcare in rural, regional and remote areas were brought out into the light.

I was now collating information from those who manned the wards, the ambulances, the clinics and the hospitals. They were, they told me, stretched to breaking point. They could only do so much. Some were cranky. Some had received little response when they voiced their complaints, and some told me they’d simply had to walk away.

I received calls, letters and emails. I met people in car parks, in their homes and in the dark, with promises not to reveal their identity. Talking out of school, I was repeatedly told, would attract trouble, even punishment. And when it was clear I was on the hunt, various staff said they’d been told not to talk to me by their hospital managers.

And then there were the devastating stories from families. Those who said they felt powerless. People who believed they didn’t have a voice.

My desire to shine a light on the issue didn’t please everyone, but for decades it had been known that rural health was in cardiac arrest, and despite years of promises from politicians of every hue, nothing had changed.

From where I stood, when it came to healthcare, Australians outside the big cities were second-class citizens and their votes had little sway.

ABC court reporter Jamelle Wells was equally disillusioned. I hadn’t known of her own harrowing experience with the rural health system until I read an article by Carrie Fellner in the Sydney Morning Herald, featuring Jamelle’s story and other appalling cases.

Jamelle’s father, Allan Wells, a stalwart of the Cobar community in western New South Wales, had had surgery in nearby Dubbo Hospital that hadn’t ended well. His hospital treatment, Jamelle told me, had been ‘inhumane’.

So, here we were, two daughters who also happened to be journalists, whose dads had both deserved better.

I don’t think I could have told this story nearly as well without Jamelle. Individually we were determined, but together we were a strong and united team. When I was emotional, she was methodical. And through the weeks, months and now years, our relationship has been built on a foundation of deep understanding and trust.

I knew I had to tell her story, and mine, on 60 Minutes. For so long I’d asked others to bare their souls, and now I had to ask the same of myself. Throughout the process I relied on the objectivity and clear vision of producers Nat Clancy and Gareth Harvey. I was there to tell my story, they determined how best it should be told.

When I took a seat in the studio to record the introduction to my story, it was a year to the day since Dad had died. I wasn’t sure I could do it.

This was not a story I wanted to tell, and not one I should have needed to tell. And it was the hardest story I would ever tell.

‘The Greatest Loss’ went to air on 13 September 2020. The viewer response was overwhelming. And within the week, the New South Wales Government had announced that it would establish an inquiry into the State’s rural, regional and remote health and hospital services.

* * *

All year we were also slowly packing up the 60 Minutes offices in Willoughby. Nine had sold its Sydney headquarters for nearly $150 million and we were moving to a brand-new sparkling high rise a few suburbs away in North Sydney.

Willoughby had been Nine’s home for more than 60 years. So many stories had originated from the studios there, and many more from the offices and bar that probably couldn’t be told. It was where stars had been made and stayed, and where for years Kerry Packer had reigned. It was hard to believe we were about to leave it all behind.

We were given cardboard boxes and garbage bins into which we had to upend our junk. After more than four decades in our den at 60 Minutes, this was no easy task. In my own office, I’d accumulated quite a few bits and pieces, but there was no room at our new digs for sentimentality.

Before leaving I took some photos: of my daggy old couch, the bullet-like hole in my window, and for old times’ sake, a selfie under the television tower that we’d been promised was not frying us.

Just days before, on a wet morning, I’d sat a bucket on my desk to catch the drips leaking from the roof. The lights had flickered, and with a sizzling sound the power had shorted out, smearing the ceiling with some rather startling black marks.

It was time to go.

Our high-rise office at North Sydney was shiny and new. The 60 Minutes staff would be housed in a large, open-plan area where we would sit like never before, cheek-by-jowl at our desks. And we would now be gathered in the same building with the new members of our family from publishing and radio.

In this modern office world at 1 Denison Street, rooms would need to be booked for meetings, and phone conversations struggled to be private. For those of us from 60 Minutes it would take some adjusting.

On an early December evening, before business executives, politicians, shareholders and colleagues, my job was to speak of the old and the new before inviting Nine’s chairman, Peter Costello, to officially declare our new campus open.

* * *

Before the year was out, I told one more rural health story. Having scratched the surface, so many more dreadful tales came tumbling out and the people of the country wanted to talk.

Doctors told me of their nightmares, nurses of their fears and paramedics of their frustrations.

Stacey Butler and Norma Rhodes were for years nurses in Tenterfield in northwestern New South Wales. But more and more they found that just the two of them would be left alone without a doctor to man their hospital. The phone would ring and there were times when they would be too busy to answer. They’d left when the responsibility became too great.

We’d learn there were a number of hospitals without doctors, forcing nurses to rely on virtual doctors to diagnose patients. Despite claims to the contrary by those who run the virtual system, a doctor looking through a camera from kilometres or even countries away is by no means an adequate alternative. And there were terrible examples. Garry Owen from the country town of Gulgong told me of his own experience when the virtual doctor called in to examine his very sore foot was unable to diagnose his ingrown toenail.

Staff and patients in some hospitals claimed that during emergencies the cook, the cleaner or even the gardener would be asked to sit with patients.

And when it all goes wrong, families are left with the dreadful question I knew all too well.

Did they have to die?

It’s the question distraught daughter Hayley Olivares was left to ask when her mother, 66-year-old Dawn Trevitt, bled to death in a hospital that did not have a doctor.

HAYLEY: I would never have thought in my life I would have to lose my mum under such horrific circumstances, but also have the loss in a situation that I feel possibly might have been avoided. And I’m never going to know that, and I have to find peace with that.

Sharelle Fellows, a fighter for better rural health services, summed it up well when she said: ‘Health is a human right, and I think everybody should expect that in a country like Australia.’

I wondered how any politician or bureaucrat could not be moved to action. But it seemed that, despite years of evidence that rural health was failing, another inquiry was needed.
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Around the Table

COVID had created many conversations and prompted quite a lot of creativity during 2020, especially when it came to making television. Content was in demand perhaps more than ever before, and at 60 Minutes we’d already experimented with a new format, taking a subject and exploring it around a table with people who could each bring their individual expertise to the story.

A group of us from 60 Minutes met with Nine programming executives and – surprise, surprise, around a table – we explored the idea and decided to give it a name and a timeslot.

So, Under Investigation with Liz Hayes came to life and made its way into the network schedule.

Of course hosting my own show was daunting, and a bit of a surprise. I was, after all, into my sixties and while my contemporaries in America might still be interrogating stories well into their eighties, Australian television was a bit light on when it came to journalists of my age.

I did wonder whether age would be an issue, even though I didn’t feel old, and still don’t.

During my discussions about the new show with Director of Television Michael Healy, we reminisced about the years we’d both spent at Nine. He joined Nine in Perth in 1983 and relocated to Sydney when I was into my third year of co-hosting Today. When I told him I felt I was still a bit of a ‘showgirl’, he laughed, but he knew what I meant. I liked working, and didn’t feel the need to stop.

So, there I was, after 40 years at Nine and 25 at 60 Minutes, being given this extraordinary opportunity to host and coproduce a new show. It could end badly, but, like every other time I’d been offered something different, I took the chance. So, with my colleague and long-time friend, 60 Minutes producer Gareth Harvey, we set out to give wings to a brand-new programme. It was not without some growing pains. Gareth and I had to put together a team and find stories that could sustain an hour of probing.

Nine was keen on crime. Women over 40, we were told, liked delving into mysteries of the troubling kind. And we soon found out that there are a disturbing number of unsolved murders in Australia. But the job of digging into them and finding new leads was no mean feat. If the police hadn’t cracked them, we were certainly going to have our work cut out.

We found that there were incredible investigators – specialists in missing persons cases, suspicious fires, murders, forensic pathology, criminal psychology and geography,  cybercrime and many other fields – willing to join us around the table. Lawyers, barristers and judges added their weight. Unearthing clues and re-examining evidence made for intriguing stories. Then there were the families of victims, who brought their own powerful perspective.

Our investigations ventured into other areas too: war with China, Vladimir Putin, the war in Ukraine, the origins of COVID, UFOs (or, as the US Defense Department calls them, UAPs – Unidentified Aerial Phenomena), and the horrific ambush of two Queensland police officers by conspiracy theorists at Wieambilla in December 2022.

I came to this project appreciating the years of TV journalism I’d notched up. I didn’t just want to be the front person, I wanted to be involved in all aspects of the programme. Gareth took the mantle of Executive Producer and I became Managing Editor, but the titles really meant we were in it together.

Our programme premiered on 1 March 2021. There were highs and lows as we pushed ahead, pulling together episodes in the middle of the pandemic. On studio filming days, we’d all gather in the very early morning to be tested and wait for results while sitting in our cars. Somehow the set remained free of infection, but we were all acutely aware that it would only take one case to bring the whole show to a halt.

For a long while nothing was easy. Gareth and I waded through each episode from beginning to end. It took hours of work every day for weeks and months without a break. And when the ratings slid up and down, we could only try harder and pray to the television gods that we’d be allowed to keep going.

* * *

While working on Under Investigation, I also continued working on 60 Minutes.

COVID continued. In New South Wales, the second lockdown lasted four months and came with heavy restrictions. Many of us carried paperwork stating we were journalists to explain why we were on the road. And that constant poke up the nose with what seemed like a blunt stick didn’t get any easier.

At home, Ben volunteered to do the supermarket shopping. Diligently he masked and gloved up and cleansed every surface as he went. I got the Hula Hoop out again and started to pick up some hand weights.

The impact of long lockdowns was still not fully understood. Everyone’s mental health was tested, but some people’s more than others. It was tough for families with children, people at home alone and those in nursing care.

And it was especially difficult for families and friends wanting to say goodbye to a loved one. The number of people allowed to attend funerals was heavily restricted, and the resulting pain felt by many was acute.

We felt it too when Brian Henderson, Nine’s legendary newsreader, died on 5 August 2021. Hendo was 89 and had been suffering from cancer for the past few years. After an incredible four and a half decades introducing Sydney’s 6pm bulletin there were many who wanted to pay their respects.

Only 10 people were allowed to attend the funeral, which meant Hendo’s farewell would have to be viewed by most of us via a livestream into our lounge rooms.

* * *

If there was a light moment in all the darkness, it was connecting with Billy Joel again, after our story had been so rudely interrupted when COVID first made its appearance.

We had walked and talked at Madison Square Garden, at what neither of us had realised would be his last concert before the doors had to close.

While New York was locked down, Billy had privately donated to small music venues and clubs to help them survive. Suddenly he found he had become a TikTok favourite when his 1978 song ‘Zanzibar’ went viral, as new fans stuck at home discovered that it was perfect to dance to.

But the biggest surprise was perhaps mine, when I saw Billy again after nearly two years: he had lost 23 kilos after surgery.

For him, though, an even greater loss during the COVID period was the masking of so many faces.

And I realised he was right. COVID had made so many of us almost invisible.

* * *

Despite the feeling life had stopped, it had to and did go on.

In between lockdowns I travelled to New South Wales parliamentary committee hearings conducted in rural and regional areas. The pain of Dad’s loss and the knowledge that it might have been prevented spurred me on, and I was without doubt a pain in the side of the politicians and bureaucrats I was now targeting.

New South Wales had been governed by the Liberal and National Parties for more than a decade, and history had shown that anyone with any power knew full well those living outside the big cities were being dudded. But despite a lot of promises and big plans, nothing had made a difference.

I was often joined at the hearings by Jamelle Wells.

The parliamentary inquiry opened up so many wounds. Anyone with any investment in the subject voiced their horror. More than 700 submissions had been received, and the stories were terrible.

Jamelle and I too gave evidence. COVID meant we did that from our homes via video. I felt very emotional. Dad had died almost two years before to the day.

Committee Chairman Greg Donnelly acknowledged both our fathers, adding, ‘I have to say it was the advocacy from both of you that at least in part – perhaps not an insignificant part – has contributed to this inquiry being undertaken.’

It was a generous statement, but a terrible reminder of a traumatic time that we could only hope others would not experience.

* * *

In November 2021 my 60 Minutes stories on rural health received the Paul Lockyer Award for Outstanding Regional Broadcast Reporting at the Kennedy Awards in Sydney.

I viewed this as a nod to many others. Nat and Gareth, who produced my stories; Jamelle, who stood with me, telling of her own father’s dreadful experience; the people who agreed to be interviewed; and the other journalists who pursued answers just as Jamelle and I had.

* * *

When the parliamentary committee handed down its report, after more than 11 months and hundreds of hours of evidence, it was scathing.

Rural health, it said, was in crisis. It found people living outside the cities had ‘significantly poorer health outcomes, greater incidents of chronic disease and greater premature deaths’, and that these failures were ‘historic’. It highlighted the ‘culture of fear’ among healthcare staff and put forward 44 recommendations to address the serious issues.

There were no surprises. It was what Jamelle and I and other journalists had already been reporting. To have found anything less would have meant they hadn’t been listening.

When the findings came out, Bronnie Taylor, then New South Wales Minister for Rural Health, made contact and offered me the opportunity to chat. She’d already sent out a press release, giving her interpretation of the findings and claiming that a recent survey had found that the majority of people interviewed were very happy with their rural health services. It was quite unbelievable.

I hated the politicising of people’s health. To me, it was a life-and-death issue and I had no desire to be part of any political spin.

Then something unexpected happened.

About four months later, a few days after I’d returned from an overseas trip, I was feeling the effects of jet lag and decided a bit of beauty treatment was in order. So I rang my lovely therapist’s number. Her name was also Bronnie.

‘Hello?’ she answered.

‘Hi, Bronnie, it’s Liz Hayes.’

‘Hi,’ she replied. ‘You know, I never usually answer a number I don’t recognise. But it was obviously meant to be.’

‘Oh, sorry, I’ve been away and thought I’d just give you a call and see if you can fit me in.’

‘I hope you were somewhere nice.’

‘I was in New York.’

‘I lived there from age zero to six,’ Bronnie said.

‘Really?’

‘Yeah, my father worked for Qantas, so we were all over the place.’

‘I didn’t know that,’ I said.

‘So I’d be happy to see you,’ said Bronnie. ‘Are you in Sydney?’

‘Yes. Are you well, Bronnie?’ I asked, thinking she sounded different.

‘No, no, I’m fine. So maybe next week? I’m here while parliament is sitting.’

Parliament?

I had now registered the Bronnie I was talking to, and she was not a beautician.

This was one of those moments when I had to make a quick decision. Do I let on that I hit the wrong number in my mobile contacts, or do I just go with my mistake?

I decided I’d go with it.

Bronnie Taylor was undoubtedly as dumbfounded by my call as I was. My cheerful demeanour and familiarity must have seemed decidedly peculiar. I had visions of her hanging up the phone and announcing to her staff: ‘I’ve just had the weirdest call!’

But two days later, Bronnie sent through a couple of dates that might suit for us to catch up. And so we did.

The politician would be an engaging woman and we would talk frankly about the issues. Her time in the job was limited, though, because by the next State election, Bronnie was out and a new government was in.

I’d be interested to know how Bronnie views the appalling state of healthcare, now that she is in opposition.

* * *

Today, the Channel Nine I started at in 1981 is Nine Entertainment, a hard-core publicly listed media business with tentacles that reach way beyond television to now include newspapers and radio, digital media and much more.

When I first drove through the security gates in my bright red, very loud bogan car, I was just 25. I really didn’t know where this new job would take me. But in the four-plus decades since, I have not only learned how to make television, I have also found another family.

So when, after a year’s delay thanks to COVID, Nine generously held a celebration of my 40 years with the company,  as well as Tracy Grimshaw and the 30 years put in by Peter Overton, it was a moment to reflect.

At 60 Minutes my job was essentially to pack a bag and travel the world. I’d made lifelong friends and had had life-changing experiences. I’d done things I’d thought I would never do and talked to people I’d otherwise never have met. And while listening to and witnessing their triumphs and tragedies, I’d come to understand who I am and what is important to me.

It sometimes makes me wonder who I might have been had I not made my way to the city all those years ago, and to this job in TV journalism. I’d like to think that Beth Ryan, the dairy farmer’s daughter of Pat and Bryan would not be too different from Liz Hayes the journalist. Just perhaps with fewer stories to tell.

As I looked around the elegant room at the Opera House where we had come to celebrate, with its magnificent views over Sydney Harbour, and I looked at my colleagues, my friends and members of my own family and appreciated that this was also a show of appreciation for all those decades of hard graft.

Perhaps a rarity in a business that can appear to be oh-so-shallow.

* * *

Our knees-up was on Friday 12 August 2022. I had two days to get over myself and get back to work.

We had another round of Under Investigation episodes to sort and I was grateful for that.




Epilogue

In London, filling in some downtime while on the road with 60 Minutes, I did what I usually do and walked into a shop.

It was a freezing day. I was in Covent Garden in the West End, buried beneath a big puffer jacket, beanie and gloves, and it was a reprieve from the cold outside to step inside the Ted Baker store there – Baker being a fashion designer whose brightly coloured clothes often catch my eye. I was interested to see what might be on the racks.

The store was empty apart from an older man talking with the sales assistant and I walked around and spotted a few garments that I liked the look of.

My next step is always to read the label. As well as checking the size, I have a habit of looking at what fabrics have been used and whether they can be washed; most high-end outfits are dry clean only, which makes it that little bit harder when travelling. I’ll then hold the garment up and try to assess whether it’s a cut that will work for me.

That was what I was doing when the man I’d seen earlier came over.

‘What do you think of this season?’ he asked.

‘Mmm,’ I said. ‘It’s a bit disappointing, actually.’

‘Really?’

‘Yes, usually I can find something that stands out, but not this time.’

‘You’re obviously in the business,’ he observed.

‘Oh, no.’

‘You seem to be inspecting the garments quite carefully.’

‘No, no, I just like checking everything out. How wearable everything is.’

‘What business are you in?’ he asked.

I was reluctant to tell him, because I was a long way from looking like a television reporter that day. No make-up, no nothing.

But I did. ‘I’m in television, so I’m always looking for outfits.’

And with that the man smiled, shook my hand and said, ‘I’m Ted Baker.’

I could have passed out.

It was a moment in my life that I could never have predicted.

* * *

Nothing in my life has been as I imagined. The gift of innocence and my world of simplicity couldn’t have been more  stark as I moved from life as an anonymous little girl with pigtails and bare feet on a dairy farm in the country, to the raw and, at times, difficult complexities of adulthood that caught my every step in the big city and were broadcast to the nation in all their glory.

I shouldn’t have laughed so dismissively when the palm reader I’d interviewed as a cadet journalist on the Manning River Times predicted my many marriages. A true teller of my fortunes, though, should have at least added that I would need to invest in decent luggage. Much has happened since then.

I’d like to think I am older and wiser. I am no longer that self-conscious young woman who would vault out of bed in the morning to put on make-up to start her day. Now, if I don’t have to wash my hair, it’s a good day.

So much has changed since my rural beginnings, but perhaps, not really. I still love being barefoot and tying my hair back. And my wardrobe is having to make way for more comfortable clothing. Whoever invented stretch pants should be knighted.

I am still Beth.

When I told the story of Dad’s life on 60 Minutes, I was also Beth.

Mum and Dad’s country abode was my safe place, and being with my family is my real world. But television and I have a strong bond. We were born the same year, in Australia at least. We grew up together, and as television has matured and Channel Nine has grown up, so have I. My life constantly looks back at me from a screen. Often I can see what I’m thinking. Some of it can’t be repeated.

I always thought that by the time I was 40 I would be out of a job. That didn’t happen, and now that I’m well past that number I know I’m blessed to still be working. The new challenge I face is not being a woman in television, it’s being an older woman on the screen. I am a senior inhabiting a young person’s industry, although ironically a lot of my viewers are also seniors.

Today I watch others and see that younger me over and over again. Perhaps a different attitude and expectation, but the same dreams, the same mistakes.

Though I’ve had to wade through the occasional shallowness of television, and some of those on it, my career has taken me on a deep journey. I have climbed some extraordinary mountains, seen some amazing places and met some fantastic people.

That would not have happened had I not simply had a go. Gave it a shot. Had a crack. Found some courage. Not been flattened by failure.

Without taking a chance none of it might have happened.

My career has given me knowledge and created memories that will never fade. And I’ve come to know me. I am a better person for my many decades on television.

Of course there will be plenty who beg to differ.

But that’s OK. I’m pretty used to it.





THE IMPOSSIBLE PIE

A little something from Mum. Her recipe for life. It’s pretty simple and if you stick to the basics, you shouldn’t go wrong.

Fillings of choice (Mum preferred salmon, onion, parsley and cheese; or bacon, tomato and asparagus)

4 eggs

⅓ cup melted butter

½ cup plain flour

2 cups milk


1.Preheat oven to 200°C (400°F).

2.Add filling ingredients to a 25cm (10") pie plate.

3.Beat eggs, butter, flour and milk together and pour over the filling.

4.Bake for 35-40 minutes.

5.Test the centre with a knife. If it comes out clean, you’re ready to go.
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PHOTO SECTION
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Dad (Bryan) and Mum (Patty), the young couple in their twenties, with decades of life still ahead of them. Circa 1950s.
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Dad the dairy farmer. Circa 1960s.
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Pigtails and a home-cut fringe. With my brothers Chris (left) and Greg (centre) in the early 1960s.
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My mother’s Brownie box camera captured this farm picture of Chris and me in 1960. Our hair neatly combed, Chris is clutching a twig from our oleander tree.
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Calves were left to me to wrangle and feed. Circa 1960s.
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Not exactly a beauty queen, but here I am as an entrant in the Manning River Aquatic Queen Quest, as published in the Manning River Times.
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My early days as a cadet at the newspaper. Both circa 1970s.


[image: image]
My first days at TCN Nine in Sydney, 1981.

(Courtesy Nine)
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Cars and I became a bit of a theme at my new workplace at Nine. Even publicity thought this version, an RX7, deserved a picture. 1985.

(Courtesy Nine)
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I spent many days reporting courtesy of Nine’s helicopter. Never easy diving in and out in a skirt. Circa 1980s.

(Courtesy Nine)
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Constantly on the phone in Nine’s newer newsroom in 1983.
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Reading Nine’s morning bulletin in 1985. All done in the middle of the newsroom.
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Today in Wimbledon with George Negus. Strawberries and cream were a must, and so too were my ’80s shoulder-pad jackets!

(Courtesy Nine)
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Any excuse to celebrate seemed to be our motto at Today. Another birthday for the show, with Tracy Grimshaw (centre), who was reading the news, and my co-host Steve Liebmann.

(Courtesy Nine)
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Morning and midday. Ray Martin and I appeared to be the perfect choices to judge a cocktail competition in the 1990s. And I seem to remember we didn’t mind a bit.

(Courtesy Nine)
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One of the highlights at Today was taking the show on a week-long train trip from Sydney to Broken Hill, stopping at stations along the way. Steve and I drew a curious crowd at Kiama Station, New South Wales, in the 1990s.
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A great moment in my career was hosting the 1994 Winter Olympics in Lillehammer, Norway, with Ken Sutcliffe. We filmed on location and sometimes it was so cold I could barely utter a word.
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A Today broadcast from Disneyland in Anaheim, outside Los Angeles. In case anyone is confused, Steve and I are the two in the middle.
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On and off set with Steve in the 1990s. We were a pretty happy television couple.

(Courtesy Nine)
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On and off set with Steve in the 1990s. We were a pretty happy television couple.

(Courtesy Nine)
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And we did like a hat.

(Courtesy Nine)
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Today, this time in Tasmania in the 1990s. Note Steve, always the reliable one, in the background, keeping the home fires burning!
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Steve cheekily announced Mum (right) as my replacement when she made a surprise appearance on my last episode of Today in 1996.
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My last show with Today doesn’t look like it, but it was an emotional day. Beside me (left to right) are Today’s newsreader Ian Ross, executive producer Steve Wood, and Nine’s director of news and current affairs, Peter Meakin.
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Richard Wilkins and I were flatmates and work colleagues and he remains a wonderful friend.
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One of my first overseas stories with 60 Minutes, in 1996, featured the Shaolin monks in China and their extraordinary physical and mental toughness.

(Courtesy Nine)
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Airport reading and researching on my way to London to interview actor Hugh Grant in 1996.
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The arrest in Tegucigalpa, Honduras, of Australia’s then-most-wanted man, paedophile Robert ‘Dolly’ Dunn (left), in 1997. It was an important moment, ending many months of 60 Minutes tracking him down. Behind the arresting officer (centre) are cameraman Phil Donoghue and soundman Mark Brewer.
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Boots off and bedding down for the night under the Djibouti stars with the French Foreign Legion in East Africa, 1998. By day, as we travelled in the back of open trucks, it was hot. By night it was chilly.
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Boots off and bedding down for the night under the Djibouti stars with the French Foreign Legion in East Africa, 1998. By day, as we travelled in the back of open trucks, it was hot. By night it was chilly.
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In the Guatemalan jungle in the late 1990s my ‘accommodation’ was a tent. It was days of camping with little water and plenty of howler monkeys. Standing beside me are (left to right) producer Lincoln Howes and soundman Micky Breen.
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That red spot behind me is the fiery lava belly of Kīlauea, Hawaii, one of the world’s most active volcanoes, in 1998. Moments later I would feel the full force of its furnace blast.

(Courtesy Nine)
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Summer, 2001, and the Aichilik River in the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge was far from warm. The pilot of our Beaver aircraft who dropped us here hoped to be back in six days, but couldn’t promise. Left to right: Ben Crane, me, Mick Morris, Gareth Harvey.
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It was only a short distance between enemies at the military ‘line of control’ between Pakistan and India in Kashmir in 2002. Both sides could see each other clearly. The shooting stopped when we arrived as neither side wanted to be seen as the aggressor, which gave both the opportunity to attend to chores like painting – which they did, knowing no-one would be shot.

(Courtesy Nine)
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In rugged terrain sometimes the best form of transport is the most basic. A donkey and nicely shaded cart did the job in Jordan in 2002.
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Producer Phil Goyen and I in Fukushima, Japan, in 2011. I can’t be sure we were really fully protected in these coverall suits and masks, but they made us feel safer when the country’s nuclear power plant suffered a serious meltdown following a devastating tsunami.
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Inside one of El Chapo’s many drug tunnels deep beneath the border of Mexico and California in 2016. This was one of his better-built tunnels.
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Nothing about a ‘controlled’ crash landing made me feel good as I prepared to fly to the American aircraft carrier USS Ronald Reagan in 2008.
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Not singing, but laughing, in the rain at Victoria Falls in Zimbabwe, 2000. Left to right: me, Ben Crane, Mick Morris.
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Travelling with a crew makes for strong bonds. Street walking in New York, and all obviously caught by the same moment. Left to right: David Ballment, Ben Crane, me, Nick Greenaway.

(Courtesy Richard Malone)
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Sam Chisholm was at the helm of Nine in Sydney for years. He was granted two lives. This is him enjoying his second life, after receiving a double lung transplant. Left to right: Jennifer Byrne, me, Sam Chisholm, Jana Wendt.
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My colleague Richard Carleton had no desire to sing, as we were asked to do for this Nine promo shoot in 2006. But with a little coaxing, Tara Brown (right) and I got him happily humming.

(Courtesy Nine)
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Taking a break with producer Gareth Harvey (centre) and cameraman Phil Donoghue. Gareth and I worked for more than a decade together at 60 Minutes.


Snaps with some of my high-profile interviewees. All I found amusing, engaging and intriguing, including Chaser the world’s smartest dog.
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Billy Joel
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Sir David Attenborough
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Cyndi Lauper
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Queen Rania of Jordan
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Barry Humphries

(Courtesy Nine)
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Sir Paul McCartney
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Jon Bon Jovi

(Courtesy Nine)
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Stormy Daniels
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Chrissie Hynde


[image: image]
Olivia Newton-John
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Ricky Martin

(Courtesy Andy Taylor)
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Charles, 9th Earl Spencer

(Courtesy Nine)
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Pierce Brosnan

(Courtesy Nine)
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Julian Assange

(Courtesy Nine)
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Sir Richard Branson

(Courtesy Nine)


[image: image]
Bruce Springsteen

(Courtesy Andy Taylor)
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Chaser the world’s smartest dog
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Malcolm Turnbull
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Stevie Wonder with the crew
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Joel Madden, Nicole Richie, Lionel Richie, Sofia Richie
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Sir Peter Ustinov with the crew
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Black Caviar

(Courtesy Andy Taylor)


[image: image]
‘Pack your bag and see the world,’ they said. And I did. Sometimes I was put up in top-end hotels and dined in classy restaurants. Less luxurious was pushing trolleys, sleeping in the back of vans and logging on to the local laundromat Wi-Fi while waiting for my washing, as pictured here in 2017.
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‘Pack your bag and see the world,’ they said. And I did. Sometimes I was put up in top-end hotels and dined in classy restaurants. Less luxurious was pushing trolleys, sleeping in the back of vans and logging on to the local laundromat Wi-Fi while waiting for my washing, as pictured here in 2017.
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Once it was helicopters, but now we work with drones to capture extraordinary images. As we did here in 2013, walking through snow outside Vail, Colorado, America, to a frozen waterfall, with those extreme sportspeople who climb them.
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I am not a one-man band. Every story involves the professionalism of a supportive crew standing, walking or propped not far from me as they were here during an assignment in Berlin.
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And at Lionel Richie’s home in Los Angeles, 2013.
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With John Mangos (left). Kerry Packer sold us up and Alan Bond became Nine’s new owner. Bond’s snazzy boat, moored in Sydney Harbour, was where we gathered at Christmas to party.

(Courtesy Nine)


[image: image]
At the 2019 Kennedy Awards with legendary Nine newsreader Brian Henderson – someone who always made me smile. Brian was honoured with a Lifetime Achievement Award on the night.
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Faces that rarely appear on the tele: with Michael Healy, Nine’s director of television (left), and Hamish Turner, Nine’s director of programming (centre). Company events like this one, in 2023, offer an opportunity to relax, chat and remember we’re all in it together.


[image: image]
Despite a COVID interruption, Nine popped the corks and kindly celebrated my 40 years with the company in 2022. Joining us was my former co-host Steve Liebmann, who was with me for nearly 10 of those years.

(Courtesy Paul Suesse)


[image: image]
Despite a COVID interruption, Nine popped the corks and kindly celebrated my 40 years with the company in 2022. Joining us was my former co-host Steve Liebmann, who was with me for nearly 10 of those years.

(Courtesy Paul Suesse)
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Logies night on Queensland’s Gold Coast in 2018, and 60 Minutes was inducted into the Hall of Fame. The true star of the show was our original executive producer, Gerald Stone.

(Courtesy TV Week)
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60 Minutes reporters rarely get together but we did on this Logies night in Sydney, 2023. Left to right: Tom Steinfort, Amelia Adams, Tara Brown, me.
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My first office at 60 Minutes was in this demountable shed, tucked under a large television tower. Underneath the front cement step was a recalcitrant redback spider.
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As I sat on the wooden stairs leading down to the 60 Minutes compound in 2020, the network’s huge satellite dish in the background, I pondered a little sadly our last day in Willoughby before moving to North Sydney.
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A silver lining from COVID was the launch of Under Investigation with Liz Hayes, a show I hadn’t expected so late in my career. With executive producer Gareth Harvey, I am managing editor and host. It is a full-time hands-on job producing a show that keeps evolving. In television land, we are always grateful for the opportunity. With (left to right) makeup artist Kylie Papa, stylist Alex Wilson and hairdresser Lou Saxby in 2021.

(Courtesy Nine)
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(Courtesy Terry Ross)


[image: image]
In the studio of Under Investigation with Liz Hayes. We bring experts in all fields together around the table, including those close to victims when examining unsolved cases.

(Courtesy Yianni Aspradakis)
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Mum, ever the performer, declared she was ‘going in’ as she prepped the Sunday chicken for roasting. Circa early 2000s.
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Mum, my confidante and our family’s rockstar. I miss her terribly.
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Dad (right) with his punting friend, fellow homebrewer and neighbour, Greg, in the 1990s.
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Dad, the barbecue king, in the early 2000s.
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Dad celebrated his 88th birthday in Sydney in 2019 at a rather swish restaurant during the city’s Vivid light show. He loved it.
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In adversity there is always some light. ABC journalist Jamelle Wells (left, pictured here in 2020) became my friend and co-campaigner for better health services in rural and regional areas. We met because both our dads, Bryan Ryan and Allan Wells, deserved more from their treating hospitals before they died. Our aim is to help other fathers, mothers and their families to get better health services.
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My partner, Ben Crane, and I have been lucky to travel together. Having worked at 60 Minutes for several years before me, he already had a wealth of experience telling stories, and his insight was, on many occasions, invaluable.
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Ben in the field in the Australian Outback. We have covered most of the world together.
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It’s not easy getting a family picture of my lot in one place. But here they are some years ago. Left to right: my brothers, Terry, Chris, Greg and Phillip, with Dad and Mum.
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With my brother Phillip in 2023. The ‘little critter’ isn’t so little anymore. It’s been a long time since we teamed up in Sydney, where he spent his last years of education at boarding school.
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All my troubles faded away when Julie and I let rip on our trip to France in the 1980s. Our laughter to this day still rings in my ears.
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The years haven’t dimmed our delight in being together. Julie and I worked together, and have shared homes and holidays.
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I am blessed to have a number of important friends. Two of them, Nadia Benussi (left) and Paula Roumanous (centre), are never far away. 2021.
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